
  COMMISSION MEETING 
MAY 8, 2024, 8:30 A.M. 

100 E STREET 
COLUMBIA CITY, OR 97018 

 
The Port Commission Meeting will be in person. In accordance with state law, the meeting will be 

accessible via telephone or Zoom. Members of the public may attend the meeting electronically by: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82937221867 
 

Call-In: (253) 215-8782 Meeting ID: 829 3722 1867 Passcode: 822225 
 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER (President, Robert Keyser) 
A. Flag Salute 
B. Roll Call 

II. ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

III. CONSENT AGENDA (Items marked with an asterisk are adopted by a single 
motion unless a Commissioner requests otherwise.) 
A. * Minutes: March 13, 2024 and March 27, 2024  
B. *    Finance Reports: April 2024 
C. * April 2024 Check Register (A) and electronic payments in the total     
         amount of $ 863,147.11.   

IV. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
(Limited to 2 min. per person unless prior authorization is obtained) 

 
V. OLD BUSINESS 

A. Marina Update  Miriam House 
B. Airport Update  Lacey Tolles 

  NO PENDING THROUGH-THE-FENCE (TTF) APPLICATIONS 
C. Port Westward Dock Update  Elliot Levin 
D. Lignetics/Neighbors Update  Sean P. Clark 
E. PGE Delays in Legal Agreements  Elliot Levin 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Resolution 2024-06  Gina Sisco 
APPROVING STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN, REVISED 
 MISSION STATEMENT, VISION AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

B. Resolution 2024-07  Elliot Levin 
  APPROVING INSURANCE SETTLEMENT OF $2.5M 
 FOR RAILROAD AVENUE  

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82937221867
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82937221867


 
 
 
 

VII.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

VIII.  COMMISSIONER REPORTS 
 

IX.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
The Board will hold an Executive Session to consider exempt public records, including 
written legal advice from Port General Counsel, which is privileged under ORS 40.225 and 
exempt from disclosure under ORS 192.355(9)(a) and ORS 192.660(2)(f). 

 
X.    ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda times and order of items listed are estimated and are subject to change without 
notice. This facility is ADA-accessible. If you need special accommodation, please 

contact the Port office at (503) 397-2888 or TTY (800) 735-1232, at least 48 hours before 
the meeting. 

 
 

Pursuant to ORS 192.640 (1) the Port of Columbia County Commission reserves the right 
to consider and discuss, in either Open Session or Executive Session, additional subjects 

which may arise after the agenda is published. 

 
   
   
   
   

Upcoming Meetings and Events 
May 20 11:30 a.m. Agricultural Information Committee Meeting: 

            Clatskanie Food Hub 
                80 Art Steele St. 
            Clatskanie, OR 97016 

May 22 TBD Port Commission Budget Meeting (if necessary) 
May 27  Memorial Day – Port Office Closed 
June 3 5:00 p.m. Scappoose Airport Advisory Committee 
June 12 8:30 a.m. Port Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 154 



COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
MARCH 13, 2024 
 100 E. STREET 

         COLUMBIA CITY, OREGON 97018 
 
 
The Port of Columbia County held a Board meeting at 8:30 a.m. on Wednesday, March 13, 
2024, at the Port office and via Zoom (*) video conferencing with the following present: 
 

 
 
President Robert Keyser called the Port of Columbia County Commission Meeting to order at 8:30 
a.m. All Commissioners were present.  

Additions To Agenda 
Robert Keyser asked the Commission if there were any additions to the agenda. There were no 
additions. Mr. Keyser moved Resolution 2024-03 to the first item of Old Business and stated 
that the Commission will take public comment on Resolution 2024-03 and then invite the tenant 
to speak. 
 

Commissioners  Staff  
Robert Keyser President Sean P. Clark Executive Director 
Brian Fawcett 
 

Vice President Robert Salisbury Port General Counsel 

Nancy Ward * 2nd Vice President Guy Glenn, Jr. Executive Finance Manager 
Chip Bubl Secretary Miriam House * Operations Manager 
Nick Sorber Treasurer Lacey Tolles Data Resource and Project Specialists / 

Interim Airport Manager 
  Gina Sisco Communications & External Affairs Mgr. 
Guests  Christa Burns Administrative Asst. II 
Brady Preheim St. Helens Elizabeth Millager * Operations Coordinator 
Linda Horst Kelso, WA Susan Tolleshaug * Administrative Asst. 
Larry Horst Kelso, WA Sydell Cotton * Assistant Finance Manager 
Rob Bates Gresham   
Jan 
Schollenberger 

Columbia City Guests (cont.)  

John M. Oregon City Dan Serres * Columbia Riverkeeper  
Josh Lucas Portland Jason Fussell * Ironworkers Local 29 
Melvin Norman Portland Ron Mathis Local 36 
Andrew Bradley Warren Bob Gadotti * Scappoose 
Kim Karber Columbia City Hayley Watson * Columbia Pacific Building Trades 

Council 
Ralph Culpepper Scappoose Laurie Parry *  
Chris Efird NEXT Renewable Fuels Carroll Sweet *   
Diana Gordon * Washougal, WA Alta Lynch *  
Tom Gordon * Washougal, WA Will Lohre *  
Deborah Hazen * Clatskanie Jamie *  
Greg Hinkelman * City of Clatskanie Dreng *  
Robert Brajcich Clatskanie Mayor Cass *  
Jasmine Lillich * Clatskanie   9712277900 *  
Hinrichs *    

Page 3 of 154 



 
 
 

 

3 
 

Consent Agenda 
Mr. Keyser asked for a motion to approve the consent agenda. Nancy Ward moved; Nick Sorber 
seconded a motion to adopt consent agenda items A, B, and C: January 31, 2024, Minutes, 
Financial Reports: February 2024, and Approval of Check Register (A) and electronic payments 
in the total amount of $1,053,922.40. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Comments From the Public 
Columbia City resident, Jan Schollenberger, asked for an update on rerouting the Lignetics 
truck traffic. Sean Clark responded that he has not received anything back yet from Lignetics. 
They are working out some operational ideas before moving forward, so they should have a 
plan soon. Mr. Clark did not have anything else to report on Lignetics at this time. 
 
Old Business 
Resolution 2024-03 
AUTHORIZING THE PORT TO ENTER INTO A THIRD AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE 
WITH NEXT RENEWABLE FUELS, OREGON, LLC. 
Port Executive Director, Sean Clark, presented the Resolution. In November 2023, NEXT 
Renewable Fuels (NEXT) requested a rent deferral to reduce payments from $108,497 to 
$15,000 per month. The Commission met in open session on February 14, 2024, to consider 
Resolution 2024-03, and the recommendation by Mr. Clark at that time was to approve the 
Resolution. After discussion on February 14, the Commission decided to table Resolution 2024-
03 for further review. Since their lease payment initially went into effect in September 2021, 
NEXT has paid $3.5 M in rent payments to date. Mr. Clark explained that over the last several 
years, NEXT has continued to work through an extended Environmental Impact Statement 
(EIS) process with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). This permitting process 
requires a draft EIS to be published followed by a public comment period. Mr. Clark further 
explained that the Third Amendment to Ground Lease would allow a temporary rent deferment 
retroactive to December 1, 2023. The balance of deferred rent would remain fully due and 
payable with 18% interest per year that will continue to accrue until NEXT declares a project 
approval decision. All deferred rent will be owed to the Port in a full lump sum payment within 
sixty days whether the project goes forward or not. 
 
Comments From the Public (cont.) 
Linda Horst, Kelso, WA read a letter to the Commission cautioning the Port against the approval 
of the rent deferral request from NEXT. 
 
Brady Preheim, St. Helens, asked the Port to deny the request from NEXT and cancel the lease 
unless they pay their rent and back rent in full. 
 
Dan Serres, Advocacy Director for Columbia Riverkeeper, asked the Port to deny the NEXT 
proposal for a rent deferral. Mr. Serres stated that Columbia Riverkeeper submitted a petition 
signed by over 500 people urging the Port not to approve Resolution 2024-03.  
 
Diana Gordon, Washougal, WA stated she is disappointed in the County Commissioners 
approval of the rail line for NEXT last week. She thinks it would be a mistake to allow NEXT to 
pay a lower rental rate. She suggested the Port look at other companies that would be a better 
investment.  

Page 4 of 154 



 
 
 

 

4 
 

 
Deborah Hazen, Clatskanie, expressed her support for the NEXT project at Port Westward, and 
her gratitude and appreciation to the Port staff and Commissioners who have been working to 
secure over 200 family wage jobs and the property tax valuation that NEXT would bring, which 
would benefit both the Clatskanie area and countywide public service districts. Ms. Hazen 
encouraged the Commission to approve the proposed NEXT lease amendment. 
 
Greg Hinkelman, Clatskanie City Manager, stated on behalf of the City of Clatskanie and the 
City Council that he is authorized to express their continued support for the NEXT energy 
project. Mr. Hinkelman applauds the Port’s willingness to work with its tenants, especially in the 
development phase, to bring a project to fruition. He stated they are in support of Resolution 
2024-03 and encouraged a yes vote from Port Commissioners. 
 
Jasmine Lillich, Clatskanie, urged the Port to deny Resolution 2024-03. Ms. Lillich said if the 
deferment is a provision of their lease agreement, then the Port should put them under financial 
scrutiny and hold them accountable. 
 
Hayley Watson, Columbia Pacific Building Trades Council, commented that Oregon keeps 
making it harder for business to locate here, which means hard working union families in 
Columbia County are missing out on opportunities. NEXT already has state and local permits, 
and she hopes the Port considers their request and approves Resolution 2024-03. 
 
Melvin Norman with the Carpenters Union stated he is in favor of the Resolution because the 
NEXT project would bring jobs, wages, benefits, trade opportunities for students, and would 
also put money back into the local community. 
 
Old Business 
Resolution 2024-03 
Robert Keyser welcomed Chris Efird, CEO of NEXT Renewable Fuels, to speak to the 
Commission and answer any questions related to the Resolution. Mr. Efird began by thanking 
the Commission and Port staff for the opportunity. He clarified that NEXT has two separate 
agreements with the Port. The first is the Ground Lease, and the second is the Site 
Development Option Agreement (Option). Mr. Efird stated that NEXT was informed by the US 
Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) that an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) would be 
required. An EIS is a longer and more complicated review process than an Environmental 
Assessment (EA). Mr. Efird said he met with USACE on Monday, March 11 and was informed 
that this process could take approximately one more year. Mr. Efird said NEXT is still operating 
under its agreement and working with the Port. He also stated that Port staff has done a 
tremendous job in bringing the dock back up to operational status after the unfortunate incident 
that occurred in November 2023, and the dock is no longer an issue of concern for NEXT. Mr. 
Efird said NEXT is continuing to invest money in Oregon and continues to be excited about this 
project. Chip Bubl inquired whether a deferred lease payment bond would be useful to protect 
the Port’s interest. Mr. Efird replied that NEXT would follow what the Port obligates its other 
tenants to do. He pointed out that NEXT has paid $3.5 M for land it has not yet been able to 
use. Nancy Ward stated that the Port has a history of working with tenants in financial difficulty, 
yet this is a unique situation that has not occurred in the past. Ms. Ward would also like to 

Page 5 of 154 



 
 
 

 

5 
 

consider other options and ensure fairness for all Port tenants. Brian Fawcett considers the 
deferment a reasonable compromise and pointed out that 18% interest is a solid amount. Nick 
Sorber echoed Mr. Fawcett’s comments. Robert Keyser considers the $15,000 lease option 
rate to be a fair option and agrees the Port needs to be fair and consistent with all tenants.  
 
Mr. Keyser asked for a motion to approve Resolution 2024-03. Nick Sorber moved; Brian 
Fawcett seconded a motion to adopt Resolution 2024-03. Brian Fawcett, Nick Sorber and 
Robert Keyser voted yes. Chip Bubl and Nancy Ward voted no. Motion carried 3-2. 
 
Marina Update 
Miriam House, Port Operations Manager, provided an update on the marina and displayed a map 
showing the water depth at low tide. Ms. House explained the complexity of the overall dredging 
process and how it limits the Port’s options for dredging at the marina. The Port may not be allowed 
to dredge the channel according to the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) 
screening levels. Commissioner Keyser stated that the Port has budgeted to dredge the marina, 
but the state does not kick in anything to help dredge the channel. The Commission held a brief 
discussion and decided that the next step is to follow up with DEQ. Sean Clark said there will be 
more information on dredging for the upcoming budget workshop on March 27. 
 
Port Westward Dock Update 
Sean P. Clark, Port Executive Director, gave a brief update on the dock at Port Westward. The 
temporary walkway has been upgraded to a permanent walkway with handrails. On Friday, March 
8, the American Endeavor came alongside and loaded approximately 58,000 barrels of 
renewable diesel that was already onsite before the dock incident. This cargo was originally 
intended for the vessel but was canceled due to the November 2023 barge collision. The dock 
remains ready to be used and there have been no reports of trains en route.  
 
Lignetics/Neighbors Update 
Sean P. Clark, Port Executive Director, updated the Commission that he and Commissioner 
Sorber took a tour of the Lignetics plant and looked at ways the truck traffic could be re-routed, 
which would require a shift in personnel. The tour showed it is a very clean site. Lignetics is 
considering the impact it would have on operations and how it could be most effective for all. Mr. 
Clark will reach out to Lignetics’ Vice President of Operations, Mike Sale, this week for an update 
on the Gantt chart and to request a new project management sheet. 
 
Executive Session 
The Board held an Executive Session to deliberate with persons designated to negotiate real 
property transactions under ORS 192.660(2)(e); to consider exempt public records, including 
written legal advice from Port General Counsel, which is privileged under ORS 40.225 and 
exempt from disclosure under ORS 192.355(9)(a) and ORS 192.660(2)(f); and to consult with 
legal counsel regarding pending litigation or litigation likely to be filed under ORS 192.660(2)(h). 
 
The Port returned to Open Session at 11:06 a.m. 
 
 
 
 

Page 6 of 154 



 
 
 

 

6 
 

Vision and Mission Statement 
Gina Sisco, Port Communications and External Affairs Manager presented the revisions made to 
the Port’s vision and mission statement since the Strategic Business Plan workshop on February 
28, 2024. After discussion, the Commission agreed to further consider a shortened version of the 
Mission Statement as follows: Create a positive economic impact while maintaining livability and 
adapting to change.   
 
Airport Update 
Lacey Tolles, Interim Airport Manager, told the Commission that the Port had contacted the 
Scappoose Fire Department for help with burning five structures on the Shaft property adjacent to 
the Scappoose Airport. A map was displayed showing where the buildings are located. The 
Commission provided consensus to go ahead with the planned safe burn. On another note, Mr. 
Clark suggested a Port of Columbia County sign at the entrance for more of a Port presence at the 
airport.  
 
Executive Director’s Report 
Provided and read by Sean P. Clark. The Commission briefly discussed the meeting schedule 
and decided the April 27 Budget Workshop will be held at 8:30 a.m. The Report is on file at the 
Port Office. 
 
Commissioner Reports 
Chip Bubl attended the Beaver Drainage Improvement Company (BDIC) Annual Landowners 
meeting on March 12. 
Brian Fawcett had nothing to report. 
 
Nick Sorber had nothing to report. 
 
Nancy Ward had nothing to report. 
 
Robert Keyser reported he had received a complaint regarding the Port’s lack of involvement 
with the dock repair. Mr. Keyser was surprised by the complaint because he knows how hard 
Port staff have been working on the dock plan and how Port staff have communicated the 
specifics of the plan very well. Mr. Keyser said he appreciates all the hard work by Port staff, 
and how well the Port has been working with Global and its other partners. Mr. Keyser also 
thanked the public for their comments.  
 
THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING 
ADJOURNED AT 11:32 A.M. 
 
 
___________________________________________                                 May 8, 2024 
 
President Date Adopted by Commission 
 
 
___________________________________________  
  
Secretary 

Page 7 of 154 



COMMISSION WORK SESSION MINUTES 
  MARCH 27, 2024 
   100 E. STREET 

              COLUMBIA CITY, OREGON 97018 
 
 
The Port of Columbia County held a Board meeting at 8:30 a.m. on Wednesday, March 27, 2024 
at the Port office and via Zoom (*) video conferencing with the following present: 
 

 
President Robert Keyser called the Port of Columbia County Commission Work Session to order at 
8:30 a.m. Commissioners Keyser, Bubl, Ward and Sorber were present in person. Commissioner 
Fawcett attended via Zoom.  

Additions To Agenda 
Robert Keyser asked the Commission if there were any additions to the agenda. There were no 
additions. 
 

Consent Agenda 
Mr. Keyser asked for a motion to approve the consent agenda. Chip Bubl moved; Nick Sorber 
seconded a motion to adopt consent agenda item A: February 14, 2024, Minutes. The motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
Comments from the Public 
There were no public comments. 
 
New Business 
FY25 Capital Budget Priorities 
Port Executive Finance Manager, Guy Glenn, Jr. presented a PowerPoint on the Port’s  
Fiscal Year 2025 Capital Budget Priorities. Mr. Glenn began by providing an overview of the 
formal budget process, which will include two Budget Committee meetings in May 2024, a budget 
hearing with public comments, and filing with the county by June 30, 2024. He then gave a brief 
explanation of a capital budget versus an operating budget. Next, Mr. Glenn outlined some of 
the Port’s anticipated capital projects to plan with the Commission on the overall budget process. 
He welcomed feedback and discussion from the Commission to help facilitate the budget 

Commissioners  Staff  
Robert Keyser President Sean P. Clark Executive Director 
Chip Bubl Secretary Robert Salisbury Port General Counsel 
Nancy Ward  2nd Vice President Guy Glenn, Jr. Executive Finance Manager 
Nick Sorber Treasurer Miriam House * Operations Manager 
Brian Fawcett * Vice President Elliot Levin North County Ops. & Terminal Mgr. 
  Lacey Tolles Data Resource & Projects 

Specialist / Interim Airport Mgr. 
Guests  Christa Burns Administrative Asst. II 
Rachael Barry Scappoose Elizabeth Millager * Operations Coordinator 
Ralph Culpepper Clatskanie Susan Tolleshaug * Administrative Asst. 
Alta Lynch Scappoose    
Dan Serres * Columbia Riverkeeper    
Jasmine Lillich * Clatskanie     
Culver *    

Page 8 of 154 



decision-making process. There will be a resolution at the next Commission meeting to form a 
new Budget Committee. Mr. Glenn also mentioned that Port staff has secured $1,790,000 in 
grant funding for fiscal year 2025.  
 
Resolution 2024-04 
DECLARING THE DOCK INCIDENT AN EMERGENCY FOR PUBLIC CONTRACTING 
PURPOSES AND APPROVING $1 MILLION FOR DOCK REPAIRS 
North County Operations and Terminal Manager Elliot Levin presented the Resolution.  
On November 12, 2023, a tug and barge went off course and collided with the Beaver Dock at 
Port Westward causing significant damage to the Beaver Dock. The barge collision qualifies as 
an emergency due to the related risk of loss and interruption of services. Since the incident, the 
Port has worked with Columbia Pacific Bio-Refinery (CPBR) to build a temporary pipe bridge and 
return the berth to service. To date, the Port has been invoiced approximately $680,000 and the 
estimated total cost of the Port’s share of repairs will be around $1.1 million. The total cost of the 
new pipe bridge will be over $6 million. While the Port is still working with underwriters to process 
these invoices, we want to be in a position to reimburse CPBR for any undisputed amounts as 
soon as possible. Therefore, Mr. Levin asked the Commission to approve Resolution 2024-04 
formally declaring the dock incident an emergency for public contracting purposes. 
 

Executive Director’s Report 
Provided and read by Sean Clark. The Report is on file at the Port Office. 
 

Commissioner Reports 
Nick Sorber acknowledged Guy Glenn, Jr. for his work on the budget and thanked Port staff for 
their grant work.  
 
Chip Bubl also stated his appreciation and said he values the opportunity to learn more about 
the budget.  
 

Nancy Ward agreed and mentioned the continuing improvements in the meetings. Ms. Ward 
acknowledged Christa Burns for her influence on upgrading the presentation and said she 
appreciates how we present the material to the Commissioners and the public. Ms. Ward 
attended the South County Chamber of Commerce Celebration of Excellence Banquet on March 
23 with Lacey Tolles and Christa Burns. Ms. Ward also attended the Agricultural Committee 
Meeting and said that Brenda Vassau will be presenting at the next Commission meeting. She 
also stated that County Commissioner Casey Garrett attended the Agricultural Information 
Committee meeting where they discussed land use development and the way it affects people 
who work from home. Ms. Ward thinks it is important to gain a better understanding of how 
businesses in Columbia County are being affected. She mentioned possibly having 
Commissioner Garrett speak at a future Commission meeting. Robert Keyser added that he and 
Mr. Garrett had previously discussed having a recognition of the Port and County for working 
together to close down the urban renewal district. Ms. Ward would like Port staff to reach out and 
coordinate with Commissioner Garrett. Lastly, Ms. Ward acknowledged Andrew Niemi, Lower 
Columbia Engineering, for his attendance at the Agricultural Information Committee meetings.  
 
Brian Fawcett echoed the other Commissioners’ comments on the information that Mr. Glenn 
presented, and Port staff helped to prepare, which will be helpful in making decisions about 
capital projects. He would like a staff recommendation based on revenue expectations for these 
projects. Mr. Fawcett also attended the South County Chamber Awards event and stated it was 
a good networking opportunity and it was good to chat with other business owners. 
 

Page 9 of 154 



Robert Keyser announced the Clatskanie Bulky Waste Cleanup Day event which will be held 
on April 6, 2024, from 8 a.m. to 12 noon at Clatskanie City Park. Mr. Keyser stated that he was 
disappointed there was no representation or appearance from Global Partners, NEXT Energy 
or Portland General Electric (PGE) at today’s budget workshop. He thanked Mr. Glenn and 
commented that his budget presentation was extremely helpful. Chip Bubl asked if it would be 
possible to engage those partners beforehand, and Mr. Keyser responded that it would and 
that he would like to discuss it more in executive session. Lastly, Mr. Keyser offered prayers for 
the City of Baltimore and the Port of Baltimore. 
 

Executive Session 
The Commission held an Executive Session to consider exempt public records, including 
written legal advice from Port General Counsel, which is privileged under ORS 40.225 and 
exempt from disclosure under ORS 192.355(9)(a) and ORS 192.660(2)(f). 
 
THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING 
ADJOURNED AT 10:56 A.M. 
 
___________________________________________           _________________ 
 
President Date Adopted by Commission 
 
 
___________________________________________  
  
Secretary 

Page 10 of 154 



PORT OF

Columbia
County

STAFF REPORT
Finance Report April ,2024

DATE: May 1 ,2024

Port Commission BoardTO

FROM Guy Glenn
Executive Finance Manager

RE: Finance Update: March 2024 - April 2024

Discussion:

This agenda item is a preliminary report of the Port's financial statements

lncome Statement and Balance Sheet Due to the timing of this report, the April 2024
statements will be provided in June. The March lncome Statement and March 31't
Balance Sheet are included on the next two pages

Cash and lnvestments as of April 30,2024: $10,856,084.46

Ghecks and electronic payments issued in April 2024 totaled: $863,147.11

April Highlights:

Our Fiscal Year 2025 Proposed Budget has been completed and has been provided to
all members of the Port Commission and Budget Committee. Our Budget Committee
meeting is scheduled for 1Oam on May 8th, which follows our regular Commission
meeting.

A progress payment of $375,000 was wired to Global Companies (CPBR) on April 19th

This payment was made from insurance funds held by the Port for work performed at
Port Westward. In May, 30-day notification letters will be sent to Port tenants who
receive CPI increases on July 1 ,2024. The CPI increase this year is 3.50%, calculated
as of December 31,2023. We are in the process of recruiting a temp-to-hire employee
to fill our Admin Assistant/Receptionist position. Susan Tolleshaug is retiring on June
3oth.

Page 11 of 154 



PORT OF

Columbia
County

lncome Statement
For the period ending

March 31 2024
Current Yr To Date Annual o/o Prior YTD

Actual Actual Budqet Rennininc Actual

Resources

Property Taxes 8.191 10,000 18.1o/o 10,221

Licenses and Permits 47,816 421,736 607,905 30.6% 410,815

Rents and Reimbursements 664.153 5,169,886 5.539,770 6.7o/o 3.969.160

Terminal Services 13,561 319,463 718,925 55.60/o 461.223

Bayport RVPark 10,777 78,558 161,757 51.4o/o 113,684

Parking Fees 5,204 27,317 35,191 22.4o/o 23,088

Launch Fees 22,393 59,264 62.2o/o 29.025

Other lVlarina Fees 105 1,910 6,556 70.9o/o 2,434

Grants 77.332 377.292 400,000 5.7Yo 47,035

Loan Proceeds 400,000 ' 100.0% 483,186

lnterest Earnings 47,345 367,343 200,000 ' -83.70/o 166,993

lnterGovernmental lncom e 0.0%

Contributions O.0o/o

IVlscellaneous lncome 12.487 77,515 30,000 ' -158.40/o 58.278
0.0%

Total Resources 878,781 6,871,603 9,169,368 15.9% 5,77s,142

Requiremenfs

Personnel Services 198,924 1.836.203 2.824.265 ' 35.0% 1.590,382

Vlaterials and Services 235,323 1.785.797 2,295,741 ' 22.2o/o '1,822,692

Capital Outlay 49.044 623,115 7.295,000 91.5o/o 429,877

Debt Seruice 26,801 695,851 785,664 11.4o/o 445,803

Contingency 9.062,743 100.0olo

Total Requirements 510,092 4,940,966 16,263,413 69.60lo 4,288,754

Ending Fund Balance 368,689 1,930,637 0.0% 1,486,387

Page 12 of 154 



Port of Columbia Gounty Balance Sheet
As of

March 31,2424
lMar Mar

2024 2023

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and lnvestment 9.975.952 9.071.930

Cash restricted for debt payments 1 ,29'1 , 950 267.920

Receivables, net of allowances 148.609 (130.308)

Prepaid Expenses 27.796
Total current assets 11.444.307 9.209.542

Noncurrent assets

Capital Assets

Depreciable capital assets 63.908.238 63.656,583

Non depreciable capital assets 12.090.960 11,807,769

Accumulated depreciation r34.062.558) (31.870.002)

Capital assets, net 41,936,640 43.594,351

Receivables from other organizations 1.593.711 7 593.270

Total noncurrent assets 43.530.351 51.187,621

Deferred outflows of resources 285.578 439,963

Total Assets and deferred outflows 55,260,236 60.837j25

LIABILITIES AID NET POSITION

Current liabilities
Accounts payable (3,851) 63,923

Accrued interest payable 77,291 141.698

Retainage Payable

Accrued pavroll costs (43.216\

Compensated balances 169.742 1m,661

Deferred revenue (108) 37

Deposits 681.298 672.456

Notes payable and assessment debt - current 268,196 740.167

Total current liabilities 1,192,568 1.681.725

Noncurrent liabilities
Notes Payable 4.7A2.099 4,307,726

Special assessment debt with government commitment 1.455.970 6,975,063

Environmental Clean-up Liab. RR Ave 19.600.000

Net pension liability 865,616 948.408

Total noncurrent liabilities 26.623,685 12.231.197

Deferred inflows of resources

Net position

lnvestment in capital assets, net of related debt 29.519,113 29.519.113

Unrestricted (3,367,080) 17.137.170

Restricted for debt payments 1.291,950 267.920

Current Year lncome (loss)

Total net position 27.443.982 46.924.203

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position 55260.236 60.837.125

Page 13 of 154 



Port of Columbia CountY

Vendor Check Register RePort - A

Check Number Vendor lD Vendor Name Check Date Amount Voided

45039 BANKOOl BMO Financial Group 4/4/2024 $1s,4s3.s8 No

45040 ctNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 4/4/2024 $216.00 No

45041 ctw001 City of Columbia City 4/4/2A24 $24f'.s7 No

4504? CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD 4/4/2024 $1,261.37 No

45043 cHtE001 Country Media dba Clatskanie Chief 4/4/2024 $70.00 No

45444 FAWCOOl Brian Fawcett 4/4/2024 $28.1 7 No

45045 OREGOO4 Oregon Department of State Lands 4/4/2024 v99.73 No

45046 QUILOOl Staples lnc dba 4/4/2A24 $2't2.74 No

45047 STEWOOl Stewardship Solutions, I nc 4/4/2024 $210.00 No

45048 wrLc001 Wilson Oil lnc dba 4/4/2424 $47s.63 No

45M9 ASHCOOl Ash Creek Forest Management, LLC 4/4/2024 $3,600.00 No

45050 BEMIOO,l Bemis Printing &. Graphics 4/4/2024 $80.00 No

45051 BUBLOOl Chip Bubl 4/4/2024 $1s0.00 No

45052 ctTY003 City of St. Helens 4/412024 $117.74 No

45053 crry005 City of Clatskanie 4/4/2024 $79.s3 No

45054 coNN001 Connecta Satellite Solutions LLC 4/4/2024 $u.ta No

45055 EATOOOl Eaton's Tire and Auto Repair LLC 4/412024 $1,7ss.9s No

45056 FAWCOOl Brian Fawcett 4/4/2024 $1s0.00 No

45057 FINEOOl Encore Business Solutions 4/4/2024 $168.7s No

45058 GLOBOOl Global Security 4/4/2024 $194.8s No

45059 KEYSOOl Robert Keyser 4/4/2024 $1s0.00 No

45060 KPFFOOl KPFF, lnc 4/4/2024 $307.s0 No

45061 MYSYOOl My System Shield LLC 4/4/2024 $3,106.00 No

45062 PAULOOl Paulson Printing 4/4/2024 $22s.00 No

45063 SHREOOl Shred Northwest, lnc 414/2024 $60.00 No

45064 SIEROOl Sierra Springs 4/4/2024 $4s.16 No

45065 SORBOOl Nick Sorber 4/4/2024 $1s0.00 No

4s065 SUNSOOl Sunset Auto Parts 4/4/2024 Iqsz.ag No

45067 SUPPOO2 SupplyWorks 4/4/2024 $218.70 No

45068 VOYAOOl Voya - State of Oregon 4/4/2024 $4,415.00 No

45069 WARDOOl NancyWard 4/4/2024 $150.00 No

45070 wlLc001 Wilson Oil lnc dba 414/2024 $160.s2 No

45071 WSPUOOl WSP USA lnc 4/4/2024 $11,93s.07 No

45072 ACEHOOl Ace Hardware - St Helens 4/10/2024 $330.99 No

45073 ACEHOO2 Ace Hardware - Scappoose 4/14n024 $21s.96 No

45074 AMBIOOl Ambient lT Solutions 4/10/2024 $1,307.00 No

45075 ATTMOOl AT&T Mobility 4/10/2024 $1,246.48 No

45076 CABLOOl Cable Huston 4/1A/2024 $1,100.00 No

45077 CARQOOl General Parts Distribution 4/10/2024 $20.23 No

Page 14 of 154 



45078 ctNT001 Cintas First Aid & Safety 4110/2024 $324.00 No

45A79 ctNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 4/1O/2A24 $sB.0B No

45080 csAP001 CSA Planning Ltd. 4/10/7024 ws.25 No

45081 FERGOOl Ferguson US Holdings, lnc dba 4/10/2024 $41.67 No

45082 HUDSOOl Hudson Garbage Service 4/10/2024 $602.23 No

45083 HUDSOO2 Hudson Portable Toilet Service 4/1o/2024 $271.3s No

450M KJSEOOl KJ Security Solutions & Locksmith 4/10/2024 $+z.oo No

45085 KOLDOOl Culligan 4/1A/2024 $7s.20 No

45086 LAWROOl Lawrence Oil Company 4/1A/2A24 $150.20 No

45087 MILLO04 Elizabeth Millager 4/10/2024 $338.76 No

45088 NUtS001 John A. Norvell dba 411A/2024 $17s.00 No

45089 PACt005 Pacific Office Automation 4/10/2024 $357.00 No

45090 PACt007 Pacif ic Off ice Automation-Problem Solved 4/10/2424 $271.39 No

45091 PAMPOOl Oregon Publication Corporation 4/10/2024 $s2.00 No

45092 QUILOO'I Staples lnc dba 4/1A/2024 $1s7.99 No

45093 RtcK001 Rick's Hi-School Pharmacy 4/1O/2o24 $s4.99 No

45094 ROBSOOl Rob Smith 4/10/2024 $200.00 No

45095 sDts001 SDIS 4/'t0/2024 $1,061.92 No

45096 SHEROOl Sherwin-William s 4/10/2024 $s.6e No

45097 suNs002 watkins Tractor & Supply dba 4/10/2024 $187.75 No

45098 THOMOOl Thom son Reuters-West Paym ent Center 4/10/2024 $129.72 No

45099 ZIPLOOl Ziply Fiber 4/10/2024 $6.36 No

45100 AMBIOOl Ambient lT Solutions 4/19/2024 $3s0.00 No

45101 AMEROO3 American Metal Corp 4/1912024 $2,1 s0.1 3 No

45102 BURNOOl Christa Burns 4/19/2024 $24.0e No

45103 CENTOOl CenturyLink 4/'t9/2024 $243.s4 No

45104 CENTOO2 Century West Engineering 4/1s/2024 $15,7s4.00 No

45105 CHAROOl Charter Com munications 4/1s/2024 $217.M No

45106 crNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 4/1s/2024 $1 16.16 No

45107 CLATOO6 Clatskanie Chamber of Commerce 411912024 $1,000.00 No

45108 coLU009 Columbia County 4/1s/2024 $7s.00 No

45109 coluo1 1 Columbia County Dept.of Community Justice Adult Division 4/19/2024 $1,s00.00 No

451 10 coLUo21 Columbia County Fair & Rodeo 4/1912024 $1,s00.00 No

45111 coLU024 Columbia County Rotary 4/19/2024 $62s.00 No

45112 KlwAoo1 Kiwanis Club of St. Helens 4/19/2024 $s00.00 No

45113 LOOPN001 LoopNet 4/19/2024 $1,388.28 No

45114 NWMTOOl NWMTA 4/19/2024 $1,277.00 No

45115 NWNAOOl NW Natural Gas Company dba 4/19/2024 $1M.60 No

45116 oBt0001 Oregon Business & lndustry Association 4/19/2024 $630.00 No

45117 oRKr001 Orkin LLC 4/19/2424 $261.e7 No

45118 OTAKOOl Otak lnc 4/19/2024 $672.s0 No

45119 PORTOO2 Portland General Electric 4/19/2024 $13,ss1.49 No

45120 SHREOOl Shred Northwest, lnc 4/19/2024 $60.00 No

Page 15 of 154 



45117 oRKt001 Orkin LLC 4/19/2424 $261.97 No

451 18 OTAKOOl Otak lnc 4/19/2024 $672.s0 No

451't9 PORTOO2 Portland General Electric 4/'t9/2024 $13,ss149 No

45120 SHREOOl Shred Northwest lnc 4/19/2024 $60.00 No

45121 STELOOl Richard Stellner 4/19/2024 $1,27s.00 No

45122 VOYAOOl Voya - State of Oregon 4/1912024 $4,415.00 No

45123 wtLc001 Wilson Oil lnc dba 4/1912024 $426.ss No

45124 BYNUOOl Amy Bynum 4/24/2024 $s0.00 No

45125 CENTOOl CenturyLink 4/24/2024 $99.s0 No

45126 CENTOO2 Century West Engineering 4/2412024 $12,0,14.00 No

45127 CENTOO3 CenturyLink 4/2412024 $109.0s No

45128 clNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 4/24/2024 $s8.08 No

45129 ctTY003 City of St. Helens 4/U/2O24 $22,027.17 No

451 30 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD 4/24/2024 $344s No

4s1 31 COLUOOB Columbia River PUD 4124/2024 $3,780.62 No

45132 coMc001 Comcast 4/24/2024 $2,34e.94 No

4s1 33 coMc002 Comcast Business-Office Phones 4/24/2024 $1,062.91 No

45134 coMc003 Com cast Business-Ethernet 4/24/2024 $6,so1.72 No

451 35 coTT001 Sydell Cotton 4/24/2024 $s0.00 No

451 36 DRROOOl Dr. Roof lnc 4/24/2024 $181,961.12 No

45137 NWNAOOl NW Natural Gas Company dba 4/24/2424 $131.30 No

451 38 PAULOO.I Paulson Printing 4/U/2O24 $3e8.00 No

451 39 scoT001 Brittany Scott 4/24/2024 $s0.00 No

45140 SUPPOOz SupplyWorks 4/24/2024 $126.03 No

45141 TOLLOOl Lacey Tolles 4/24/2024 $168.59 No

Electronic Withdrawals

SubTotal - Electronic Withdrawals

SubTotal $335,147.07

$528,000.04

s863.147.1 1

wD1000006160 ADPOOl ADP Payroll 4t4t2024 $6s,360.6s No

wD1000006177 ADPOOl ADP SUI Tax 4t3t2024 $437.48 No

wD1000006198 PERSOOl PERS 4t12t2024 $8.e3s.77 No

wD1000006210 ADPOOl ADP PayrollFees 4t12t2424 $154.97 No

wD1000006221 ADPOO,l ADP Payroll 4t18t2024 $67,134.4s No

wD1000006242 PERSOOl PERS 4t25i2424 $8.73349 No

wD1000006247 ADPOOl ADP Payroll 4t26t2024 $161.3s No

DAJ000006192 STANOOl The Standard 4t8t2024 $2,081.88 No

DAJ000006232 GLOBOOl Global Partners 4t23t2024 $375,000.00 No

Grand Total

Page 16 of 154 



Ponlof coruM0lA couNnt

Rcqucat lor Rclmburscment and Commlssloner Stipend

It ir the fotcy ol lhc tort of Col$nrlrie Cctnty lo rclnrbtrlrc conrnrlltlon|'t lor lc$lllnral? crpen3ct Drade ot (otlt rncuttcd bY rommlt"lonerl ln

ttr( (ou?jc olcondoctintno?l burin$i. All rfqucll! lor rcimburtcnlent nturl lnchdc t&eipltot olhet id(qunlc do(umenl)tioo. Vehlcle

rerntbu,rcnrrnt nrny be n\rd. lor tho u$ott pcrronit vchl(18 lorolficltl burlnesf onlf'

ccm'nrrlion'r ntlirltervceil oateotFe{uc4t 'lltll'zW
oa ril,160nl

Da!e D6a.lDtion
MootltrB

Stlocnd Mrlcaorlv€n 20ll RttG Mrl?rte
tttoilt rnd

olhet tot'l

s 50.00 o.69S0 5 3 s

01.10.:01.r 3 so.oo 6 o.6350 3 3.93 3 3 3.93

0 r.l ?.:02r 3 so.m 0.6550 3 t 3

or 16.to!! ilHB Mcetlnc 3 50.00 l4 o-5550 I 9.17 I s 9.17

or 2r-201! Rdis Prcl.l I 50.00 o.65s0 3 s s

ol,2S.2Oltl Baloe Slritdir Plrn s s0.00 o.6390 9 5 t

o 1 _3 r-202a Commtrtlon MRtrn! s s0,00 6 0.6550 3 3.93 g I 3.93

or.3 l-201{ Phon"rallt /3hort meiln!r 3 qo,m 0.6550 g 3 3

o2.1 1.2024 R@l6v Prcket t so.oo o.6s50 I 3 3

o2.r5.202{ 3 50.00 o.6350 3 I g

o2 2q-!o2! l*ld Prclet < so.oo 0.6s50 3 ( 3

o2.2S.2024 Comml$ion MRlitrP 3 30.oo 6 o.6350 3 3.93 3 I 3.93

3 5o-oo o.6550 3 3 3

o3.o1.2024 ilXgMRtint s 50.00 0.6550 3 3 s

.2024 3 30.OO o.6950 3 3 3

o3.r0.2021 3 50.00 o.6390 t s

I 50.00 o.6550 3 ( s

t 50.oo 6 o.6950 3 3.93 3 s 3.93

t 90.00 5 0.6t50 3 1.28 s 3 1.28

Rale$J P!clct 3 t0.00 0.6550 3 3 3

o3.2 3 5000 o.63S0 3 3 3

o3.3t.2024 s 30.00 o.6550 3 t 3

3 o.6950 t 3 3

3 0.6550 t s 3

rorAL RtoutSlt0 RfrMBUnStMtllt s;;;oo 43.00 I s / 2B.lt

I ccrlifr lhrt the ('rpen"el rovghl to bc r€ifilrurted w€rc lncurrcd ln the aourte ol olfr(lal POnTbuiinetS tnd were Ptid bY me ttgm nlY own lundr'

I rltrtm thlr lnlo,mnlion.

\;, (

voo- b1O3_r)t-Ot5

)
aorilr nR.C tRd. O1.10:01

Page 17 of 154 



 

Res. 2024-06 
STAFF REPORT   

 
DATE:  May 8, 2024 

TO:   Port Commission Board 

FROM:  Gina Sisco, Communications & External Affairs Manager 

RE:  Approving Strategic Business Plan Update, revised Mission Statement, 
Vision, and Guiding Principles 

 
Discussion 
Oregon law requires Oregon public ports to review and update their Strategic Business Plan 
(“SBP”).  The SBP is intended to serve as the primary planning document to guide the Port’s 
policies, projects, and practices. With input from Port Commissioners, staff, stakeholders, 
tenants, and the public, the SBP is designed to be a flexible guide for the Port Commission as 
it sets priorities and policies and can be used as a basis for grant funding and to bring partners 
together to address common project goals.  
 

The Port’s Mission Statement, Vision, and Guiding Principles were also updated during the 
SBP Update. The Port Commission identified Guiding Principles that shape the direction for 
the Port and inform the Vision and Mission Statement. The Vision outlines the Port’s forecast 
for successful outcomes and the Mission Statement reflects the Port’s purpose and achievable 
goals for the future. 
 
Recommendation 

Adopt Resolution 2024-06, which approves the 2024 Strategic Business Plan Update, revised 
Mission Statement, Vision, and Guiding Principles.  

 

 

Approving Strategic Business 
Plan Update, Mission Statement, 

Vision, and Guiding Principles  

Page 18 of 154 



   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-06 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-06 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE STRATEGIC BUSINESS 
PLAN UPDATE, REVISED MISSION STATEMENT, VISION, 

AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
WHEREAS, the Port of Columbia County’s Strategic Business Plan 

(“SBP”) was created in 2012 and updating the SBP is a prerequisite for the Port 
to be eligible for state planning and marketing funds; and 

WHEREAS, the 2024 SBP Update is intended to serve as the primary 
planning document to guide the Port’s policies, projects, and practices; and 

WHEREAS, the SBP was developed with extensive public outreach and 
community involvement and meets all State of Oregon requirements; and  

WHEREAS, the Port’s Mission Statement, Vision and Guiding Principles 
were also updated as part of the SBP process; Now, therefore,  

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia 
County as follows: 

The Board adopts and approves the 2024 Strategic Business Plan Update 
and revised Mission Statement, Vision, and Guiding Principles as presented.  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 8th day of May 2024, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: _____ NAYS: _____   Port of Columbia County 

ABSTAINED: _____    By:  ________________________ 

               President 
Attested By:  

 

________________________ 

Secretary 

Page 19 of 154 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Thank you –          
to the Port of Columbia 
County, its 
stakeholders, and 
community partners 
for sharing their time 
and insight in the 
development of this 
Strategic Business Plan 

Port of  
Columbia County 

Strategic Business Plan 

April 2024  

2024 Update 

Page 20 of 154 



 

Port of Columbia County 
2024 Strategic Business Plan Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted to  
Port of Columbia County 
 
 
 
 
April 2024 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by 
 
WSP USA  
116 Third Street, Suite 305  
Hood River, Oregon 97031  
WSP.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This project is funded in part by the Business Oregon Infrastructure 
Finance Authority through the Port Planning and Marketing Fund.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21 of 154 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
This strategic business plan was developed by the Port of Columbia County with assistance from 
Business Oregon. For more information about the Port of Columbia County, visit 
www.portofcolumbiacounty.org.  

COMMISSIONERS 

Robert Keyser, President 
Brian Fawcett, Vice President 
Nancy Ward, Second Vice President 
Nick Sorber, Treasurer 
Chip Bubl, Secretary 

STAFF 

Sean Clark, Executive Director 
Gina Sisco, Communications and External Affairs Manager 
Amy Bynum, Deputy Executive Director 
Elliot Levin, North County Operations and Terminal Manager 
Guy Glenn, Executive Finance Manager 
Bob Salisbury, Port General Counsel 
Miriam House, Operations Manager 
Lacey Tolles, Data Resources and Project Specialist 

PREPARED BY 

WSP USA Inc. 
116 Third Street, Suite 305 
Hood River, Oregon 97031 

IN ASSOCIATION WITH 

FCS GROUP 
4000 Kruse Way Place, Building 1, Suite 220 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
 
Lower Columbia Engineering 
58640 McNulty Way 
St. Helens, Oregon 97051 
  

Page 22 of 154 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 
2024 STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION PAGE 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS.............................. 1 

1.1 PURPOSE ................................................................................................. 1 
1.2 PLAN DEVELOPMENT AND ORGANIZATION ....................................... 1 
1.3 COMMISSIONER, STAKEHOLDERS, AND PUBLIC OUTREACH ......... 2 

2.0 PORT HISTORY AND BACKGROUND ................................................................... 3 

3.0  GUIDING PRINCIPLES, VISION, AND MISSION STATEMENT ......................... 5 

4.0 PORT OVERVIEW ............................................................................................... 5 
4.1 PORT COMMISSION AND STAFF ........................................................... 5 
4.2 PORT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES .................................................... 5 
4.3 STRATEGIC PARTNERS ......................................................................... 6 
4.4 PORT PROPERTIES AND FACILITIES .................................................... 6 

4.4.1 Port Westward Industrial Park ..................................................... 7 
4.4.2 Clatskanie Business Center ......................................................... 8 
4.4.3 Columbia City Industrial Park ...................................................... 9 
4.4.4 Milton Creek Industrial Park ....................................................... 10 
4.4.5 McNulty Creek Industrial Park ................................................... 10 
4.4.6 Railroad Corridor ........................................................................ 11 
4.4.7 Multnomah Industrial Park ......................................................... 11 
4.4.8 Scappoose Airport ...................................................................... 12 
4.4.9 Scappoose Bay Marine Park ...................................................... 12 

4.5 PORT UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION .......................................... 13 
4.5.1 Public Street Access ................................................................... 13 
4.5.2 Rail Access .................................................................................. 13 
4.5.3 Marine Access ............................................................................. 14 
4.5.4 Sanitary Sewer ............................................................................ 14 
4.5.5 Water ............................................................................................ 14 
4.5.6 Electrical Power and Natural Gas .............................................. 14 
4.5.7 Communications ......................................................................... 15 
4.5.8 Buildings and Structures ........................................................... 15 

5.0  POLICY CONTEXT AND SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS ....................................... 15 
5.1 CONSISTENCY WITH STATE, REGIONAL, AND LOCAL PLANS AND 
POLICIES ........................................................................................................... 16 

5.1.1 Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 777 ........................... 16 
5.1.2 Ports 2010 – A New Strategic Business Plan for Oregon’s 

Statewide Port System ............................................................... 16 
5.1.3  Statewide Planning Goals .......................................................... 16 
5.1.4  Columbia County Comprehensive Plan .................................... 18 

Page 23 of 154 



5.1.5 Zoning .......................................................................................... 18 
5.2 ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY BENEFITS ANALYSIS ........................ 22 

6.0 MARKET ANALYSIS AND OPPORTUNITIES .................................................. 22 
6.1 ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC OVERVIEW .................................... 22 

6.1.1 Trade ............................................................................................ 23 
6.1.2 Population, Labor, and Income .................................................. 23 

6.2 MARKET ANALYSIS .............................................................................. 23 
6.2.1 Employment................................................................................. 24 
6.2.2. Tourism ........................................................................................ 24 
6.2.3 Target Market............................................................................... 24 
6.2.4 Development Opportunities ....................................................... 25 

7.0  STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN ELEMENTS .................................................... 25 
7.1 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN ........................................................... 26 

7.1.1 Port Westward Site Development .............................................. 27 
7.2  MANAGEMENT PLAN ............................................................................ 33 
7.3 FINANCIAL PLAN ................................................................................... 33 
7.4 ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN ....................................................................... 34 
7.5 MARKETING PLAN ................................................................................ 35 

8.0 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES.................................................................................. 35 

9.0 ACTION PLAN ................................................................................................... 35 

10.0 LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS ................................................. 39 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 1. Port Property Zoning .................................................................................... 19 
Table 2. Capital Improvement Plan ............................................................................ 28 
Table 3. Action Plan .................................................................................................... 36 
 
LIST OF FIGURES 
Figure 1. Port District Map ............................................................................................ 3 
Figure 2. Port Facility Locations – North County ....................................................... 7 
Figure 3. Port Westward ............................................................................................... 8 
Figure 4. Clatskanie Business Center ......................................................................... 8 
Figure 5. Port Facility Locations - South County ....................................................... 9 
Figure 6. Columbia City Industrial Park .................................................................... 10 
Figure 7. Industrial Building at Milton Creek Industrial Park .................................. 10 
Figure 8. McNulty Creek Industrial Park .................................................................... 11 
Figure 9. Railroad Corridor ......................................................................................... 11 
Figure 10. Multnomah Industrial Park ....................................................................... 12 
Figure 11. Scappoose Airport .................................................................................... 12 
Figure 12. Scappoose Bay Marine Park .................................................................... 13 
Figure 13. CIP Total Cost per Port Facility ................................................................ 32 
 
 

Page 24 of 154 



LIST OF APPENDICES 
Appendix A. Commissioner, Stakeholder, and Public Outreach Summary 
Appendix B. Facilities Condition Assessment 
Appendix C. Market and Fiscal Analysis 
Appendix D. Financial Plan 
 

Page 25 of 154 



1.0 INTRODUCTION AND STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS 

1.1 PURPOSE 

The Port of Columbia County (Port) 2024 Strategic Business Plan (the plan) builds upon 
past planning efforts and addresses the progress, as well as the challenges the Port has 
faced since completing its 2012 Strategic Business Plan and Capital Facility Plan. Since 
the adoption of the plan in 2012, the Port has eclipsed its planned capital investments 
target through completion of $40 million in capital projects. This plan is intended to serve 
as the primary planning document to guide Port policies, projects, and practices over the 
20-year planning horizon.  

The plan was designed to comply with the strategic business plan requirements of 
Business Oregon and serves as a communication tool between the Port and the state. 
Once the state has accepted the plan and agreements are in place, the Port will become 
eligible for State Planning and Marketing funds for implementation (Oregon 
Administrative Rules [OAR] 123, Division 25). Further, the plan acts as a blueprint for 
Port Commissioners, staff, stakeholders, tenants, and the public in understanding the 
Port’s mission, goals, priority projects, and key strategies going forward. It can be used as 
a basis for grant funding and to bring partners together to address common project goals. 
The plan is designed to be a flexible guide for the Port Commission as it sets priorities 
and policies. To that end, policies and capital improvement priorities should be reviewed 
annually in conjunction with the Port’s budgeting process. A full update to the Strategic 
Business Plan is recommended every five years and is required at ten-year intervals. 

1.2 PLAN DEVELOPMENT AND ORGANIZATION 

This plan update is the result of various planning, market and financial, and facility 
assessments undertaken in 2023 and early 2024 that included coordination with the Port 
Commission, staff, tenants, and local and regional partners. These efforts helped define 
the current and future role of the Port and how new and long-standing goals will be 
achieved. To inform the recommendations outlined in this plan, key Port facilities and 
operations were evaluated. In addition, a market analysis was commissioned to evaluate 
economic and demographic realities and trends highlighting potential opportunities for 
the Port to make sound investments and propel economic growth. 

This document is organized into eight sections as follows. 

• Introduction and Strategic Planning Process: Provides a brief overview of the plan 
purpose, formation, and outreach conducted during plan development.  

• Port History and Background: Describes the origins of the Port and significant 
milestones in its history. 

• Port Vision, Mission, and Goals: Identifies the Port’s vision and mission statements 
and overarching goals to achieve this mission and long-term vision. 

• Port Overview: Provides an overview of Port properties, facilities, and transportation 
and utility infrastructure, as well as the current Port Commission, staff, and strategic 
partners. 

Page 26 of 154 



• Policy Context and Situational Analysis: Identifies prior Port and strategic partner 
planning efforts, outlines applicable plans and policies that will affect future 
development at the Port, and highlights the economic and community benefits of the 
Port. 

• Market Analysis and Opportunities: Provides a summary of current demographic, 
industry trends, and market opportunities for the Port. 

• Strategic Business Plan Elements: Provides capital improvement priorities and goals 
and policies to inform Port management, financial, environmental, and marketing 
decisions. 

• Priority Projects: Highlights future infrastructure projects identified by the Port for 
the expansion of business operations and continued economic growth along with 
planning-level cost estimates for these projects. 
 

1.3 COMMISSIONER, STAKEHOLDERS, AND PUBLIC OUTREACH 

The plan, which includes the Port’s capital improvement plan, was developed with 
extensive public outreach, including Port Commission and public meetings, two surveys, 
and stakeholder interviews. Summaries of outreach efforts are included in Appendix A.  

A kickoff meeting was held with Port Commissioners and staff in August 2023 to 
introduce the planning process, discuss progress of the 2012 plan, and to hold a strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) analysis. Coinciding with the kickoff, 
stakeholder interviews were conducted based on a series of questions regarding local 
market and growth opportunities, priorities for infrastructure improvements, and the 
Port’s role in integrating diversity, equity, and inclusion and climate priorities. Eight 
stakeholders were interviewed during the strategic planning process, including Port 
tenants, project partners, and local government officials.  

Two additional Port Commission meetings were held to discuss the Plan with the 
Commissioners. The second meeting was held in October 2023 to workshop the guiding 
principles, vision, and mission statement. The third meeting was held in February 2024 to 
review all elements of the draft plan and make final revisions to the Plan based on 
Commission and public input.  

Three public open house meetings were held to collect input and feedback from the 
community. The first two meetings were held in October 2023 in Rainier and St. Helens 
to review key findings from the SWOT analysis, facilities assessment, and marketing and 
financial analysis, and to workshop the Port’s vision and mission statement. An online 
survey was conducted in conjunction with the first two public meetings to solicit input on 
the existing conditions and begin to identify strategic priorities for the future. The third 
meeting was held at the Port Office in Columbia City in December 2023 to review the 
draft plan elements, present key findings, and gather feedback on the preliminary priority 
projects. At the meeting, members of the public expressed a desire for more emphasis on 
public outreach for the plan development. As a result, a second online survey was 
conducted in conjunction with the release of the draft plan to solicit comments on the 
draft plan prior to being presented to the Port Commission.  

Page 27 of 154 



2.0 PORT HISTORY AND BACKGROUND 

The Port was created in 1940 under Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) Chapter 777 to pursue 
economic development activities. The Port is a special district with boundaries that span 
51 miles along the Columbia River and includes the cities of Scappoose, St. Helens, 
Columbia City, Prescott, Rainier, and Clatskanie. The Port district is shown in Figure 1. 
The Port was renamed from Port of St. Helens to Port of Columbia County during a 
rebranding process in 2018 to be more representative of the entire district. 

 
Figure 1. Port District Map 

Columbia County, named for the Columbia River, was established in 1854. The county 
covers 646 square miles and is bordered on the north and east by the Columbia River, on 
the west by Clatsop County, and on the south by Washington and Multnomah Counties. 
Columbia County was the sixteenth county created in Oregon and is the third smallest 
county in the state, after Multnomah and Hood River Counties. 

Lewis and Clark explored this area in 1805-1806. Early settlements were established by 
fur traders as early as 1810. As American immigration increased in the mid-1840s, 
lasting settlements began to appear. The Yakima Indian War (1855-1859) drove many 
Washington Territory residents south of the Columbia River and helped boost the 
populations of St. Helens and Columbia City. 

Page 28 of 154 



The county’s total population grew from roughly 32,000 in 1975 to about 50,000 in 2015. 
The highest growth rates occurred during the late 1970s (2.2 percent) during a period of 
relative economic prosperity whereas the growth rate between 2010 and 2015 was 0.4 
percent. 

The traditional industries of Columbia County are timber, fishing, water transportation, 
dairying, horticulture, and recreation. The extensive stands of old growth timber, which 
had attracted many of the early settlers to the area, were completely logged over by the 
1950s. Second growth timber provides the raw material for local lumber and paper mills. 

Today, the Port owns eight industrial properties, totaling approximately 2,400 acres, 
including sites with excellent highway, rail, airport, and maritime access. The Port also 
owns and manages recreational properties at Scappoose Bay Marine Park and Bayport 
RV Park and Campground. 

Recent developments and investments made in the Port district since the 2012 Plan 
include the following. 

• Hermo Road Extension Design at Port Westward (in process) 
• Rezone of Agricultural Land to Industrial Land at Port Westward (in process) 
• Dredging at Scappoose Bay Marina (anticipated 2024) 
• Permits and Preliminary Engineering for Speculative Building at McNulty 

Industrial Park (2022) 
• Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study at Railroad Avenue (2022) 
• Columbia County Industrial Land Inventory (2022) 
• Columbia County Rail Safety and Mobility Study (2022) 
• New Corporate Hangar Building at Scappoose Airport (2021) 
• McNulty Industrial Park Wetlands Engineering and Certified Shovel-ready by 

State of Oregon (2021) 
• Westside Water & Sewer Project at Scappoose Airport (2019) 
• Dock Demolition/Maintenance at Multnomah Industrial Park (2019) 
• Taxiway Relocation at Scappoose Airport (2019) 
• Port Rebranding from Port of St. Helens (2018) 
• Construction of Building E at Multnomah Industrial Park (2018) 
• Public Viewing Area Project at Scappoose Airport (2018) 
• Port Westward Beaver Dock Extension – Berth 1 (2017) 
• Clatskanie Business Center Rezone to Light-Industrial (2016) 
• Scappoose Airport Master Plan Update (2015) 
• Dredging at Scappoose Bay Marina (2015) 
• Bridge Improvements at Railroad Avenue (2014) 
• Transient Dock Extension at Scappoose Bay Marina (2013) 
• Trail Repaving at Scappoose Bay Marina (2013) 
• Bayport RV Park Opening at Scappoose Bay Marina (2013) 
• Port Westward Water System (2012) 
• D Dock Roof at Scappoose Bay Marina (2012) 
• Structural and Environmental Assessment at Clatskanie Business Center (2012) 

Page 29 of 154 



3.0  GUIDING PRINCIPLES, VISION, AND MISSION STATEMENT 

The Port’s Vision and Mission Statement were updated as part of the process of 
developing this strategic business plan update. The Port Commission identified guiding 
principles that shape the direction for the district and inform the Vision and Mission 
Statement. The Vision outlines the Port’s forecast for successful outcomes and the 
Mission Statement reflects the Port’s purpose and achievable goals for the future. 

4.0 PORT OVERVIEW 

4.1 PORT COMMISSION AND STAFF 

The Port is governed by ORS 777 and a five-member commission that is elected by Port 
District voters. Port Commissioners and staff are supported by three committees: the 
Scappoose Bay Marine Park Advisory Committee, the Scappoose Airport Advisory 
Committee, and the Port Budget Committee. Committee members are appointed for a 
three-year term, and applicants are solicited through public notices and evaluated on an 
objective basis. 

4.2 PORT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The Port revised a policy manual in 2016 to orient new board members and to act as a 
policy guide for Port operations and behavior. The policy manual should be reviewed by 
staff to ensure it is current and updated to reflect current Port branding as the Port of 
Columbia County.  

Guiding Principles 

• Fiscal Responsibility  
• Environmental Sustainability 
• Adaptability 
• Accountability 
• Integrity  
• Opportunities for all 

 
Vision 

A diverse regional economy with thriving local businesses, quality jobs, and 
opportunities for all. 

Mission Statement 

Create a positive economic impact while maintaining livability and adapting to change.   

Page 30 of 154 



4.3 STRATEGIC PARTNERS 

Ongoing coordination and collaboration with local, regional, state, and federal partners 
allows the Port to leverage its resources to fulfill its mission and manage its assets. 
Ongoing coordination and compliance with the five local cities within the Port district 
boundary is paramount for the future of the Port. Maintaining relationships with the 
following public and private entities is key to the Port’s success.

• U.S. Department of Transportation 
• Federal Aviation Administration 

(FAA) 
• U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
• Business Oregon and the 

Infrastructure Finance Authority 
• Oregon Department of Aviation 

(ODAV) 
• Oregon Department of Land 

Conservation and Development  
• Oregon Department of Fish and 

Wildlife 
• Oregon Department of 

Transportation (ODOT) 
• Oregon Department of State Lands 
• Oregon Water Resources 

Department 
• Oregon Public Ports Association 
• Beaver Drainage Improvement 

Company (BDIC) 

• Special Districts Association of 
Oregon 

• Columbia County 
• City of Clatskanie 
• City of Rainier 
• City of Columbia City 
• City of St. Helens 
• City of Scappoose 
• Columbia Economic Team 
• Portland Community College 
• Oregon Manufacturing Innovation 

Center 
• Oregon State Marine Board 
• Scappoose Bay Watershed Council 
• Lower Columbia Estuary 

Partnership 
• Local School Districts 
• Local Businesses and Tenants 
• Scappoose Drainage Improvement 

Company (SDIC) 

4.4 PORT PROPERTIES AND FACILITIES 

The Port has made substantial investments in facilities and infrastructure to serve key 
industries and contribute to the economic development of the region. The Port’s diverse 
portfolio of properties and facilities is a notable strength of the agency. The Port district 
extends for 51 miles and the Port’s properties cover more than 2,400 acres of land in 
Columbia County. The Port owns eight different industrial sites: (1) Clatskanie Business 
Center, (2) Port Westward Industrial Park, (3) Columbia City Industrial Park, (4) Milton 
Creek Industrial Park, (5) McNulty Creek Industrial Park, (6) Multnomah Industrial Park, 
(7) Railroad Corridor, and (8) Scappoose Airport. In addition, the Port owns and operates 
the Scappoose Bay Marine Park and Bayport RV Park and Campground.  

In conjunction with the development of this strategic business plan, WSP performed a 
streamlined facilities condition assessment of properties at these facilities. The 
assessment recommended several improvements for the Port to consider. The assessment 
results are discussed in the memorandum included in Appendix B. Summary descriptions 

Page 31 of 154 



of the Port’s business parks follow below, organized by north and south counties (Figures 
2 and 5).  

 
Figure 2. Port Facility Locations – North County 

4.4.1 Port Westward Industrial Park 
Port Westward consists of 1,602.29 acres, 674.5 acres of which is leased to Portland 
General Electric (PGE); 43 acres leased to Cascade Kelly Holdings, LLC (Global 
Partners’ Columbia Pacific Bio-Refinery); 90 acres is leased to NEXT Renewable Fuels; 
3.2 acres to the Clatskanie Public Utility District (PUD); 211 acres leased to Warren and 
Caryn Seely; and 243 acres to Columbia River Ranch. See Figure 3. Port tenants use the 
land for industrial and agricultural purposes. An additional 194 acres outside of 
Clatskanie (in the Clatskanie Drainage Improvement District) could be used for wetland 
mitigation or agriculture use. The facilities condition assessment (Appendix B) 
recommends increased dock capacity, west dolphin replacement, upgrades to the water 
intake system, improvements to fire suppression, seismic upgrades, and completing the 
Hermo Road access to the site.  

Page 32 of 154 



 
Figure 3. Port Westward 

4.4.2 Clatskanie Business Center 
The Port owns approximately 1.53 acres of property at the business center, including the 
old Middle School building on SW Bryant Street. Recommendations for the business 
center include demolition, sale, or repurposing the outdated building. See Figure 4. 

 
Figure 4. Clatskanie Business Center 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 33 of 154 



 
Figure 5. Port Facility Locations - South County 

4.4.3 Columbia City Industrial Park 
The Columbia City Industrial Park comprises 93 acres with 35 acres available for lease. 
The Port administrative office is located at this site. Current tenants include Lignetics, 
Clearwater Paper Corporation, and Michels Pipeline. The Columbia City dog park is also 
located at this site. The facilities assessment recommends improvements to the existing 
rail spur and dock inspection, as well as leveling and paving to increase capacity for 
heavy-haul usage. See Figure 6. 

Page 34 of 154 



 
Figure 6. Columbia City Industrial Park 

4.4.4 Milton Creek Industrial Park 
Milton Creek Industrial Park is approximately 83 acres in size and is mostly developed; 
existing buildings are 100 percent occupied. The park’s primary tenant is RainShadow 
Labs. The facilities assessment recommended property acquisition along Port Avenue, as 
well as site design and partitioning of the 300 - 700 Port Avenue properties. See Figure 7. 

 
Figure 7. Industrial Building at Milton Creek Industrial Park 

4.4.5 McNulty Creek Industrial Park 
McNulty Creek Industrial Park covers about 54 acres, with 37 acres available for lease. 
The primary current tenant is Kinnear Specialties that uses the property for 
manufacturing. The facilities assessment recommends speculative industrial 
development, as well as rail spur maintenance. See Figure 8. 

Page 35 of 154 



 
Figure 8. McNulty Creek Industrial Park 

4.4.6 Railroad Corridor  
Railroad Corridor is an approximate 104-acre site. Current tenants are industrial in nature 
and use the land for waste management services. The Port is working with the Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) to clean up 25 acres of a former wood 
treatment property. In addition to DEQ cleanup, the facilities assessment recommended 
replacement of the Bailey Bridge or construction of a secondary access road to the “no 
further action” portion of the site. See Figure 9.   

 
Figure 9. Railroad Corridor 

4.4.7 Multnomah Industrial Park 
Multnomah Industrial Park includes approximately 155 acres. Current tenants include 
Composites Universal Group, an advanced composites manufacturer; ORPET, a post-
consumer plastic bottle recycling facility; Stella-Jones Corporation, a manufacturing 
center; U.S. Pipe, a pipe manufacturer; and Even Construction, a custom floating home 
builder. The facilities assessment recommended site development along Old Portland 
Road, rail spur maintenance, site paving, construction of a new Port maintenance shop, 
environmental remediation, and upgrading the heating, ventilation, and air conditioning 
system. See Figure 10. 

Page 36 of 154 



 
Figure 10. Multnomah Industrial Park 

4.4.8 Scappoose Airport 
The Scappoose Airport is 196 acres, including industrial properties available for lease. 
The airport includes a 5,100-foot runway, two parallel taxiways, standard lighting, 
precision approach path indicator lighting, and a weather reporting station. The Port owns 
and maintains the airport while the on-site fixed-base operator is privately owned. The 
facilities assessment recommended taxiway resurfacing, runway rehabilitation Phases II 
and III, east side hangar demolition and replacement, and east side waterline extension. 
The Airport Master Plan will also need to be updated within the duration of the plan. See 
Figure 11. 

 
Figure 11. Scappoose Airport 

4.4.9 Scappoose Bay Marine Park 
The Scappoose Bay Marine Park is a 26-acre site along the Columbia River. Port tenants 
are primarily recreational, offering access to the Scappoose Bay. The facilities 

Page 37 of 154 



assessment recommended ongoing dredging within the marina, expansion of the RV 
park, and improvements to the marina identified as the Marina Improvement Project. See 
Figure 12.  

 
Figure 12. Scappoose Bay Marine Park 

4.5 PORT UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

4.5.1 Public Street Access 
All Port facilities are accessible through public streets. U.S. Highway 30 serves as a 
critical point of access for many of the facilities. Additionally, arterials and collector 
streets maintained by local jurisdictions provide access to and through industrial parks. 
Port Westward is primarily served by Kallunki Road, which ties into Quincy Mayger 
Road. The Clatskanie Business Center is accessed off U.S. Highway 30 at SW Bryant 
Street. The Columbia City Industrial Park is accessible from U.S. Highway 30 towards 
the north end of the site and by E Street in Columbia City on the south end. McNulty 
Industrial Park is accessible from McNulty Way, a collector street that ties into Gable 
Road and U.S. Highway 30. Milton Creek Industrial Park is accessed through Port 
Avenue and Milton Way, which both run parallel to U.S. Highway 30. Multnomah 
Industrial Park is accessible through Old Portland Road, a minor arterial. Railroad 
Corridor is accessed through Railroad Avenue. Additionally, a Bailey Bridge provides 
access to the southern portion of the site over Milton Creek. Scappoose Airport is 
accessed from Honeyman Road, which connects to West Lane Road. The Scappoose Bay 
Marine Park is accessed off Old Portland Road just north of U.S. Highway 30. 

4.5.2 Rail Access 
The Scappoose Airport, Scappoose Bay Marine Park, and Clatskanie Business Center 
have no rail access, but the other Port facilities have rail access available. The Port owns 
a rail lead at Port Westward that connects to the Portland & Western Railroad mainline. 
The Port’s rail lead connects to a spur serving the Columbia Pacific Bio Refinery. 

Page 38 of 154 



Another spur leads to PGE’s Beaver Plant. The Port’s lead has sufficient capacity to 
support current and future tenants.  

The Portland & Western Railroad mainline runs along the western side of the property at 
the Columbia City Industrial Park, with two spurs available. An existing Port-owned 
railroad spur bisects the McNulty Creek Industrial Park and connects to the Portland & 
Western Railroad mainline, ending at the Multnomah Industrial Park. The facilities 
assessment recommended rail spur maintenance at McNulty Creek Industrial Park and 
Multnomah Industrial Park. A spur parallels the mainline running almost the entire length 
of the Milton Creek Industrial Park and continues to bisect Railroad Corridor.  

4.5.3 Marine Access 
There is no marine access at the McNulty Creek Industrial Park, Milton Creek Industrial 
Park, Scappoose Airport, or Clatskanie Business Center. However, marine access is a key 
asset for many of the Port facilities. Columbia City Industrial Park has a dock at the 
northern end of the property that is used by Clearwater Paper Corp. However, the dock 
needs structural inspection, surface repaving, and pile replacement and the current river 
depth only allows for barge traffic. The Multnomah Industrial Park has access to a boat 
ramp for industrial tenants and one dock currently used by Even Construction. Port 
Westward has deepwater access surrounding the 1,600-foot Beaver Dock. Berth 2’s 
mooring dolphin has reached the end of its useful life and is due to be replaced. There is 
marine access from a small float dock at Railroad Corridor, although the small dock is 
not appropriate for commercial use. The Scappoose Bay Marine Park is unique in that it 
offers recreational marine access to the Columbia River. Ongoing dredging is required in 
the marina to maintain river access. 

4.5.4 Sanitary Sewer 
Sanitary sewer facilities are available at all Port facilities through septic systems or 
gravity sanitary sewer. Public systems are maintained by local jurisdictions. The Port 
owns a water discharge system at Port Westward that is used by tenants for industrial 
purposes; this system is not used to treat or dispose of sewage.   

4.5.5 Water 
Water services are provided by local jurisdictions at all Port facilities. The Port owns 
and operates a water intake system at Port Westward that provides tenants with raw 
water for industrial use (primarily cooling and fire protection). In addition, the Port 
has undeveloped water rights for 18 cubic feet per second from four wells. The 
facilities assessment recommended improvements to the fire system at Port 
Westward.  

4.5.6 Electrical Power and Natural Gas 
Electrical power, provided by Columbia River PUD at its south county properties and 
Clatskanie PUD at Port Westward and Clatskanie Business Center, is available at all Port 
facilities. The nearest natural gas connection to the Scappoose Airport is about 1.5 miles 
away; however, it is a high-pressure line, so capacity is available for the future if the 
mainline is extended. Natural gas, provided by NW Natural, is available at all other Port 
facilities.  

Page 39 of 154 



4.5.7 Communications 
Xfinity (Comcast) currently provides broadband and telephone service to Columbia City 
Industrial Park, McNulty Creek Industrial Park, Milton Creek Industrial Park, 
Multnomah Industrial Park, Scappoose Airport, and the Scappoose Bay Marine Park. 
Xfinity is exploring service options at Railroad Corridor. Broadband and telephone 
service is provided by Cascade Networks at Clatskanie Business Center.  

4.5.8 Buildings and Structures 
The facilities assessment identifies the need for improvements to buildings and structures 
at Port facilities, as well as recommendations for structural evaluations of Port docks at 
marine facilities (Appendix B).  
 

5.0  POLICY CONTEXT AND SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS 
The following sections describe local, regional, and state planning and policy documents 
that may affect the development of Port properties and the Port’s ability to implement this 
strategic business plan. This strategic business plan aims to capture and, where 
applicable, update or implement key plans and projects included in the following related 
planning projects. 

Port-led Planning Projects 
• Port Westward Water Management and Conservation Plan (2024) 
• Strategic Business Plan (2012) 
• Columbia County Industrial Land Inventory Project (2022) 
• Scappoose Airport Master Plan Update (2015) 
• Structural and Environmental Assessment for Clatskanie Business Center (2012) 
• Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study for Railroad Avenue (2022) 
• Columbia County Rail Safety & Mobility Study (2022) 

Strategic Partner Planning Projects 
• Columbia County Comprehensive Plan (integrated through October 12, 2023) 
• City of Scappoose Economic Opportunities Analysis (draft January 2023) 
• Coordinated Population Forecast for Columbia County, its Urban Growth 

Boundaries (UGB), and Areas outside UGBs 2017-2067 (2017) 
• Columbia County Transportation System Plan (TSP) (2017) 
• Columbia County Housing Report (2017) 
• City of Scappoose Housing Needs Analysis (2017) 
• City of Scappoose Parks Master Plan Update 2022-2023 (in progress) 
• St. Helens Industrial Business Park Funding Plan (2020) 
• St. Helens Parks and Trails Master Plan (2015) 
• St. Helens Transportation System Plan (2011) 
• City of Scappoose Economic Opportunities Analysis (2011) 
• A New Strategic Business Plan for Oregon’s Statewide Port System (2010) 
• Lower Columbia River Corridor Rail Safety Study (Columbia and Clatsop 

Counties 2009) 
• Clatskanie Transportation Refinement Plan (2005) 

Page 40 of 154 



5.1 CONSISTENCY WITH STATE, REGIONAL, AND LOCAL PLANS AND 
POLICIES 
The successful implementation of this strategic business plan is dependent upon 
coordination with state, regional, and local planning efforts. The sections below address 
policy and guidance documents that may affect development on Port property and should 
be considered in conjunction with future projects.  

5.1.1 Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 777 
ORS Chapter 777 designates Oregon ports as special districts. These statutes give ports 
many of the standard powers of a public entity, including the ability to levy taxes, borrow 
money, issue bonds, and charge for services. ORS 777.065 declares that the development 
of deepwater port facilities at certain ports, such as Port Westward, is a state economic 
goal of high priority and requires state agencies to assist ports in this endeavor. The 
strategic business plan helps meet economic development goals outlined by the state and 
helps the Port acquire state funding for implementing projects.  

5.1.2 Ports 2010 – A New Strategic Business Plan for Oregon’s Statewide Port System 
In 2010, the Oregon Business Development Department and the Infrastructure Finance 
Authority (IFA) prepared and adopted Ports 2010: A New Strategic Business Plan for 
Oregon’s Statewide Port System (Ports 2010). The purpose of Ports 2010 is to “Define 
the State of Oregon’s future role, interest, and investment in the statewide port system. It 
will identify infrastructure, equipment, administrative, regulatory, and governance needs 
of the ports and also identify ways that Oregon’s port system can best serve the interest of 
the State of Oregon and its residents.” 

In addition, Ports 2010 includes a business plan template to serve as a guide for 
individual port strategic business plans in order to be consistent with the Statewide 
Strategic Port Plan. This Port of Columbia County Strategic Business Plan Update was 
developed to meet the state template and once complete, is subject to final review by the 
IFA through its peer-review process. 

5.1.3  Statewide Planning Goals 
The Port developed its strategic business plan update to be consistent with the statewide 
planning goals as required by Ports 2010. The following statewide planning goals are 
most applicable to the Port’s planning efforts. 

Statewide Planning Goal 9 – Economic Development 
To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic 
activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens. 

Oregon Planning Goal 9 states that local jurisdictions should maintain a 20‐year supply 
of lands suitable for economic growth to meet the needs of local business and industry 
likely to locate in the area during this period. The Port owns more than 2,000 acres of 
land with large portions of undeveloped and leasable land. Most of the Port-owned land 
is zoned for industrial development. A locational advantage of the Port is its proximity to 
multimodal transportation facilities and a variety of tenants. Port tenants include 

Page 41 of 154 



small-scale manufacturers and utility providers from industries, including waste 
management, aviation, floating home construction, and energy facilities.  

As the second busiest non-towered general aviation airport in Oregon and the largest in 
Columbia County, Scappoose Airport is a public use facility that is owned and operated 
by the Port. The airport serves a variety of airport business tenants with a group of light 
industrial properties that are currently available for lease. An Airport Master Plan update 
in 2015 identified build alternatives for the Scappoose Airport and examined potential 
development beyond a 20-year Master Plan period. 

The Port is actively pursuing opportunities to leverage partnerships with organizations, 
such as the Columbia Economic Team, Business Oregon, Greater Portland Inc, and 
Columbia Pacific Economic Development District. These partnerships can help the Port 
identify new tenants for the Port’s array of undeveloped and leasable land. Organizations, 
such as Business Oregon, provide their own list of target industries that can be used to 
inform the Port’s decision-making process for priority projects. Priority projects for the 
Port include maintenance of Port Westward, as well as the development and expansion of 
industrial park sites and buildings.  

In addition to providing leasable land and business opportunities, the Port also provides 
recreational opportunities at Scappoose Bay Marine Park, which offers public boat launch 
with access to the Columbia River and a separate dock for launching kayaks, canoes, and 
stand-up paddle boards. Additional recreational activities are available, including the 
Bayport RV Park and Campground, gazebo and picnic area, and a nature walking trail.  

Statewide Planning Goal 12 – Transportation 
To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation system. 

The Transportation Planning Rule, OAR 660 Division 12, requires that cities, counties, 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs), and state agencies implement Statewide 
Planning Goal 12 and prepare and adopt transportation system plans.  

The Transportation System Plan (TSP) for Columbia County was implemented in 2017. 
The TSP includes a multimodal, network-wide approach to identify transportation 
systems solutions for projects in categories, such as freight. The Port has been an active 
member in coordinating with the County and other local jurisdictions in this approach. 
This partnership is mutually beneficial for the Port and each jurisdiction as transportation 
planning can provide for future freight facility needs and support industrial development 
while mitigating negative impacts to the transportation system.  

The Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) has classified U.S. Highway 30 as a 
freight route and a reduction review route through Columbia County. U.S. Highway 30 
serves as an important transportation resource for the movement of truck freight between 
major destinations, such as ports and harbors. Most of the Port’s facilities and land are 
located within close proximity of U.S. Highway 30 and many of the Port’s tenants rely on 
the roadway for access to local and outside markets. Ensuring that this roadway is 

Page 42 of 154 



designed and managed to safely accommodate the movement of goods is a priority for the 
Port. 

Statewide Planning Goal 14 – Urbanization 
To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use, to 
accommodate urban population and urban employment inside urban growth boundaries, 
to ensure efficient use of land, and to provide for livable communities. 

The availability of industrial park sites and buildings provides the Port and its tenants 
with significant employment opportunities and the ability to develop infrastructure to 
accommodate growth in the planning horizon. The Port is projecting a range of 4,211 to 
10,944 net new jobs over the next 20 years in Columbia County (see Market Analysis for 
details). Currently, some of the largest employers among the Port’s tenants include 
Portland General Electric (PGE), ORPET, Oregon Aero, Composites Universal Group, 
RainShadow Labs, Lignetics Group, Global Partners’ Columbia Pacific Bio-Refinery, 
and U.S. Pipe. Port-owned land is supportive of City/County zoning districts that allow 
for industrial uses and future development. The Port will continue to work with the 
County and state to ensure an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use. 

Job growth in the County will impact the demand for housing to accommodate new 
workers. Population forecasts for Columbia County, analyzed by Portland State 
University’s Population Research Center, show an increase of 20,000 people (40 percent) 
between 2017 and 2067 for a combined population of 71,988 in 2067. This increase in 
population will require new housing units to meet demand and allow employers to attract 
new employees. While the Port does not supply housing, it supports efforts by the 
County, community partners, and other jurisdictions to provide housing opportunities. 
Maintaining a quality of life standard through housing affordability will benefit the Port 
in their land development efforts and help attract new businesses. 

5.1.4  Columbia County Comprehensive Plan 
The Port developed its strategic business plan update to be consistent with the Columbia 
County comprehensive plan. The Port’s mission is most directly related to the Economy 
element of the comprehensive plan and goals: to strengthen and diversify the economy of 
Columbia County and insure stable economic growth; and to utilize Columbia County’s 
natural resources and advantages for expanding and diversifying the economic base. The 
Port’s facilities provide critical economic activity and support 1,429 jobs. Additionally, 
the Port’s diverse portfolio and utilization of the region’s natural capital and other 
advantages will be leveraged to expand the County’s economic base.  

5.1.5 Zoning 
Port-owned property must comply with the zoning and development standards of the 
Columbia County Zoning Ordinance, and with the relevant development codes of 
Clatskanie, Columbia City, Rainier, St. Helens, and Scappoose. The table below 
identifies the zoning designation and key zoning considerations of each Port-owned tax 
lot.

Page 43 of 154 



Table 1. Port Property Zoning 

 Tax Lot Zoning Zoning Considerations (Jurisdiction) 
C

la
ts

ka
ni

e 
B

us
in

es
s 

C
en

te
r 

7408-CD-02101 ED 

ED – Employment District (City of Clatskanie): 
• Provides for a variety of employment opportunities, such 

as office, retail, or manufacturing, in an aesthetic 
environment and having a minimal impact on surrounding 
uses. 

• Permitted uses include banks, conference facilities, 
business services, offices, postal services, 
printing/photography services, and software development. 
Conditional uses include clinics and medical facilities, 
warehouses, dry cleaners, light manufacturing, and 
educational institutions. 

C
ol

um
bi

a 
C

ity
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

5121-00-00400 I 

I – Industrial (City of Columbia City): 
• Provides for access to the Columbia River and/or 

US Highway 30 and appropriate locations for industrial 
uses, marine-related uses including recreation, and 
limited commercial uses in support of industrial uses or 
requiring larger tracts of land with storage outside a 
structure. 

• Permitted uses include manufacturing, packaging, utilities 
commercial uses required large storage areas, and other 
storage and distribution uses and public facilities. 
Conditional uses include safety facilities, parking, medical 
facilities, public works, and other uses subject to review. 

 
R-2 – Moderate Density Residential (City of Columbia City): 

• Provides for residential use in areas of moderate 
concentration. 

• Permitted uses include residential buildings, day care and 
residential care, and accessory buildings. Conditional 
uses include churches, greenhouses, schools, and other 
community buildings. 

5128-AC-01399 R-2 

M
cN

ul
ty

 C
re

ek
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

4108-00-00307 HI 

HI – Heavy Industrial (City of St Helens): 
• Provides appropriate locations for intensive 

manufacturing activities and activities that need to be 
separated from more easily impacted activities, such as 
schools, churches, etc.  

• Permitted uses include fabrication, processing, or 
assembling of semi-finished or finished products from raw 
materials, outdoor storage areas, and the storage of 
heavy equipment. Conditional uses include caretaker 
dwelling, entertainment, hazardous waste collection and 
treatment, mineral resource development, on-site 
retailing, parks, utilities, and other public facilities. 

4108-AD-01600 HI 

4108-AD-01500 HI 

4108-D0-00300 HI 

4108-DB-00300 HI 

4108-D0-00310 N/A 

4108-D0-00200 HI 

4108-DB-00200 N/A 

Page 44 of 154 



 Tax Lot Zoning Zoning Considerations (Jurisdiction) 
M

ilt
on

 C
re

ek
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

4104-CC-00400 LI LI – Light Industrial (City of St. Helens): 
• Provides locations for general industrial use, including 

light manufacturing and related activities with few, if any, 
nuisance characteristics.  

• Permitted uses include agricultural supply and sales, 
animal sales and services, auction sales, boat repair and 
other maintenance services, equipment and automobile 
sales, utility distribution, minor public facilities, and other 
whole trade operations. 

HI – Heavy Industrial (City of St. Helens): 
• Provides appropriate locations for intensive 

manufacturing activities and activities that need to be 
separated from more easily impacted activities, such as 
schools, churches, etc.  

• Permitted uses include fabrication, processing, or 
assembling of semifinished or finished products from raw 
materials, outdoor storage areas, and the storage of 
heavy equipment. Conditional uses include caretaker 
dwelling, entertainment, hazardous waste collection and 
treatment, mineral resource development, on-site 
retailing, parks, utilities, and other public facilities. 

4104-CC-00500 LI 
4104-CC-00600 LI 
4104-CC-00700 LI 
4104-CC-00800 LI 
4104-CC-00900 LI 
4104-CC-01000 LI 
4104-CC-01100 LI 
4105-DD-03400 LI 
4108-AA-01200 LI/HI 
4108-AA-00700 HI 
4109-B0-00700 HI 
4109-B0-00800 HI 
4109-B0-00900 HI 
4109-00-00700 HI 

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

4108-D0-01000 M-1 
HI – Heavy Industrial (City of St. Helens): 

• Provides appropriate locations for intensive 
manufacturing activities and activities that need to be 
separated from more easily impacted activities, such as 
schools, churches, etc.  

• Permitted uses include fabrication, processing, outdoor 
storage areas, and the storage of heavy equipment. 
Conditional uses include caretaker dwelling, 
entertainment, hazardous waste collection and treatment, 
mineral resource development, on-site retailing, parks, 
utilities, and other public facilities. 

M-1 – Heavy Industrial (Columbia County): 
• Provides for industrial operations that generate noise, 

odor, dust, glare, vibration, or truck and rail traffic in such 
amounts as to be objectionable to adjacent land uses. 

• Permitted uses include automobile wrecking or 
manufacturing, machine shop, dry cleaning, feed and fuel 
storage, and numerous other manufacturing and 
associated uses. Conditional uses include kennels. 

4108-D0-01004 M-1 

4108-D0-01001 HI 

4108-D0-00900 HI 

4108-D0-01003 M-1 

4108-D0-01002 M-1 

4117-00-00100 HI 

Po
rt

 W
es

tw
ar

d 
In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

8415-00-00100 RIPD 

RIPD – Resource Related Industrial Use on Rural Land (Columbia 
County): 

• Provides for rural and natural resources related industries 
which are land extensive and are consistent with the rural 
facilities and services. 

• Permitted uses include farm use, and management, 
production and harvesting of forest products. Conditional 
uses include production, processing, assembling, and 
packaging of materials. 

 
PA-80 – Primary Agriculture Use Zone (Columbia County) 

• Provides for prime agricultural lands and farm use areas, 
open space, watershed protection, and maintenance of 
clean air, water, and habitat. 

8415-00-00200 RIPD 
8415-00-00300 RIPD 
8416-00-00100 RIPD 
8416-00-00200 RIPD 
8421-00-00700 RIPD 
8422-00-00100 RIPD 
8422-00-00200 RIPD 
8422-00-01100 RIPD 
8422-00-01100 RIPD 
8415-00-00100 PA-80 
8421-00-00300 PA-80 
8421-00-00400 PA-80 

Page 45 of 154 



Tax Lot Zoning Zoning Considerations (Jurisdiction) 
8421-00-00500 PA-80 PA-80 – Primary Agriculture Use Zone (Columbia County) 

• Provides for prime agricultural lands and farm use areas, 
open space, watershed protection, and maintenance of 
clean air, water, and habitat. 

Po
rt

 W
es

tw
ar

d 
(c

on
t.)

 

8421-00-00600 PA-80 
8422-00-00400 PA-80 
8422-00-00500 PA-80 
8422-00-00600 PA-80 
8422-00-00700 PA-80 
8423-00-00900 PA-80 
8423-B0-00400 PA-80 
8423-B0-00500 PA-80 
8423-B0-00600 PA-80 
8423-B0-00700 PA-80 

R
ai

lro
ad

 C
or

rid
or

 

4109-00-00700 HI 

HI – Heavy Industrial (City of St Helens): 
• Provides appropriate locations for intensive 

manufacturing activities and activities that need to be 
separated from more easily impacted activities such as 
schools, churches, etc.  

• Permitted uses include fabrication, processing, or 
assembling of semi-finished or finished products from raw 
materials, outdoor storage areas, and the storage of 
heavy equipment. Conditional uses include caretaker 
dwelling, entertainment, hazardous waste collection and 
treatment, mineral resource development, on-site 
retailing, parks, utilities, and other public facilities. 

 

4109-AB-00800 HI 
4109-00-00200 HI 
4109-B0-00300 HI 
4109-BA-00800 HI 
4109-BA-00600 HI 
4109-BA-01200 HI 
4109-BA-00900 HI 
4109-BD-00100 HI 
4109-BA-01100 HI 
4109-BD-00200 HI 
4109-BD-00300 HI 
4109-BD-00400 HI 
4109-BD-00500 HI 
4109-BD-00800 HI 
4109-BD-01000 HI 
4109-BD-00700 HI 
4109-BD-01100 HI 
4109-BD-00900 HI 
4109-BD-01200 HI 
4109-00-00400 HI 
4109-00-00200 HI 
4109-00-00300 HI 
4109-00-00302 HI 
4109-AB-00700 HI 
4108-D0-01004 M-1 
4108-D0-01001 HI 
4108-D0-00900 HI 
4108-D0-01003 M-1 
4108-D0-01002 M-1 
4117-00-00100 HI 

Sc
ap

po
os

e 
A

irp
or

t 

4131-00-00600 PUA PUA – Public Use-Airport (City of Scappoose) 
• Provides appropriate locations to encourage and support 

the continued operations and vitality of the Scappoose 
Airport.  

• Permitted uses include airport-related commercial, 
manufacturing, and recreational uses, as well as law 
enforcement and firefighting activities, and certain 
agricultural and forestry activities. Conditional uses 
include auto rental, cafeterias and restaurants, food carts, 
motels, and other commercial uses associated with public 
airports. 

3106-B0-01300 PUA 
3106-B0-01400 PUA 
3106-B0-01600 PUA 
3106-00-00300 PUA 
3106-C0-00800 PUA 

3106-C0-00700 PUA 

Page 46 of 154 



 Tax Lot Zoning Zoning Considerations (Jurisdiction) 
Sc

ap
po

os
e 

B
ay

 M
ar

in
e 

Pa
rk

 a
nd

 
B

ay
po

rt
 R

V 
&

 C
am

pg
ro

un
d 4117-00-00200 C-2 

C-2 – Marine Commercial (Columbia County) 
• Provides for a range of water-related activities both 

commercial and residential. 
• Permitted uses include boat launch or moorage, 

houseboats, retail and dining, and public or private open 
spaces and parks. Conditional uses include single-family 
dwellings, utility facilities, and water-dependent 
construction activities.   

R-10 – Single Family Residential (Columbia County): 
• Provides for low-density residential uses. 
• Permitted uses include residential buildings and 

accessory structures. Conditional uses include home 
occupations and churches.  

4117-00-01300 C-2 

4117-00-01100 R-10 

5.2 ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY BENEFITS ANALYSIS 
FCS Group analyzed the economic and community benefits of the Port and of Port-
related businesses in 2023. An economic and fiscal impact analysis was conducted using 
analysis provided by the University of Oregon, using IMPLAN (Impact Analysis of 
Planning) model, and by FCS Group (using the Business Oregon Fiscal Impact Model for 
Oregon Ports). The results and overall findings are summarized below. 
 
The economic analysis concluded that the annual economic impact of the Port of 
included the following benefits in 2021. 

• There are approximately 27 separate business entities along with the Port that are 
directly responsible for 480 jobs (including full- and part-time workers). 

• The spending of labor income and business operations (on supplies and services) 
from direct business spending supports an additional 949 jobs within the region.   

• In total there are 1,429 jobs supported by Port-dependent businesses and related 
operations. 

• Port-related businesses paid workers approximately $65.9 million in labor income 
in 2021. With annual sales output of an estimated $256.8 million.  

• These businesses contributed nearly $135.3 million in value added (gross 
domestic product) for Oregon and the nation.  

• The taxable sales and related property and leasehold taxes paid by Port-related 
businesses generated an estimated $17.9 million in state tax revenue and $16.6 
million in local tax revenue in 2021. 

6.0 MARKET ANALYSIS AND OPPORTUNITIES 
The following sections identify current demographic and economic conditions, future 
trends, and existing and emerging economic opportunities for the Port to pursue. The full 
market analysis is included in Appendix C.  

6.1 ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC OVERVIEW 
The Port of Columbia County District is located within the greater Portland-Vancouver-
Hillsboro OR-WA Metropolitan Statistical Area (Portland MSA), and most of the 
economic interaction between the Port of Columbia County and the larger region is 
contained within the Portland MSA. The Portland MSA contains over 3.3 million 

Page 47 of 154 



residents, has a civilian labor force of 1.4 million, and generates an annual Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) in excess of $187 billion.  

The U.S. and Oregon economy are still recovering from the national economic recession 
brought on by the global Covid-19 pandemic in 2020. According to the U.S. Bureau of 
Economic Analysis, current-dollar GDP in Oregon increased in 2022 at an annual rate of 
9.9 percent; and increased at an annual rate of 9.8 percent in 2021, indicating moderate 
economic expansion. In the near term, U.S. GDP is expected to remain relatively flat over 
the next two years according to December 2022 projections by the Federal Reserve Bank. 
In Oregon, state economists are predicting a continued upturn in the short term, although 
the Oregon Office of Economic Analysis notes that record low unemployment is a major 
headwind that curtails business expansion. 

6.1.1 Trade 
The greater Portland-Vancouver region is one of four primary international trade 
gateways along the West Coast. A developing middle class within Asian and Middle 
Eastern economies will result in significant increases in demand for trade for 
international exports. 

As global and state GDP rises and commodity trade increases, Oregon ports should 
benefit from increases in import and export activity. Oregon exports reached a record 
high of $34.5 billion in 2022 (according to the most recent data by the U.S. International 
Trade Administration); up 15 percent from 2021. Oregon’s leading trade partner is China, 
which imports 24.5 percent of Oregon exports. Other leading export destinations in 
decreasing order include Mexico, Canada, Malaysia, Ireland, Japan, South Korea, and 
Israel. 

6.1.2 Population, Labor, and Income 
According to the U.S. Census Bureau and Portland State Population Research Center, 
Columbia County reached a record-high population level in 2022 with 53,588 residents. 
From 2010 to 2022, Columbia County’s average annual population growth rate (AAGR) 
was 0.7 percent, just below the statewide average (0.85 percent). The fastest growing 
jurisdictions within the county in terms of population included Scappoose (1.9 percent) 
and Clatskanie (1.8 percent). While most jurisdictions experienced a positive AAGR, 
Columbia City (-0.01 percent) and Rainier (-0.37 percent) experienced a negative AAGR 
between 2010 and 2022. 

As population levels have increased, income levels within Columbia County have also 
been increasing since 2010. The median household income in Columbia County was 
approximately $73,909 in 2021 compared to $55,199 in 2010. In the same time period, 
per capita income in Columbia County grew by 2.9 percent annually from $20,070 to 
$27,449.  

6.2 MARKET ANALYSIS 
A market analysis was completed by the project team to identify existing and emerging 
economic opportunities for the Port of Columbia County. The Market Study completed 
by FCS Group (Appendix C) evaluated current economic conditions and demographics 

Page 48 of 154 



and market data provided by local, state, and federal agencies. Findings from the analysis 
are used to support business plan recommendations designed to assist the Port and its 
partners with growth opportunities consistent with the Port’s Mission and Vision.  
 

6.2.1 Employment 
Employment growth has rebounded since the pandemic, exceeding pre-pandemic levels, 
with a total employment in Columbia County of 11,908 jobs in 2022. Total employment 
is estimated to include: 1,650 manufacturing jobs, 1,590 retail trade jobs, 1,490 education 
and health service jobs, and 1,350 leisure and hospitality jobs. According to the Oregon 
Employment Department (OED), at the end of 2022, Columbia County had 1,484 private 
employers (including non-profits) and 70 public employer entities (at separate locations). 

The largest private employers within the Port of Columbia County District include Fred 
Meyer, Rightline Equipment, Pacific Stainless Products, Cardinal Services, Walmart, and 
Safeway Stores. Compared to 2007 levels, job growth has occurred broadly in the 
services sector followed by modest improvements in retail and slight decreases in 
industry and government. 

In the future, the OED expects 12,540 jobs to be added within the region (including 
Benton, Clatsop, Columbia, Lincoln, and Tillamook Counties) over the next 10 years, 
equating to a 12 percent annual growth rate between 2021 and 2031. Job growth in 
Columbia County is expected to be between 3,751 and 11,479 jobs over the 2023-2043 
timeframe. Employment sectors where the most job growth is expected to occur include 
industrial, retail trade, services, and government.  

6.2.2. Tourism 
Visitation and tourism play an increasingly important role in supporting the Columbia 
County economy. According to a tourism impact study prepared for the Oregon Tourism 
Commission, annual travel spending in Columbia County amounted to $36.3 million in 
2022, up from $21.6 million in 2020. Total travel spending increased at an average 
(AAGR) of 2.2 percent in Columbia County between 2012-2022. In addition to the 
county’s many natural attractions, planned reconstruction and expansion activities at the 
Scappoose Bay Marina should help promote recreational activities for residents and 
visitors in the Port district. 

6.2.3 Target Market  
The team prepared a target industries analysis for the Port of Columbia County to identify 
existing and emerging key business sectors. “Employment clusters” are a primary force 
driving local economic prospects and often site selection decisions. Clusters of economic 
activity go well beyond mere concentrations of industry or employment types and they 
represent unique competitive market advantages. The analysis identified the following 
four classifications of business clusters:  
 

• Stars: include businesses with high location-quotient (LQ) (propensity to locate 
in County) and higher than average projected growth rate compared to other 
locations in Oregon.  

Page 49 of 154 



• Opportunities: include businesses with low LQ and high average growth rate 
(possible pent-up demand or competitive market disadvantage relative to other 
locations). 

• Mature: include businesses with high LQ but lower than average growth rate.  
• Challenges: include businesses with low LQ and lower than average growth rate. 

Employment sectors in the “Stars” cluster include Leisure and Hospitality (e.g., hotels/motels 
and food services), other services (i.e., business to business supply chains), administrative 
and waste management services, construction materials manufacturing and services, and 
transportation and subregional warehousing. The recommended target industries for the Port 
or Columbia County should include, but not be limited to:  

• Power and Energy Production 
• Machinery and Transportation Product Manufacturing  
• Building and Construction Materials Manufacturing 
• Apparel, Footwear, and Textile Product Manufacturing 
• Aeronautical and Aviation Products and Testing 
• Marine Products and Testing 
• Wood/Paper Products and Composite Materials Manufacturing 

6.2.4 Development Opportunities 
Several private and public facility investments in the Port district have occurred or been 
proposed in recent years. Examples of investments include site development at Port 
Westward for a clean fuels refinery, and improvement projects at Scappoose Bay Marina. 
The investments at Port Westward are currently pending approval of federal permits. 
Construction of the upland portion of the Scappoose Bay Marina Improvement Project 
and marina dredging are both planned for 2024. 

Recent and ongoing investments highlight the Port’s existing portfolio of industrial sites, 
buildings, and facilities that support jobs and tourism and generate a significant share of 
the annual GDP produced in Columbia County. The Port has the ability to provide a mix 
of “development ready” medium and large industrial sites with transportation access to 
rail, barge, and highway facilities. To support future investments and job forecasts, 
Columbia County will need between 418 and 776 gross acres of buildable employment 
land to accommodate future demand over the next 20 years. This includes 93 to 137 acres 
of land for marine and energy use and 25 to 166 acres of land for commercial 
opportunities (e.g., office, lodging, and retail). A portion of the projected service and 
retail-related job growth could also be accommodated by redevelopment or adaptive 
reuse of existing buildings and sites, located in downtown St. Helens, Columbia City, 
Scappoose, Rainier, and Clatskanie. 

7.0  STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN ELEMENTS 
The state template identifies five elements that must be included in a local Oregon port 
strategic business plan. The following sections (7.1 to 7.5) identify the Port’s priorities, 
goals, and strategies related to capital improvements, management, finance, environment, 
and marketing. These goals and strategies will help guide the Port’s economic 
development activities over the 5- to 20-year planning horizon. Each section provides an 

Page 50 of 154 



overview of the element, Port-wide goals and strategies, and, where applicable, strategies 
specific to the locations of Port facilities.  

7.1 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
The Port’s capital improvement plan (CIP) identifies the highest priority capital 
improvement projects to encourage economic development opportunities and the 
continued success of Port operations and facilities. The CIP guides capital improvement 
priorities but does not oblige the Port to make improvements. Funding for capital 
improvements is often contingent on partnerships with local, state, or federal agencies 
and/or private entities. These capital improvement projects do not represent all projects 
pursued by the Port, but instead, the highest priority projects across all Port business 
lines. The estimated total cost of projects identified in the CIP is approximately $87 
million. Figure 13 shows the general breakdown of costs for each Port facility. 

Goal 1: Develop and maintain a Capital Improvement Plan that lists projects and gives 
planning-level costs and estimates for capital projects.   

Strategy 1.1:  Develop a list of viable capital improvement projects for Port facilities, 
assets, and partnership projects with other agencies or property owners (see Table 2).   

Strategy 1.2: Maintain and update the CIP on an annual or biannual basis, with input 
from partner agencies or property owners as appropriate.  

Goal 2: Promote Port Westward as a prime industrial site capable of supporting energy 
and bulk commodities manufacture and trans-shipment, including rail and barge-to-ship 
transfers between inland ports and Pacific Rim destinations.   

Strategy 2.1:  Pursue rezoning of property to allow for industrial uses. 

Strategy 2.2:  Modernization of Beaver Dock at Port Westward to bring the dock into 
compliance with the seismic resiliency requirements mandated by Oregon State Senate 
Bill 1567. Consider adding a third berth if there is a need for additional capacity. 

Strategy 2.3: Continue to work with PGE and other tenants and adjacent agricultural 
users to ensure a compatible mix of uses.  

Goal 3:  Maintain Scappoose Airport and Scappoose Bay Marina as key assets to meet 
market demand and improve revenue streams.    

Strategy 3.1: Support improvements identified in Airport Master Plan to ensure full use 
of airport aircraft storage capacity.   

Strategy 3.2: Complete Phase II marina improvements to improve river access. 

Strategy 3.3: Budget for operations and maintenance by identifying projected cash 
requirements and funding sources. 

Page 51 of 154 



Goal 4: Modernize and continue to develop existing Port assets that lead to economic 
resiliency and the Port’s capacity to carry out its mission of economic development. 

Strategy 4.1: Encourage the investment of capital improvements that increase resiliency 
and capacity of existing infrastructure at industrial and business park properties. 

7.1.1 Port Westward Site Development 
The Port Commission identified development of projects at Port Westward as a key 
priority project for the Port. The Port has identified maintenance and expansion projects 
for the site, as included in the CIP (see Tables 2 and 3). Capital plans include 
modernizing Beaver Dock at Port Westward to bring the dock into compliance with the 
seismic resiliency requirements mandated by Oregon State Senate Bill 1567.  

Improvements include retrofit berths 1 and 2 for seismic resiliency, enhance mooring 
arrangements, connecting the fire system at the dock to the Port’s water system, 
expanding the water intake system, and safety measures to protect the dock’s 
infrastructure. The Port has also identified completing the Hermo Road access at Port 
Westward, which would improve connectivity of the site.

Page 52 of 154 



Table 2. Capital Improvement Plan 

Facility Project Description  Cost*  Target 
Start Year 

End 
Year 

Funding 
Source 

Revenue 
Rating** Priority Service 

Life 
Po

rt
 W

es
tw

ar
d 

Seismic Resiliency  Determine vulnerabilities per 
Oregon SB 1567.   $         50,000 2023 2024 Port 0 1 20 

Beaver Dock 
Moderniza�on 
Project – D&E and 
Permi�ng 

 Design, engineering, and 
permi�ng to bring dock into full 
compliance with the seismic 
resiliency requirements 
mandated by Oregon SB 1567.    

$    3,600,000 2024 2027 Port/grant 
funding 1 1 50 

Beaver Dock 
Moderniza�on 
Project - 
Construc�on 

Construc�on to bring dock into 
full compliance with the seismic 
resiliency requirements 
mandated by Oregon SB 1567.    

$28,000,000 2027 2032 Port/grant 
funding 1 1 50 

Improve Fire System 
on Dock 

Connect to port's water system 
and consider reestablishing 
looped system. 

$       750,000 2024 2027 Port/grant 
funding 0 1 20 

Expand Water Intake 
System 

Redesign water meters to 
provide accurate metering and 
expand system to accommodate 
future new user. 

$       250,000 2025 2027 Tenant/Port 0 1 30 

Complete Hermo 
Road Access 

Extend from Quincy Mayger Rd. 
to Port Access Rd. TBD 2025 2028 Tenant/ Port 0 2 50 

Beaver Dock 
Expansion Berth 3 

Add 3rd berth to accommodate 
Panamax-class liquid bulk 
vessels. 

TBD 2029 2035 Port/tenants/
grant funding 1 3 50 

Total Cost: $    32,650,00       

Cl
at

sk
an

ie
 

Bu
sin

es
s C

en
te

r 

Sell/Demolition of 
Building 

Preferred option is to sell. 
 
  

$    1,000,000 2025 2030 Port/grant 
funding -1 2 NA 

Total Cost $    1,000,000       

Page 53 of 154 



Facility Project Description  Cost*  Target 
Start Year 

End 
Year 

Funding 
Source 

Revenue 
Rating** 

Priority 
 

Service 
Life 

Co
lu

m
bi

a 
Ci

ty
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

Port Headquarters 
Office Expansion 

Expand and remodel Port office 
building. $1,000,000 2026 2027 Port -1 2 30 

Dock Operational 
Capacity 
Improvements  

Design, engineering, permitting, 
and construction to add 
additional capacity.  

$    2,000,000 TBD TBD Port/grant 
funding -1 1 30 

Site Development/ 
Building Demolition 

Site improvements including 
grading, utilities, building pad, 
and roads. Demo existing 
building/manufactured home. 

$         TBD 2029 2029 Port -1 2 NA 

South Rail Spur Track 
Replacement/ 
Drainage 
Improvements  

Replace south rail spur. 
Drainage work split out. $    1,000,000 2026 2026 Port/grant 

funding -1 3 100 

Total Cost $    4,000,000       

M
cN

ul
ty

 C
re

ek
 

In
du

st
ria

l P
ar

k 

Speculative Industrial 
Development – 
Design 

 82,000 SF speculative building 
and site improvements. $       500,000 2026 2027 Port -1 2 50 

Speculative Industrial 
Development – 
Construction 

 82,000 SF speculative building 
and site improvements. $    8,200,000 2028 2030 Port -1 2 50 

Total Cost $    8,700,000       

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 In

du
st

ria
l P

ar
k 

Port Maintenance 
Shop Const. 

New shop building including site 
improvements and utilities.  TBD 2025 2026 Port -1 2 50 

DEQ Environmental 
Remediation Site environmental remediation. TBD 2026 2036 Port/grant 

funding -1 3 100 

Site Development 
along Old Portland 
Rd.  

New building and utilities on 2+ 
acres. Building size TBD. TBD 2030 2036 Port 0 3 50 

Park Expansion Expand the existing footprint of 
Multnomah Industrial Park. $    1,000,000 2028 2030 Port -1 3 NA 

Total Cost $    1,000,000       

Page 54 of 154 



Facility Project Description  Cost*  Target 
Start Year 

End 
Year 

Funding 
Source 

Revenue 
Rating** 

Priority 
Service 

Life 
Ra

ilr
oa

d 
Co

rr
id

or
 

DEQ Environmental 
Remediation  

Remediation of creosote in 
upland and in-water areas. $ 23,000,000 2024 2124 

Insurance/ 
Port/ grant 

funding 
-1 1 100 

Site Access Feasibility Study for northern 
access road. $         70,000 2028 2030 Port -1 3 NA 

Total Cost $ 23,070,000       

Sc
ap

po
os

e 
Ai

rp
or

t 

West Side Pavement 
Maintenance 

Deferred pavement 
maintenance on taxiways, taxi 
lanes and aprons. 

$       399,000 2025 2026 FAA/ Port 0 1 10 

Runway 
Rehabilitation Phase 
II Design 

Design for resurfacing 510,000 
SF of runway. $       400,000 2025 2026 FAA/ Port 0 1 10 

Update Airport 
Master Plan 

 Update Scappoose Airport 
Master Plan. $       250,000 2028 2029 FAA/ Port 0 1 10 

Emergency 
Generator System Install emergency generator. $       324,000 2024 2025 ODAV/ Port -1 1 15 

Runway 
Rehabilitation Phase 
III Construct 

Runway rehabilitation 
construction. $    4,700,000 2026 2027 FAA/ ODAV/ 

Port 0 2 10 

East Side Hangar 
Demolition Demo east side hangars. $         100,000 2025 2026 Port -1 2 NA 

East Side Hangar 
Replacement (E10 & 
E5) Design and 
Construction 

Replace east side hangars. $       750,000 2026 2027 Port 1 2 50 

East Side Waterline 
Extension 

Extend water service to the east 
side of the airport. $       450,000 2024 2025 FAA/ Port -1 2 100 

Total Cost $    7,373,000       

Page 55 of 154 



Facility Project Description  Cost*  Target 
Start Year 

End 
Year 

Funding 
Source 

Revenue 
Rating** 

Priority 
Service 

Life 
Sc

ap
po

os
e 

Ba
y 

M
ar

in
e 

Pa
rk

 

Maintenance 
Dredging (every 7-10 
years) 

 Dredging at marina. $    2,500,000 2024 2024 Grant 
funding/Port -1 1 6 

Upland Marina 
Improvements 

Parking lot improvements, 
kayak unloading area, additional 
ADA parking, get-ready platform 
with power and air compressor, 
and install 2nd pay station. 

$       900,000 2024 2025 Grant 
funding/Port -1 2 25 

In-Water Marina 
Improvements   

In-water improvements include 
replace gangway and dock, add 
6 paddle craft docks, replace 
boat ramp, and install ADA 
compliant kayak launch. 

$    5,000,000 TBD TBD Grant 
funding/Port -1 2 20 

Bayport RV Park 
Expansion 

Expand RV Park to other side of 
creek. $    1,000,000 TBD TBD Grant 

funding/Port 0 3 30 

Total Cost  $    9,400,000              
CIP Total Cost***   $   87,193,000  

* All costs are shown in 2023 dollars. 
** Revenue Rating: 

(-1) Requires Subsidy 
(0) Generally Self-Supporting 
(1) Generates Positive Cash Flow  

*** CIP Total Cost does not include cost estimates for unpriced projects (marked TBD). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56 of 154 



Figure 13. CIP Total Cost per Port Facility 

 
 

  

 

$32,650,000 

$1,000,000 
$4,000,000 

$8,700,000 $1,000,000 

$23,070,000 

$7,373,000 

$9,400,000 

Port Westward Clatskanie Business Center
Columbia City Industrial Park McNulty Creek Industrial Park
Multnomah Industrial Park Railroad Corridor
Scappoose Airport Scappoose Bay Marine Park

Page 57 of 154 



7.2  MANAGEMENT PLAN 
The following management and personnel goals and strategies aim to govern the 
management of the Port’s facilities and assets while strengthening the effectiveness of its 
personnel and Port Commission.  

Goal 1: Enhance the capacity of the professional staff and Port Commission. 

Strategy 1.1: Facilitate regular joint staff and Commission training and workshop 
opportunities. Include appropriate budgets for periodic training opportunities to allow the 
Port Commissioners and staff to gain knowledge relevant to their positions.  

Strategy 1.2: Encourage Port Commissioners and staff participation in professional 
organizations including the Pacific Northwest Waterways Association, Oregon Public 
Port Association, Association of Pacific Ports, Special District Association of Oregon, 
Columbia County Economic Team, and local chambers of commerce. 

Strategy 1.3: Develop a staffing and Port Commission strategy and succession plan to 
account for turnover and future employment needs. 

Goal 2: Integrate the Strategic Business Plan as a planning tool to help guide the Port. 

Strategy 2.1: Adhere to and periodically update the strategic business plan to assess 
priorities and ensure long-term efficiency and financial sustainability.  

Strategy 2.2: Emphasize the importance of continuing community engagement to 
enhance understanding and respond to priorities in the district through involvement with 
ad-hoc committees and community-wide outreach efforts. 

Goal 3: Continue to foster strategic partnerships with local communities, agencies, Port 
tenants, and prospective businesses. 

Strategy 3.1: Increase agency coordination with the state, Columbia County, jurisdictions 
within the Port district, and Columbia Economic Team for greater transparency between 
parties and to streamline permitting processes. Work with state and federal agencies to 
support access improvements for commerce and recreation. 

Strategy 3.2: Pursue partnerships with prospective businesses to develop commercial and 
industrial uses that meet market demands and economic growth opportunities in the Port 
district.  

Strategy 3.3: Increase engagement with local communities in north and south Columbia 
County to ensure their local economic development potential is realized. 

7.3 FINANCIAL PLAN 
The following goals and strategies are proposed to assist the Port in implementing sound 
financial management practices using consistent policy benchmarks and techniques. A 
summary of key recommended financial strategies follows, and the full financial plan is 
included in Appendix D.  

Page 58 of 154 



Goal 1: Support the financial performance of the Port and Port business lines through 
regular monitoring and coordination. 

Strategy 1.1: Maintain financial reserve policy target guidelines as approved by the Port.  

Strategy 1.2: Maintain an operating reserve of at least 90 days to ensure operating 
revenues will cover project operating and maintenance expenditures. 

Strategy 1.3: Prepare long-term capital projections, including cash-funded capital, 
available grant funding, existing debt service, and new debt obligations due to future 
borrowing. Prioritize capital projects based on public need, assessed need, government 
mandates, public safety, tenant/customer needs, and positive cashflow to the Port. 

Strategy 1.4: Continue to revise and maintain fixed asset thresholds based on capital 
projects.  

Strategy 1.5 Continue to develop an ongoing comprehensive financing plan for prudent 
utilization and leverage of the Port’s assets and capacity. 

Strategy 1.6: Provide for a diverse and stable stream of operating revenues generated 
through ongoing investment. 

7.4 ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN 
The following goals and strategies are proposed to assist the Port in maintaining its 
commitment to sound environmental stewardship.  

Goal 1: Maintain compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.  

Strategy 1.1: Establish best management practices to ensure compliance with current 
environmental regulations. Promptly respond to any environmental incident that may 
occur.  

Strategy 1.2: Develop and maintain collaborative working relationships with regulatory 
agencies.  

Goal 2: Uphold environmental stewardship as the Port develops and manages its land 
and marine facilities.  

Strategy 2.1: Be an active participant in membership organizations that advocate for 
environmental legislations that may affect Port properties and for effective and 
streamlined regulations. 

Strategy 2.2: Work with local partners to identify Port participation in environmental 
enhancement projects that benefit the local environment.  

Strategy 2.3: Implement climate action policies in everyday decision making and higher-
level portfolio management and encourage tenants to implement their own climate action 
goals. 

Page 59 of 154 



7.5 MARKETING PLAN 
The following marketing goals and strategies are intended to assist the Port in pursuing 
new economic development opportunities while supporting and maintaining positive 
relationships with its current tenants. 

Goal 1: Promote the Port of Columbia County and its diverse, well-served industrial 
sites, airport, and marina to potential local, regional, state, national, and international site 
users to attract and retain target industries through a marketing plan. 

Strategy 1.1: Focus marketing for economic growth that would support family-wage jobs.   

Strategy 1.2: Leverage the district’s locational advantage along the Columbia River to 
focus marketing on tourism and recreational opportunities at the Scappoose Bay Marine 
Park and Bayport RV Park.   

Goal 2: Develop plans for targeted economic growth and long-term financial 
sustainability.  

Strategy 2.1: Target industries identified in the market analysis that support strong 
employment sectors that have a propensity to locate in the region.  

Strategy 2.2: Continue to market the Scappoose Airport regionally and nationally. 

Goal 3: Ensure that Port implements Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) strategies 
and support tenants in implementing their own inclusive goals.  

Strategy 3.1: Lead by example: seek diversity and equitable outcomes to provide 
inclusive opportunities for all district constituents and employees of the Port. 

Strategy 3.2: Encourage Port tenants to practice DEI through development and lease 
agreement provisions that are mutually agreed and consistent with current law.  

8.0 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Through Port commission meetings and the engagement process with Port staff, the Port 
has identified three strategic priorities that they will be pursuing in the future. The Port 
Commission is primarily focused on increasing available industrial land throughout the 
Port district and increasing development opportunities at Port Westward. The Port’s top 
three strategic priorities for the future include: 

• Invest in development and modernization of existing properties; 
• Development of projects at Port Westward; and 
• Purchase additional industrial property throughout the Port district. 

9.0 ACTION PLAN 
Table 3 provides an action plan that identifies the top Port priority projects, a timeline, 
and planned actions. The action plan identifies a level of priority for each project from 1 
(highest priority) to 3, as well as the anticipated timeline for project implementation 

Page 60 of 154 



including short-term (1 – 5 years), mid-term (5 – 10 years), and long-term (10 + years). 
The action plan will help to guide the Port as it implements the recommendations within 
this strategic business plan. Successful completion of the planned capital, marketing, and 
maintenance projects will require ongoing review and updates. This action plan should be 
reviewed annually in conjunction with the Port’s budget annual review and may be 
updated as needed. Dates are dependent on budget and other external factors.  

Table 3. Action Plan 
Project Term Cost Est. Priority Next Steps 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Seismic Resiliency  

Short Term 
  

$50,000 1 • Port Lead with Users 
• Work with contract engineer to 

complete study 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Beaver Dock Modernization – D&E 
and permitting 

Short Term  $3,600,000 1 • Port Lead 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting 
• Seek funding 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Beaver Dock Modernization - 
Construction 

Short – 
Mid Term  

$28,000,000 1 • Port Lead 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Improve Beaver Dock Fire System 

Short Term  $750,000 1 • Port Lead 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Expand Water Intake System 

Short Term  $250,000 1 • Port Lead 
• Design and permitting 

Scappoose Airport 
Emergency Generator System 

Short Term  $324,000 1 • Port Lead with FAA 
• Order generator and install 

Scappoose Airport 
West Side Pavement Maintenance 

Short Term  $399,000 1 • Port Lead with FAA 
• Design and bid repaving 

contract 

Scappoose Airport 
Runway Rehabilitation Project 

Short Term  $5,100,000 1 • Port Lead with FAA 
• $400,000 for design 
• Bid repaving contract 
• $4,700,000 for construction 

Scappoose Airport 
Update Airport Master Plan 

Short Term  $250,000 1 • Port Lead with FAA 

Scappoose Bay Marine Park 
Marina Maintenance Dredging 
(every 7-10 years) 

Short – 
Long Term  

$2,500,000 1 • Port Lead 
• Bid for 2024 dredging contract 

Page 61 of 154 



Project Term Cost Est. Priority Next Steps 
Railroad Avenue 
DEQ Environmental Remediation 

Short – 
Long Term  

$23,000,000 1 • Port Lead with DEQ 
• Seek funding for remediation 

Columbia City Industrial Park 
Dock Operational Capacity 
Improvements 

Short Term  $2,000,000 1 • Port Lead 
• Structural assessment 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting 

Multnomah Industrial Park 
Port Maintenance Shop  

Short Term  TBD 2 • Port Lead 
• Construct new shop building 

Port Westward Industrial Park 
Complete Hermo Road Access 

Short Term  TBD 2 • County Lead with Users 
• Design and permitting 
 
 

Columbia City Industrial Park 
Port Headquarters Office Expansion 

Short Term  $1,000,000 2 • Port Lead 
• Contract for construction 

McNulty Industrial Park 
82,000 SF Speculative Industrial 
Building 

Short Term  $8,700,000 2 • Port Lead 
• $500,000 for site improvements 
• $8,200,000 for construction 

Scappoose Airport 
East Side Hangar Demolition & 
Replacement (E10 and E5) 

Short Term  $850,000 2 • Port Lead 
• $100,000 for demo of eastside 

hangars 
• $750,000 for design, permit, 

and construction of new 
hangars 

Scappoose Airport 
East Side Waterline Extension 

Short Term  $450,000 2 • Port Lead with County 
• Coordinate with County on 

access to eastside waterline 

Scappoose Bay Marine Park 
Upland Marina Improvements 

Short Term  $900,000 2 • Port Lead 
• Bid for construction contract 

Scappoose Bay Marine Park 
In-Water Marina Improvements  

Short – 
Mid Term 

$5,000,000 2 • Port Lead  
• Seek funding for construction 

Clatskanie Business Center 
Sell/Demo Building 

Short – 
Mid Term 

$1,000,000 2 • Port Lead 

Columbia City Industrial Park 
South Rail Spur Track Replacement 
and Drainage Improvements 

Short Term  $1,000,000 3 • Port Lead 
• Complete site assessment 
• Design, engineering, and 

permitting 

Multnomah Industrial Park 
DEQ Environmental Remediation 

Short – 
Long Term  

TBD 3 • Port Lead with DEQ 
• Seek funding for remediation 

Page 62 of 154 



Project Term Cost Est. Priority Next Steps 

Columbia City Industrial Park 
Site Development / Building 
Demolition 

Mid Term  TBD 3 • Port Lead 
• Site assessment 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting for site 
redevelopment 

• $75,000 for building demo 
 

Multnomah Industrial Park 
Park Expansion 

Mid Term  $1,000,000 3 • Port Lead 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting for site 
redevelopment 

Railroad Avenue 
Northern Site Access Road 

Mid Term  $70,000 3 • Port Lead with City of St. Helens 
• Complete access feasibility 

study 
Port Westward Industrial Park 
Beaver Dock Expansion Berth 3 

Mid Term TBD 3 • Port Lead 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting  
Scappoose Bay Marine Park 
Bayport RV Park Expansion 

Mid Term  $1,000,000 3 • Port Lead 
• Environmental feasibility study 

Multnomah Industrial Park 
Site Development along Old 
Portland Road 

Long Term  TBD 3 • Port Lead 
• Site assessment 
• Design, engineering and 

permitting for site 
redevelopment / utilities 

 
  

Page 63 of 154 



10.0 LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
AAGR  Average Annual Population Growth Rate 
BMP  Best Management Practice 
CIP  Capital Improvement Plan 
County  Columbia County 
CPI  Consumer Price Index 
DEQ  Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
DLCD  Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development 
DOGAMI Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries 
DSCR  Debt Service Coverage Ratio 
EOA  Economic Opportunities Analysis 
FAA  Federal Aviation Administration 
FP  Financial Policies 
GDP  Gross Domestic Product 
IFA  Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority 
OAR  Oregon Administrative Rules 
OED  Oregon Employment Department 
ODAV  Oregon Department of Aviation 
ODFW  Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 
ODOT  Oregon Department of Transportation 
ORS  Oregon Revised Statutes 
OMIC  Oregon Manufacturing Innovation Center 
OPRD  Oregon Parks and Recreation Department 
OSMB  Oregon State Marine Board 
MPO  Metropolitan Planning Organization 
MSA  Metropolitan Statistical Area 
mt  Metric Ton 
NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
plan, the 2024 Strategic Business Plan 
Port  Port of Columbia County 
PUD  Public Utility District 
PWR  Portland & Western Railroad 
PGE  Portland General Electric 
SDAO  Special District Association of Oregon 
SWOT  Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats Analysis 
TSP  Transportation System Plan 
UGB  Urban Growth Boundary 
USACE  US Army Corps of Engineers 
USDOT United States Department of Transportation 
WRD  Oregon Water Resources 
 

 

 

Page 64 of 154 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 2024 
STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

APPENDIX A 
Commissioner, Stakeholder, and Public Outreach Summary

Page 65 of 154 



Port of Columbia County 
Strategic Business Plan (SBP) Update Kickoff Meeting and  

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT) Analysis 
August 9, 2023 

MEETING OVERVIEW 
As part of the kickoff meeting for the Port’s strategic business planning update process, the project 

team from WSP USA (WSP), FCS Group, and Lower Columbia Engineering, met with Port of 

Columbia County (Port) staff to discuss Port accomplishments, followed by a public meeting with 

Port Commissioners and staff to facilitate a SWOT analysis. Commission members, staff, and 

consultant attendees are listed below, followed by a summary of the SWOT analysis. 

Port of Columbia County Commissioners 

Robert Keyser, Commissioner 

Brian Fawcett, Commissioner 

Nancy Ward, Commissioner (virtual) 

Nick Sorber, Commissioner 

Chip Bubl, Commissioner 

State of Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority 

Becky Bryant, Regional Project Manager 

Port of Columbia County Staff 
Sean Clark, Executive Director 

Gina Sisco, Communications and External Affairs Manager 

Amy Bynum, Deputy Executive Director 

Elliot Levin, North County Operations and Terminal Manager 

Guy Glenn, Executive Finance Manager 

Bob Salisbury, Port General Counsel 

Miriam House, Operations Manager 

Lacey Tolles, Data Resources and Project Specialist 

Consultants 
Scott Keillor, WSP, Project Manager 

Emma Johnson, WSP 

Jodi Mescher, WSP 

Sean McElroy, WSP (virtual) 

Doug De Vries, WSP (virtual) 

Mary Soltani, WSP (virtual) 

Chase Berg, Lower Columbia Engineering 

Tim Wood, FCS GROUP (virtual) 

Page 66 of 154 



PORT ACCOMPLISHMENTS 2012 – 2023 
Sean Clark, Executive Director, reviewed the Port’s accomplishment since the Port adopted its 

Strategic Business Plan (SBP) in 2012.  The 2012 SBP created a list of priority projects at a 2012 

value of $25 million. Priority projects were identified based on public input, infrastructure 

investments, and market conditions at the time. The Port has eclipsed its current Capital 

Improvement Plan (CIP) target, completing $40 million in capital projects in the district since the 

original SBP of 2012 identified $25 million in Port investment needs.  

 

Scott Keillor asked Port staff what a successful SBP would look like. Staff agreed that activating 

assets, increasing profits, and analyzing how each real estate component is operating sustainably 

is important for success. Additionally, diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) is important to 

guide future work with broad input from key stakeholders and strategic partners. Staff shared 

that the Port Commissioners compiled a preliminary list of priority projects, including 

maintenance of the dock at Port Westward along with development plans for industrial park sites 

and buildings, and exploring how to make the marina and airport more profitable or break even. 

 

Staff commented that measures of success for the SBP update include: 

 

• Create a road map of maintenance, development, and acquisition priorities for the next 5 

to 10 years  

• Identify future grant funding opportunities 

• Accomplish the projects listed as priorities in the SBP 

• Integrate with other local planning efforts 

• Include DEI and climate priorities  

• Increase the Port’s understanding of its assets and how to maximize growth potential 

• Review, update, and refer to SBP periodically to effectively implement SBP policies 

• View priority projects with an understanding and lens of staff and resource limitations to 

scale appropriate projects 

• Written in plain and accessible language so that future generations can understand the 

intent and meaning 

  

Page 67 of 154 



SWOT ANALYSIS 

Strengths 
Strengths are considered assets that the Port can build upon. All agreed that the Port of Columbia 

County is well positioned to capitalize on its strengths and has high potential for growth. The Port 

has a diverse portfolio of facilities that increases potential for commerce. Port facilities, especially 

the Scappoose Airport, industrial parks, and Port Westward, contribute greatly to the Port’s overall 

assets. Additionally, the Scappoose Bay Marina contributes to the local economy by bringing people 

into the community for tourism and recreation. The Port district is land-rich and has a deep-water 

port available to sustain commerce along the Columbia River. Port Commissioners noted that the 

Port staff are a critical asset to the Port’s resources. Staff and Commission have established strategic 

partnerships and become involved with associations to strengthen regional collaboration and ensure 

that Port planning is in alignment with local city and regional policies. The Port benefits from 

maritime commerce on the Columbia River which offers competitive access to the Pacific Rim and 

global markets. Additionally, the Port is well positioned to contribute to Portland-area markets 

through access to Highway 30 connecting to I-5, and the barge-to-rail connection. In addition to the 

Port’s assets and locational strengths, the Commission recognized the importance of community 

resources, including a high quality of life, proximity to Portland metro area without urban 

congestion, and the contributions of the Oregon Manufacturing Innovation Center (OMIC) and 

Portland Community College OMIC Training Center to strengthen the local workforce.   

Weaknesses 
Weaknesses can be seen as areas to target for improvements by the Port and other regional partners. 

While the Port benefits from a diverse portfolio, it also struggles with the diversity as resources are 

pulled in different directions. The unique layout of a 50-mile-long district creates challenges for 

cohesion within the district, which is often referred to as either north or south county. Port staff is 

limited on time and resources and must understand city level policies across the five communities 

within the district. Additionally, the Port’s office has limited space which creates challenges for 

productivity and occasionally limits opportunities for public engagement and business development. 

The overall business environment in Oregon is a noted weakness because permitting, regulations, 

taxes, and bureaucracy create barriers for business and industrial tenants. The Commission noted that 

technology adaptation and data organization has been slow to be incorporated in the district. While 

locational advantages to different markets exist, compared to their competition, the Port has a 

somewhat limited or underdeveloped access to I-5, the river, and rail. For example, the district is 

further down river than other competitive markets which may limit barge growth potential. The 

Commission also agreed that there are several aspects of the community that create barriers to growth 

for the Port. There is a lack of resources to support the workforce, including workforce and 

affordable housing, temporary housing, childcare options and sufficient school support, and public 

transportation.  

Opportunities 
Opportunities are favorable conditions or possibilities that can be invested in to grow business at the 

Port of Columbia County and its community. Despite current challenges and future threats, the Port 

sees a variety of opportunities to improve economic development for the district. The Port sees 

Page 68 of 154 



several opportunities to improve or expand existing facilities, notably the shovel-ready property at 

McNulty Creek Industrial Park, the available corporate airport hangars, and expansion opportunities 

of the Bayport RV Park and at the Multnomah Industrial Park. The Port also understands there is 

available industrial land outside the existing portfolio which could serve future business 

opportunities. The Port should have continuous capital improvement prioritization, and the SBP 

should help to create the roadmap for prioritization. The Port has an opportunity to develop existing 

facilities by improving site-specific plans to have more influence on the variety of businesses in the 

district. Port staff and Commission both identified areas for improvements for business activity, 

value added agriculture industry, increasing in-house technology automation, and leveraging the 

Scappoose Airport’s reputation within the airport community. Other areas with improvement 

potential include broadband fiber optics and cellular data. Also noted as a strength, OMIC serves as 

an important community resource for training and supporting the local workforce.  

Threats 
Threats can be internal or external negative forces that the Port may or may not be able to control that 

could create future barriers to business activity. The Commission noted that some of the Port’s 

facilities are faced with aging infrastructure, especially existing docks. There are also rising security 

concerns at Port facilities. While the Port benefits from locational factors, these strengths are shared 

by the competition, particularly the Ports of Kalama, Longview, and Astoria. The business 

environment poses a threat to the Port as they must deal with supply-chain issues and inflation. 

Additionally, data management and cyber security pose a threat to Port operations. Commissioners 

noted that the Port is not immune to the impacts of climate change, unstable resources, and overall 

fragile finances within the community.   

Page 69 of 154 



SWOT Analysis Matrix 
The following table provides an overview of the Port of Columbia County SWOT analysis.  

 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Port Facilities 

• Diverse portfolio of facilities increases potential 
for commerce 

• The Scappoose Bay Marina and RV park bring in 
tourism 

• Scappoose Airport 

• Industrial Parks 

• Port Westward deep-water terminal 

• Affordable and clean power availability  

• Land-rich district 

• Available docks to serve barges at Columbia City 
Industrial Park 

Port Facilities 

• Diverse portfolio pulls resources in different directions 

• Ability to address varied needs of its 50-mile-long, five 
city district 

• Clatskanie Business Park is outdated and in need of 
maintenance 

Business Resources 

• Port staff 

• Strategic partnerships and associations 

• Port planning is in alignment with local city and 
regional economic development policies 
 

Business Resources 

• Limited staff time and resources 

• Limited Port office space 

• Technology adaptation and data organization 

• Business environment in Oregon 

 

Access 

• Maritime commerce on the Columbia River 

• Pacific Rim and global markets 

• Close proximity to I-5 for part of the Port district 

• Barge-to-rail connection 

• Access to Portland area without added urban 
congestion allows quicker transport 
 

Access 

• Limited access to I-5 and rail relative to competition 

• I-5 to rail connection is limited 

• The district is located further down river from deep-
water ports 

Community Resources 

• High quality of life in Columbia County 

• OMIC and PCC to strengthen the workforce 

• Regional grant funding received to continue 
housing work 

Community Resources 

• Underfunded and outdated public schools 

• Community opposition to rail  

• Lack of public transportation 

• Lack of workforce and affordable housing 

• Lack of childcare options to support workforce 

• Lack of temporary housing for construction projects 

• Community opposition to growth 

• Gaps in leisure and entertainment for business 
prospects 

 

  

Page 70 of 154 



Opportunities Threats 

Port Facilities 

• Available airport hangars 

• Create road access from Railroad Avenue no 
further action property to adjacent City of St. 
Helens property  

• Shovel-ready property at McNulty Creek 
Industrial Park 

• Opportunity to expand Scappoose Bay Marina 
and Bayport RV Park 

• Site-specific planning 

• Railroad Corridor industrial land 

• Expansion of Multnomah Industrial Park 

• Building speculative buildings 

• Available industrial land outside Port’s portfolio 
(e.g., Columbia Commerce Center) 

• Suitable agricultural land 

• Port Westward and NEXT Renewable Fuels 
project development 
 

Port Facilities 

• Aging infrastructure, especially existing docks 

• Increased security concerns at Port facilities 

• Building speculative buildings without a tenant 
identified 

• Airport maintenance costs 

• Marina maintenance and dredging costs 

Business Resources 

• Strong fixed base operator (FBO) reputation 
within the airport community 

• Technology automation to relieve staff time and 
resources 

• Increased Staff and Commission retreats to 
coordinate training and advance work efforts 

• State and Federal infrastructure funds available 

• Possibility of levying a tax in the future if needed 
 

Business Resources 

• Competition with nearby Ports, especially Kalama, 
Longview, and Astoria 

• Inflation  

• Supply-chain issues limit business activity 

• Data management and cyber-security threats to Port 
operations 

 

Community Resources 

• Expand broadband for community access 

• Maintaining the quality of life is important to the 
community 

• Room for improvements with fiber optics and 
cellular data access  
 

Community Resources 

• Climate change 

• Fragile finances 

  

Page 71 of 154 



NEXT STEPS 
The consultant team conducted several stakeholder interviews following the SWOT session and set 

up several future interviews via phone and teams. In total, the team will complete a series of 8 

stakeholder interviews with individuals identified by the Port. The findings from those interviews 

will be summarized in a composite summary and included in the community outreach report as an 

appendix to the SBP.  

 

The consultant team will assemble a request for the Port to provide background data to help inform 

the strategic business plan update. The Port will schedule and host a site tour of Port facilities 

including a WSP engineer. In addition, our economists will undertake a market assessment. 

The resulting facilities and market assessments, along with the stakeholder interview summary will 

form the basis for the first two public open houses to be scheduled in October 2023 in both north and 

south county locations to engage with the community and identify key issues to consider for the SBP 

update. A Port Commission briefing will occur after the open houses, to include the same 

information plus a summary of public input gathered at the open houses. 

 

Page 72 of 154 



Memorandum 
 

Date: September 27, 2023 

Subject: Port of Columbia County Strategic Business Plan Update 

Stakeholder Interviews Summary 

Project Number 316000674 

From: Scott Keillor, Project Manager 

Jodi Mescher, Planner 

 

To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 

 

 

The Port of Columbia County (Port) is initiating its 2023 Strategic Business Plan (SBP) update. 

This plan will meet the requirements for port planning under Oregon’s statewide port plan, 

including key sections on management, capital facilities, finance, environment, and marketing. 

The study will consider Port operations, projects, and policies. SBPs must be updated every five 

years and fully revised every ten years for ports to remain eligible for state port planning and 

marketing funds.  

To solicit input on the SBP update, WSP conducted eight stakeholder interviews in early August 

2023 coinciding with the project kick-off. Interviews were conducted as informal conversations 

intended to understand individual and organizational perspectives. At the beginning of each 

interview, stakeholders were provided with a brief introduction, including general background 

information about the SBP update. Following the introduction, discussion topics generally 

covered the following. 

• The Port and its partners 

• The Port’s primary mission 

• Port District and Columbia County’s greatest assets 

• Port District and Columbia County’s greatest weaknesses 

• Opportunities for investments 

• Key industries to focus on marketing 

• Port operations 

• Development opportunities at existing facilities 

• Strategic priorities  

 

The following is a summary of the input received, organized around the topics identified above. 

Candid responses were encouraged, and comments are not attributed to specific individuals to 

provide a level of anonymity. A list of stakeholders interviewed is included at the end of the 

summary. 

Page 73 of 154 



The Port and its partners 
The stakeholders interviewed had a wide variety of backgrounds and perspectives regarding the 

Port, Columbia County, and the economy at large. Several of the stakeholders represent local and 

regional public agencies with working relationships with the Port, and others have either had 

business operations at the Port previously or are currently business partners of the Port in other 

industries. Several stakeholders commented on the overall importance of the Port to the regional 

economy. 

The Port’s mission 
Stakeholders agreed that the Port’s primary mission and role is to serve as a regional economic 

development agency. The Port should primarily be involved in supporting existing businesses 

and bringing in new businesses to the Port district that support the economy and create jobs for 

the local workforce. Stakeholders generally expressed that the Port is currently on track for 

fulfilling its mission for economic development.  

 

There was an apparent point of disagreement between stakeholders regarding the level of 

responsibility the Port has for considering diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) and climate 

action initiatives in the district. Some stakeholders commented that the Port should be 

responsible for DEI, adding that the Port has a role in the community as well as in the economic 

environment. Additionally, these stakeholders commented that the Port should be pro-active with 

climate initiatives and should focus on supporting sustainable industries. A few stakeholders also 

commented that DEI and climate initiatives could help position the Port for future grant funding. 

On the contrary, some stakeholders shared that both DEI and climate action initiatives are 

outside of the Port’s scope. The Port should not be selective about businesses they target because 

that is counterintuitive to the business-friendly and free market climate the Port should strive for. 

One stakeholder even expressed concern that, while the current direction is on track for 

economic development, increasing public pressure to consider climate initiatives could detract 

from business opportunity in the future. Another stakeholder commented that the Port has been 

successful in meeting DEI and climate priorities required for state and federal funding, but they 

shouldn’t be prioritizing these initiatives beyond the current baseline.   

Port District and Columbia County’s greatest assets 
Key assets were commonly identified through interviews with the stakeholders. Foremost among 

these was the quality of life in Columbia County. Stakeholders agreed that Columbia County 

offers a high quality of life and access to services without the added congestion of more 

populous urban centers. Additionally, the natural capital in the area is an important asset to the 

county. Stakeholders identified that the Oregon Manufacturing Innovation Center (OMIC) is 

valuable to the district to support the local workforce and provide training opportunities. A few 

stakeholders mentioned that the district benefits from a business-friendly environment in the 

County. The Port can leverage this supportive business environment to bring in new tenants and 

support existing tenants.  

 

Page 74 of 154 



Stakeholders also agreed that an important asset to the district and county is its many locational 

advantages. Columbia County benefits from its proximity to I-5, the Columbia River, and easy 

access to global markets. The Port district is along the supply chain route and has heavy freight 

travel, especially along Hwy 30, which is an economic driver for the area. The Port has been 

successful in diversifying their portfolio and the existing Port facilities are important assets. 

Additional assets to support economic development include relatively cheap industrial land in 

Columbia County as well as access to energy resources to support industry.   

Port District and Columbia County’s greatest weaknesses 
Stakeholders identified several missing goods and services in the district that limit development 

potential in the region. Most stakeholders discussed weaknesses that they saw across the county 

in general rather than specific to the Port’s existing policies or facilities. However, one notable 

weakness within the Port District is the ability for tenants to find appropriate facilities. One 

stakeholder suggested that the Port should improve their support of existing tenants to encourage 

growth and potential movement into larger vacant spaces.  

 

The most prominent weakness noted by nearly all stakeholders was the lack of housing in the 

county. Although not unique to the area, the lack of housing creates a barrier to community 

growth and is especially challenging for the local workforce and prospective businesses. 

Similarly, some stakeholders noted that there is a lack of hospitality and food service in the 

county, which leads to many people commuting to Portland and may deter prospective 

businesses. While some stakeholders value the rural environment and high quality of life, others 

felt that this lack of convenience and access to stores is a challenge for the economy. Some 

stakeholders shared that, although OMIC is an important asset for the area, workforce 

development opportunities are limited which creates a barrier to business growth in general.  

Most needed developments and investments  
Stakeholders interviewed were asked to comment on where the Port should invest for future 

growth, and they shared a variety of priorities for investments. Stakeholders commented that the 

Port should continue to invest in Port Westward to ensure the development potential at that 

facility is realized. Some stakeholders said that the Port should invest in important transportation 

infrastructure in the district so that freight, shipping, barges, and vehicle traffic can flow 

simultaneously. The Port is well positioned to leverage the district’s locational advantages, and 

investing in improvements to infrastructure will increase access to markets and help drive the 

local economy. One stakeholder commented that the Port should invest in a barge feeder service 

to increase short-term shipping opportunities. In addition to transportation infrastructure, some 

stakeholders said that the Port should invest in systems that create appealing opportunities and 

developments for prospective tenants. The Port should improve sewer and water systems to 

develop more shovel-ready properties. A few stakeholders said that the Port should invest in 

short-term speculative buildings to have available for tenants.  

 

 

Page 75 of 154 



A few stakeholders noted that, while Rainier is within the Port’s district, the Port does not have 

any existing facilities there. Stakeholders said that there is suitable land for industrial growth in 

Rainier that the Port should consider for future acquisition and development. Additionally, one 

stakeholder suggested adding a marine terminal with rail, road, and interstate access at Rainier.  

Key industries to focus on marketing 
Stakeholders discussed the primary industry types the Port should focus on for marketing the 

Columbia County area. Similar to the apparent tension between stakeholders in understanding 

the Port’s role and mission, there was an apparent disagreement in which industries the Port 

should focus on. A few stakeholders shared that the Port should not be “too choosy” in which 

industries they are bringing into the district because they should only be prioritizing business 

growth. Innovation that is compatible with the region should be encouraged and focusing on 

specific industries could be bad for business and the economy at-large. Some stakeholders 

commented that the Port should focus on marketing for economic growth that would support 

family-wage jobs, regardless of the actual industry. One stakeholder added that the Port should 

consider appropriately scaled industries that can continue to the district’s business environment.  

 

However, some stakeholders had specific industries in mind to focus on for marketing and future 

growth. Some said that the Port should focus their marketing efforts on manufacturing because 

manufacturing fits within the existing business climate, can make use of available land and 

resources, and would create appropriate job opportunities. One stakeholder commented that the 

Port should leverage its locational advantage along the Columbia River to focus marketing on the 

blue economy and maritime industries. A few stakeholders also suggested that the Port increase 

marketing for tourism-based industries, although one stakeholder shared that tourism and 

recreation is not a strong opportunity for the region.  

Development opportunities at existing facilities 
Stakeholders suggested various types of developments that they would like to see at the Port’s 

existing facilities. Echoing a recurring theme, some stakeholders commented that the Port should 

be open to whatever development makes sense for business at each facility while other 

stakeholders had specific developments to suggest for each facility, as summarized below.  

 

Columbia City Industrial Park: This facility is well positioned to serve maritime industries, 

although the existing dock structure needs improvements. There is also an opportunity for this 

facility to support technology training.  

 

McNulty Creek Industrial Park: The industrial park is well-positioned to support manufacturing 

developments. The Port could be more proactive about finding a tenant to fill the available space.  

 

Multnomah Industrial Park: Stakeholders did not comment on specific types of development.  

 

Port Westward Industrial Park: NEXT Renewable Fuels is an important development for the 

region; as that development is realized, this facility would serve as an energy hub. There is also 

Page 76 of 154 



land available to support big industrial manufacturing (i.e., 200 to 400 jobs) in addition to NEXT 

Renewable Fuels.  

 

Railroad Corridor: The Port should invest in site clean-up requirements to position the facility for 

marina and boat launch developments. Potential for recreational and tourism industries. 

Available acreage could be developed by advanced manufacturing or maintained for natural 

resources. 

 

Clatskanie Business Center: There is an opportunity to revamp the existing facility to make the 

building more useful. It could serve as a business incubator for the local market, and has 

potential to support agriculture technology. However, some felt the building condition makes 

investing in it questionable. 

 

Scappoose Airport: The Port should continue to make use of the airport and create strategic 

private-public partnerships to stimulate available hangar space. One stakeholder suggested 

exploring aerospace textiles as a potential development at the airport.  

Port operations and policies 
Stakeholders offered suggestions for Port operation and policy directives. A few stakeholders 

suggested that the Port reestablish the tax base, noting that there would be negligible impacts to 

the public and it would allow for investments. One stakeholder added that the Port should 

increase outreach efforts within the community, especially with the business community, to build 

awareness of the Port’s work. A stakeholder suggested considering expanding the Port’s 

boundaries to include the Vernonia Municipal Airport. A stakeholder commented that there 

appears to be a lack of urgency by the Port to develop available properties and facilities. Another 

stakeholder commented that staff consistency has been a challenge for Port operations and 

suggested that the Port would benefit from having more direction and a clear consensus around 

top priorities.  

 

Stakeholders also commented on the importance of continuing partnerships with other agencies, 

organizations, and business leaders. Stakeholders recognized the challenge of doing business in 

Oregon and suggested that the Port can improve its internal processes to remove permitting and 

bureaucratic burdens which are often time-consuming. One stakeholder suggested bringing on an 

outside permitting specialist to support staff and improve operations. Additionally, one 

stakeholder suggested bringing on an engineer to assess Port buildings to ensure they are 

adequate to support the tenants’ needs.   

Strategic priorities 
Stakeholders identified their top three strategic projects and initiatives for the Port to consider. 

Stakeholders identified a variety of initiatives and almost no stakeholders agreed on their top 

three priorities. Strategic priorities include: 

 

Page 77 of 154 



• Focus on the developable land pipeline by finding tenants to lease available properties,

developing available Port-owned land into shovel-ready properties, and identifying new

land to acquire for future shovel-ready developments.

• Continue to work towards development of NEXT Renewable Fuels.

• Invest in transportation improvements to improve access to markets.

• Invest in maritime infrastructure.

• Work with local partners to encourage housing and workforce development initiatives in

the county. Additionally, work with local partners to incentivize hotels, entertainment,

and other community amenities.

• Leverage existing facilities by developing a speculative building at McNulty Creek

Industrial Park, developing a covered space for flexible industrial opportunities, and

expanding on airport development potential.

• Fulfill Through-the-Fence Access agreement at the Scappoose Airport and fill vacant

hangar space.

• Diversify the Port’s portfolio by investing in the hydrogen economy, investing in the tech

sector, and leveraging available natural resources for tech (i.e., rock, water), marketing

for new industrial jobs, and purchasing maritime industrial property in Rainier.

• Engage with businesses and the regional community to increase awareness of the Port’s

scope of work and to build public support for necessary financial investments and

reinstating the tax base.

Stakeholders interviewed 
Individuals who participated in the stakeholder interviews are identified below. Stakeholder 

affiliation is also noted; however, the opinions given were those of the individual stakeholder 

and do not necessarily represent the organizations identified.  

Rachael Barry (Government Affairs Specialist, City of St. Helens) 

Casey Garrett (County Commissioner, Columbia County) 

Greg Hinkleman (City Manager, City of Clatskanie) 

Scott Jorgensen (City Administrator, City of Rainier) 

Kim Karber (Interim City Administrator, City of Columbia City) 

Paul Langner (former Marine Facilities Manager, Teevin Bros.) 

Melanie Olson (Regional Development Officer, Business Oregon) 

Paul Vogel (Executive Director, Columbia Economic Team) 

JM:sk 

Page 78 of 154 



Memorandum 

Date: October 27, 2023 

Subject: Open House – Series #1 Summary 

From: Jodi Mescher, WSP 

To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 

OVERVIEW 
The Port of Columbia County (Port), along with the consultant team, hosted two open houses on 

October 18, 2023, to gather community input on existing conditions in the Port district to guide 

the Strategic Business Plan (Plan) update. Open houses were hosted in Rainier and St. Helens to 

reach community members in both north and south county.  

The project team engaged with approximately 10 participants at the north county event and 10 

participants at the south county event. Most participants represented jurisdictions and businesses 

in the Port district.  

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
A flyer announcing the events was posted on the Port website and social media platforms and a 

notice was included in the local newspapers. Port staff shared the announcement directly with 

jurisdictions within Columbia County, local chambers of commerce, and sent email invitations to 

Port tenants and community partners. 

An online survey was posted to solicit community input concurrently with the open house. The 

survey asked participants to identify the Port district’s greatest assets, indicate the Port’s role in 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion and climate action initiatives, identify industry sectors to focus 

marketing, and to identify strategic priorities. The survey was open October 2  through October 

31. The survey had just over 100 unique responses which were summarized in a memo at the end 
of the open survey window.

CONTENT PRESENTED 
As participants joined the open house, they were provided with a brief handout that explained the 

purpose of the Plan update as well as the existing Port vision and mission statement. The open 

house included stations to welcome participants and share key findings about the existing 

conditions within the Port district.  

The first station shared key findings from the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats 

(SWOT) analysis and stakeholder interviews. The project team engaged with participants to 

Page 79 of 154 



discuss the key findings and ensure the SWOT analysis accurately represents community needs. 

The second station shared key findings from the facilities assessment as well as the market and 

fiscal analysis. The project team engaged with participants to solicit feedback on key findings. 

SUMMARY OF FEEDBACK RECEIVED 

SWOT Analysis  
Participants generally shared that the SWOT analysis is on track and accurately represents 

existing conditions in the district. Participants felt strongly that housing is a key need in the 

district and county. Some participants added that there is a lack of short-term lodging in the 

district, adding that hotel availability is necessary to cater to prospective businesses. Several 

participants also agreed that the business climate in Oregon is challenging, which is not unique to 

the Port district.  

Strategic Priorities and Priority Projects 
The project team discussed strategic priorities with participants to identify community needs. 

Participants noted that job growth within the district should be a primary focus for the Port. 

Participants also said the Port should prioritize shovel-ready land needs for future development 

opportunities. Other comments included a need to focus on maritime growth and support for film 

industry opportunities. 

Some participants would like to see improvements to the local transportation system. This 

includes safety and congestion improvements along U.S. Highway 30, which could impact the 

community’s willingness to commute to and from north county for employment. Participants 

also noted that railroad crossings cause unnecessary delays for traffic, impacting residents and 

businesses. Additionally, there is notable congestion from the Lewis and Clark bridge which 

impacts commuters from Longview and therefore impacts business operations relying on 

commuters.  

Participants at the north county event expressed that the NEXT Renewable Fuels development is 

a top priority. They also commented that there are industrial land opportunities in Rainier that the 

Port should consider.  

A priority discussed at both events was a focus on leveraging Port property with private property 

at the Scappoose Airport and the through-the-fence agreements.  Participants at the south county 

event discussed how to assign airport maintenance costs across Port assets and explore 

opportunities to enhance revenue.  

One participant commented that the Port should highlight their ability to support tourism as a 

recreational landowner. Another participant discussed grant opportunities to leverage funds for 

the Scappoose Bay Marina which remains less profitable than desired by the Port, including 

Marine Board grants to fund dredging and upland improvements for ADA parking and kayak 

access.  

Page 80 of 154 



CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 
The first series of open houses described above were held from 4:00 to 5:30 PM at the Senior Center in 

Rainier, and from 6:30 to 8:00 PM at Meriwether Place in St Helens.  Participants were advised that an 

additional open house will be scheduled in late 2023 or early 2024 to review and comment on the Port’s 

draft 2024 Strategic Business Plan.  

Page 81 of 154 



Memorandum 
 
Date: November 3, 2023 
 
Subject: Online Survey Summary 
 
From: Jodi Mescher, WSP 
 Scott Keillor, WSP 
 
To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 
 
 
OVERVIEW 

An online survey was posted to solicit community input on Port assets and priorities for the 
future concurrently with the first open houses. The survey was open from October 2 through 
October 31 and received just over 100 unique responses, with responses summarized below.  

Participants were asked to identify which community they live or work in Columbia County. 
Participants were generally evenly distributed between north and south county communities. 18 
participants answered “other”; some participants shared that they live/work in all communities, 
Warren, Portland, or SW Washington.  

PORT MISSION 

Question: The Port’s mission in short is to create jobs within Columbia County. Is the Port on 
track to meeting its current mission statement? 

Yes 44% 
No 56% 

Many participants included additional comments to further explain their answer. Responses generally 
commented:  

• The district needs new infrastructure, grocery stores, tourism and waterfront parks 
• Port should focus on bringing more industry the supports new jobs for residents 
• Port’s mission should expand metrics to consider connecting people and products 
• Port should not support NEXT Renewable Fuels because it has a high cost to the community and 

the environment  
• I don’t know if the Port is on track to meeting its mission 

  

Page 82 of 154 



PORT ASSESTS 

Question: What do you feel are the Port district’s greatest assets for retaining and attracting 
businesses?  

 

Participants that answered “other” generally commented that the greatest assets to the district are 
the diverse land availability, agricultural land, access to water, and the rural character and high 
quality of life the area offers.  

DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION 

Question: Do you find that Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) initiatives are within the 
Port’s responsibilities? 

 

8%

23%

23%

2%

10%

11%

8%

15%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

Other

Quality of life

Proximity to Hwy 30, I-5, and other transportation
corridors

Interaction with firms in the same and/or related industries

Available, skilled workforce

General business climate

Adequate public infrastructure

Access to local markets and customers

15%

6%

25%

21%

33%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Strongly Disagree

Somewhat Disagree

Neutral

Somewhat Agree

Strongly Agree

Page 83 of 154 



CLIMATE ACTION 

Question: Do you find that climate action initiatives are within the Port's responsibilities?

MARKETING PRIORITIES 

Question: Please select the industry types the Port should focus marketing Columbia County to 
potential employers. 

Participants that responded “other” commented that the Port should focus marketing for 
education, environmentally focused business, responsible forestry, food security, fishing, and 
medical industries. 

9%

7%

11%

27%

47%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Strongly Disagree

Somewhat Disagree

Neutral

Somewhat Agree

Strongly Agree

5%

16%

11%

12%

7%

9%

8%

14%

18%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Other

Tourism/Recreation

Renewable Energy

Maritime

Semi-Conductor Supply Chain

Forestry & Value-Added Timber Products

Aviation

Advanced Manufacturing

Value Added Agriculture, Food Systems, & Food Processing

Page 84 of 154 



STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

Question: Please suggest three strategic priorities for the Port to consider. 

In general, participants that answered “other” commented: 
• Food production and supporting local food systems
• Direct funding to Clatskanie infrastructure
• Expand agriculture
• Expand recreation by developing river-front parks with trail access
• Don’t support NEXT
• Protect natural resources and high quality of life

8%

8%

8%

10%

12%

8%

6%

5%

1%

7%

3%

15%

8%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Other

Invest in existing and new developable industrial land

Development of NEXT Renewable Fuels at Port Westward

Invest in maritime infrastructure

Work with local partners to encourage placemaking
through housing, childcare, and workforce development…

Leverage existing industrial parks through speculative
building development

Fill vacant hangar space at the Scappoose Airport

Diversify the Port’s portfolio

Purchase additional industrial property throughout the
Port district

Partner with businesses and the regional community to
build support for industrial investments

Re-impose the Port’s annual property tax levy 

Grow recreation opportunities in Columbia County within
the Port District

Develop climate action initiatives

Page 85 of 154 



Memorandum 
Date: December 6, 2023 

Subject: Open House #2 Summary 

From: Jodi Mescher, WSP 
Scott Keillor, WSP 

To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 

OVERVIEW 
The Port of Columbia County (Port), along with the consultant team, hosted a third open house 
on December 6, 2023, to review key elements of the draft Strategic Business Plan (SBP) update 
and solicit community input on the draft goals and strategics. The project team engaged with 
approximately 25 participants at the event. Most participants represented tenants and businesses 
in the Port district.  

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
A flyer announcing the event was posted on the Port website and was included in the local 
newspaper. Port staff shared the announcement directly with location jurisdictions within 
Columbia County as well as with Port tenants. Additionally, Port staff shared the event directly 
with marina and airport users.  

CONTENT PRESENTED 
Sean welcomed participants and introduced the project team including Port representatives. Scott 
provided a presentation to review the draft mission and vision update, draft plan components, 
draft plan elements (i.e., management plan, finance plan, environmental plan, marketing plan, 
and capital improvement plan), and priority projects. The project team shared that the draft plan 
is in progress and is not ready for public review yet. In particular, the team is working to provide 
cost estimates and general timelines 
for the projects included in the 
capital improvement plan.  

Following the presentation, the 
project team facilitated a 
conversation to hear community 
questions and concerns, and to 
solicit feedback on the draft plan 
elements.  

Page 86 of 154 



Summary: Strategic Business Plan Update – Open House #2 
Page 2 

SUMMARY OF FEEDBACK RECEIVED 
Consistent with previous engagement events, community members expressed that livability is a key 
priority for existing businesses and for attracting new business to the district. Community members 
suggested increased recreation opportunities in north county.  

Community members discussed the need to prioritize projects to balance cost with reasonable 
deliverables. Additionally, some community members asked how the Port can address elements outside of 
the Port’s control. Strategic partnerships were discussed, including partnerships to ensure adequate power 
is available to the district, as well as strengthening partnerships with local jurisdictions.  

A few participants discussed the need to address environmental constraints in the district to support 
prospective tenants. Some suggestions included wetland mitigation banking, addressing FEMA biological 
opinion impacts, and levee certification: all to streamline development permitting wherever feasible.  

Community members engaged in a discussion about improvements needed at the Scappoose Bay Marina. 
The Port noted that sewer access and environmental permits pose a challenge to completion of Phase 2 
improvements for the RV Park. Attendees largely expressed that there is a need to increase parking at the 
marina and improve water access for river users. A few participants suggested designing separate kayak 
and boat access points because the difference in the skill and experience levels pose a safety hazard to 
river users.   

Some community members talked about capital improvement needs in the district. One community 
member commented that there needs to be more speculative buildings available for prospective tenants. 
Another community member commented that the Port should invest in new maritime facilities to increase 
cargo access.  

In addition to capital and facility improvements, community members provided input on the draft 
management plan. In general, participants expressed that they Port could increase community engagement 
to solicit more feedback on the draft plan. Attendees suggested district-wide mailings, emailing tenants, 
and sending notice to cities. They also expressed that a second survey is warranted after the draft plan is 
released to allow the community to provide direct input on the plan elements. 

CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 
Participants were advised that a Port Commission meeting will be held in early 2024 to review the draft 
plan. The plan will be available online prior to the meeting for the public to review along with an online 
survey to solicit feedback on the draft elements. Project staff encouraged participants to provide their 
email address so the Port can inform them when the draft plan is available online.  

Page 87 of 154 



Memorandum 
 
Date: February 16, 2024 
 
Subject: Online Survey Summary #2 
 
From: Jodi Mescher, WSP 
 Scott Keillor, WSP 
 
To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 
 
 
OVERVIEW 

An online survey was posted to solicit community input on the draft Strategic Business Plan 
(Plan), which was posted for review alongside the online survey. The survey was open from 
January 26 through February 12 and received 18 unique responses, summarized below. 
Participants were asked to identify which community they live or work in Columbia County. 
Participants were generally evenly distributed between north and south county communities. The 
majority of responses (16) said that they have lived and/or worked in Columbia County for 10 
years or more.  

PLAN ELEMENTS 

Question: For the following elements, do you feel the Plan accurately reflects the Port’s 
district-wide goals to govern the Port:  

 

Most participants agree that the Plan elements accurately represent district-wide goals. However, 
a few participants disagree and are more critical of the Capital Improvement, Environmental, and 
Marketing elements.  

35% 29% 29% 22% 29%

29% 35% 35%
28% 24%

18% 18% 18%
22%

29%
0% 6% 6%

11% 0%
18% 12% 12% 17% 18%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Capital
Improvement

Plan

Management
Plan

Financial Plan Environmental
Plan

Marketing Plan

Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

Page 88 of 154 



A few participants provided additional comments about the Plan elements, focused on:  

• Concern that the Port is supporting existing tenants that are large CO2 producers and 
harm the surrounding communities. A few participants commented that this seems to 
conflict with other sustainably focused goals.  

• The Environmental Plan and Marketing Plan should be more specific and include a focus 
on which tenants the Port is attracting. The Port should prioritize marketing for 
sustainable business.  

• Beaver Drainage Improvement Company should be included as a critical partner for Port 
Westward expansion. 

• The Port should be proactive to return the Railroad Corridor site to a productive use.  
 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

Question: The Capital Improvement Plan includes the highest priority capital projects to 
encourage economic development opportunities at each Port facility: 

 

Question: The Capital Improvement Plan realistically reflects potential funding sources for the 
highest priority capital projects:  

 

The majority of participants agree that the Capital Improvement Plan includes high priority 
projects and is realistic about funding sources. A few participants commented that the Port 
Commission should reconsider development at Port Westward because a high-polluting tenant 
would harm existing agriculture businesses. One participant commented that environmental 
cleanup at Scappoose Bay should be prioritized.  

11%

11%

11%

22%

44%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Strong Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly Agree

11%

6%

28%

33%

28%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Strong Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly Agree

Page 89 of 154 



ACTION PLAN 

Question: The Action Plan accurately includes the highest priority projects and strategies to 
implement over the next 5 – 20 years.  

 

One participant commented that the agriculture committee should be included. They also 
suggested partnering with Frog Ferry to increase tourism between Vancouver and St. Helens. 
One participant commented that the action plan should include costs associated will all elements 
of the Plan and not just focus on the Capital Improvement Plan.  
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

Key takeaways of additional comments from participants include: 

• The Port should address the rail overpass needs.  
• Improvements at the marina should be a priority, including dredging and increased 

parking. One participant suggested increasing security cameras at the existing parking lot.  
• The Plan does not adequately ensure natural resources for the next generation.  
• There should be more focus on agriculture by requiring that projects be compatible with 

surrounding agricultural land and including the Agricultural Information Committee as a 
strategic partner.  

• The Plan should include more development at Railroad Corridor, particularly cleanup of 
the abutting waterway to support tourism and upstream Scappoose Bay Marina.  

• Similar to past engagement efforts, survey participants had a range of opinions about 
focusing on development at Port Westward, with some community members in favor and 
some opposed or expressing concern. One participant commented that NEXT Renewable 
Fuels is still missing County and State permits, so the plan should not say that “The 
project awaits the approval of federal permits”.  

• One participant suggested adding a land acknowledgement.  

17%

0%

22%

28%

33%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Strong Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly Agree

Page 90 of 154 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 2024 
STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

APPENDIX B 
Facilities Condition Assessment 

Page 91 of 154 



 

Memorandum 
 
Date: January 11, 2024 

Subject: Facilities Assessment  
Port of Columbia County SBP Update 

From: Doug De Vries, PE, WSP 

To: Gina Sisco, Port of Columbia County 
 

 
 
OVERVIEW 
WSP was contracted by the Port of Columbia County (Port) to update its existing 2012 Strategic 
Business Plan (SBP), including a general assessment of the infrastructure of Port facilities. This 
included gathering and assessing available technical information such as transportation system 
plans (TSPs), utility maps, and technical reports. A visual observation of each of the Port’s nine 
major business site facilities is discussed below. Following the site visit, WSP discussed the 
existing infrastructure with the major service providers.  

A general evaluation was performed for the availability, condition, and needs of Port facilities in 
the following categories: Public Street Access, Rail Access, Marine Capabilities, Sanitary Sewer, 
Electrical Power, Potable Water, Natural Gas, Stormwater, and Buildings/Structures. A summary 
of findings in each category is included in the following sections for Port-owned facilities.  

INTRODUCTION  
The Port facilities assessed below include the Columbia City Industrial Park, McNulty Creek 
Industrial Park, Milton Creek Industrial Park, Multnomah Industrial Park, Port Westward 
Industrial Park, Railroad Corridor, Scappoose Airport, Scappoose Bay Marine Park, and the 
Clatskanie Business Center. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
The table below summarizes the recommended improvements for the Port to consider. As part of 
the draft SBP, WSP will provide planning level costs for key projects, an action plan including 
key project leads and partners, general schedules, and funding sources. Port and public review of 
priorities will lead to refinement of the assessment level recommendations for the Capital 
Improvement Plan (see Table 2 of the Strategic Business Plan). 

  

Page 92 of 154 



CLATSKANIE BUSINESS CENTER 

 

Overview 
The Clatskanie Business Center is in the old Middle School building on SW Bryant Street in 
Clatskanie, Oregon. The Port owns approximately 1.53 acres of property at the business center. 
Tenants use the land for commercial, light industrial and office space. The Port is considering 
demolition of the school and repurposing the property.  

Public Access 
This facility is between SW Bryant and SW Tichenor Streets, South of SW 4th Street. It is accessed 
by turning south off U.S. Highway 30 on Bryant Street. 

Rail Access 
There is no rail access to the site. 

Marine Access 
There is no marine access from the business center. 

Sanitary Sewer 
The building is on public sanitary sewer service with the City of Clatskanie. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical service is provided by Clatskanie PUD. 

Page 93 of 154 



Communications 
Communication is provided by Spectrum. 

Water 
Water service is provided by the City of Clatskanie. 

Natural Gas 
Natural Gas is provided by NW Natural. 

Buildings and Structures 
The main building is comprised of reinforced concrete, wood framing and masonry. One of the 
rooms had a badly leaking roof which led to the recommendation of a roof repair or replacement. 
The overall building condition is poor and near the end of its service life. However, the building 
is operable and is equipped with an automatic fire suppression system.  

Page 94 of 154 



PORT WESTWARD INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 

Overview 
The Port Westward Industrial Park is a former U.S. Army ammunitions depot purchased by the 
Port in 1966. The site is located in North Columbia County approximately seven miles northeast 
of the City of Clatskanie at Columbia River mile 53. 

Port Westward consists of 1,602.29 acres, 674.51acres of which is leased to Portland General 
Electric (PGE); 43 acres leased to Cascade Kelly Holdings, LLC (aka Columbia Pacific Bio-
Refinery (CPBR) or Global Partners); 90 acres leased to NEXT Renewable Fuels; 3.2 acres to the 
Clatskanie PUD, 211 acres leased to Warren and Caryn Seely; and 243 acres to Columbia River 
Ranch.   

Portland General Electric (PGE) leases the property for their Beaver Power Generation Plant and 
Port Westward 1 and 2 Generating Plants. The Beaver Plant is a 500-megawatt combined-cycle 
natural gas plant and one 24.8-megawatt steam turbine. The Port Westward Generating Plants 
facility is a 650-megawatt natural gas-fired electric generating plant consisting of two units. Unit 
1 is a base-load power plant consisting of a combustion turbine generator, one heat recovery steam 
generator, and one steam turbine. Unit 1 began commercial operation in June 2007. Unit 2 is a 
non-base-load power plant consisting of 12 reciprocating internal combustion engines. Unit 2 
began commercial operation in December 2014. 

Global Partners (Columbia Pacific Bio-Refinery) currently transloads renewable diesel received 
by rail to ships and barges utilizing the Port’s Beaver Dock. Global Partners is permitted for 
ethanol manufacturing and crude oil, ethanol, and renewable diesel transloading operations under 
separate permits. Insufficient tanks and pipelines limit operations and presents an either/or 
scenario. Current infrastructure includes two 100,000-barrel tanks, one 8” pipeline, one 14” 

Page 95 of 154 



pipeline from tanks to dock loading, and 12 rail unloading stations. NEXT Renewable Fuels is in 
the process of permitting a renewable diesel and sustainable aviation fuel manufacturing plant at 
the site. The Port also leases land to farmers primarily for mint and cattle.  

A gas pipeline was placed around 2010 where the railway right-of-way (ROW) used to be on the 
southwest side of the PGE property. There is potential to develop additional Port lands, as the Port 
works to rezone 737 acres from Primary Agriculture use (PA-80) to Resource Industrial Planned 
Development (RIPD).  
 
In the west region there is an additional 194 acres that could be used for wetland mitigation or 
agriculture use. The property was previously a poplar tree farm and the remaining trees need to be 
harvested sometime within the next 1 to 2 years. 

Public Street Access 
The primary access to the site is Kallunki Road which ties into Quincy Mayger Road that connects 
to U.S. Highway 30 west of Clatskanie. These are typical narrow county roads with an approximate 
pavement width of 24 feet. They are not built to typical standards required for large truck traffic. 
Hermo Road, a partially built gravel road, will be completed in conjunction with a future 
development to connect to Quincy Mayger Road and provide alternate access to the site. 

Rail Access 
The Port owns a rail lead that connects to the Portland & Western Railroad main line with capacity 
for unit trains. Global Partners (Columbia Pacific Bio-Refinery) is currently using the lead to 
receive unit trains of renewable diesel. There is also a spur leading the PGE’s Beaver Plant, and 
the Port’s lead will be used by NEXT Renewable Fuels once their plant is in operation. 

Marine Access 
The site has deep water access varying from 45’ to 73’ surrounding the 1,600-foot “Beaver Dock,” 
which is well beyond that of the Columbia River navigation limits. Steel concrete piles have been 
added to the wood piling to provide better structural support to the existing dock and the Port is 
planning to expand this work. Berth 1 of Beaver Dock was strengthened in 2016 to accommodate 
liquid bulk. This renovation also included an upriver extension of the dock of approximately 300 
feet. 

Berth 2’s mooring and breasting dolphin is due to be replaced.  The Port is in the process of 
assessing the dock to plan for its maintenance needs and so that the facility can better accommodate 
modern sized vessels.  

Water Discharge System 
The Port owns a water discharge system used by tenants for industrial purposes such as cooling 
and for storm water management. The system is not used to treat or dispose of sewage. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Clatskanie PUD.  

Communications 
Broadband connections are available to PGE and CPBR. 

Page 96 of 154 



Water 
The Port owns and operates a water intake system that provides tenants with water for industrial 
use. The Port has a 30 cubic feet per second (CFS) water right to extract water from the Columbia 
River. In addition, the Port has undeveloped water rights for 18 CFS from four wells. The Port 
provides untreated water for industrial use. It does not provide water for domestic use.   

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 3-060-019 
One thousand (1000) therms per hour is readily available.1  

  

1 Based on 2012 data. 

Page 97 of 154 



COLUMBIA CITY INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 

Overview 
The Columbia City Industrial Park is 93 acres and located between U.S. Highway 30 and the 
Columbia River in Columbia City. The Port administrative office is located on this site. The 
industrial park has 35 acres remaining for development. The existing tenants are Lignetics (Forest 
Energy of Oregon), Clearwater Paper Corporation, Michels Pipeline, and the Columbia City Dog 
Park, which is located across the street from the Port office. The Columbia City Industrial Park is 
located near all major modes of transportation, as described below.  

The north end of the property is available for lease and includes paved access and a rail spur.  There 
is public access through the property to the Trestle Beach Recreation Area and a public parking 
area along the river. The site has access to truck, rail, and marine transport. Site paving requires 
an upgrade for any heavy haul usage depending on the needs of a future tenant. 

Public Street Access 
U.S. Highway 30 runs along the western side of the property with highway access towards the 
north end of the site. The site is also accessible by E Street in Columbia City on the south end. 
Public access to the Trestle Beach Recreational Area at the northern end of the property runs 
through the site. This public access may need to be adapted for future industrial use of the property. 
The public access is through Pacific Street as the adjacent area is not currently being leased by 
another tenant; there could be public access conflict concerns if another tenant leases the adjacent 
area.  

Page 98 of 154 



Rail Access 
The Portland & Western Railroad mainline runs along the western side of the property between 
the site and U.S. Highway 30. Two spurs are available; one on the north end and the other on the 
south end at Lignetics. 

Marine Access 
A dock at the northern end of the property is currently used by Clearwater Paper Corp. to load 
sawdust and bark chips onto barges. This dock needs structural inspection, surface repaving to 
accommodate heavy machinery, and pile replacement. The current river depth alongside Columbia 
City Industrial Park only allows for barge traffic. The Port could consider a dredge project to 
deepen the area to accommodate a future marine dependent tenant.  

Sanitary Sewer 
An 8” gravity sewer main is available in E Street that flows to a lift station at the end of 2nd Street. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Columbia River Public Utility District (PUD). Three-phase power 
is available at the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity (Comcast) currently provides broadband & telephone service to this site. 

Water 
Water services are provided by Columbia City through a 14” main on E Street at the south end. 
Fire suppression systems, including multiple hydrants, exist on site. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-022-016 
There is a 4” Class B line in E Street, near a district regulator. One thousand (1,000) therms per 
hour are readily available. 

Stormwater  
Columbia City does not have a municipal storm water system. There are several catch basins that 
are likely to connect to underground infiltration trenches or drywells. 

Buildings and Structures 
This facility includes several miscellaneous buildings of various construction types and two docks 
that are supported by wood piling. It is recommended that the docks be structurally evaluated. 

 

Page 99 of 154 



MILTON CREEK INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 

Overview 
Milton Creek Industrial Park is located along Port Avenue and Milton Way in St. Helens. The Port 
owns approximately 16 acres of property at the industrial park. The industrial park is mostly 
developed and the buildings are 100 percent occupied. The industrial park’s primary tenant is 
RainShadow Labs. A buildable lot is available on the east side of RainShadow Labs, but the 
property needs partitioning. 

Public Street Access  
Milton Way runs along the western side of the park, paralleling U.S. Highway 30. Milton Way 
turns into Port Avenue at the southern end. Port Avenue then runs into Old Portland Road to the 
east. Both Milton Way and Port Avenue are classified as Collector Streets in the City of St. Helens 
TSP. 

Rail Access 
The Portland & Western Railroad mainline runs along the western side of the property between the 
site and U.S. Highway 30. A spur parallels the mainline running almost the entire length of the site 
that turns east, paralleling Port Avenue. This spur continues to the Railroad Corridor. 

Marine Access 
There is no marine access at this location. 

Page 100 of 154 



Sanitary Sewer 
The City of St. Helens Public Sanitary Sewer gravity line is available in Milton Way and Port 
Avenue. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical Power is provided by Columbia River PUD. Three-phase power is provided to the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity broadband and telephone service is available at the site. 

Water 
Water service is provided by the City of St. Helens through a 14” main in Port Avenue and 12” 
main in Milton Way. Fire suppression is available at the site. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-017-015 
There is a 2” line in Milton Way. Depending on where the new load is, it can serve 100 to 500 
therms per hour. 

Stormwater  
Catch basins are available in some areas that connect to stormwater basins. Most catch basins 
connect to a city stormwater system on the north side of Port Avenue to the east of the Port owned 
properties.  

Buildings and Structures 
This park includes a variety of Port-owned and tenant-owned buildings. 

  

Page 101 of 154 



MCNULTY CREEK INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 

Overview 
The McNulty Creek Industrial Park is located off Gable Road in St. Helens. The industrial park 
is approximately 54 acres, with 40 acres available for development. The industrial park property 
has Tier 1 development land available and is a certified site by the State of Oregon. The 
industrial park’s only tenant is Kinnear Specialties, a custom hydraulic systems manufacturer.  

Public Street Access 
McNulty Way, classified as a Collector Street by the City of St. Helens TSP, bisects the McNulty 
Creek Industrial Park. It ties into Gable Road to the north and U.S. Highway 30 via Millard Road 
to the south. Much of McNulty Way has been improved with sidewalks, curbs, gutters, and storm 
drains. Industrial Way is a Collector Street off McNulty Way. The extension of Industrial Way to 
Old Portland Road was included in the 2011 St. Helens Transportation System Plan as a long-
term project (2022 to 2031).   

Rail Access 
An existing Port-owned railroad spur that bisects the park and connects to the Portland & Western 
Railroad mainline near U.S. Highway 30 was reconditioned in 2022. This spur ends at the 
Multnomah Industrial Park. 

Page 102 of 154 



Marine Access 
There is no marine access at the McNulty Creek Industrial Park.  

Sanitary Sewer 
The City of St. Helens Public Sanitary Sewer is available off McNulty Way and Industrial Way. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Columbia River PUD.  Three-phase power is adjacent to the site. 

Communications 
 Xfinity currently provides broadband & telephone service to this site. 

Water 
Water service is provided by the City of St. Helens with a 12” water main in McNulty Way. Fire 
hydrants exist on site. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plan 4-016-014 
There is a 4” Class B line in McNulty Way, near the district regulator. One thousand (1000) 
therms per hour are readily available. 

Stormwater  
Catch basins are available in some areas that connect to treatment basins with limited capacity. 

Buildings and Structures 
A Port-owned, pre-engineered steel building is located towards the end of Industrial Way. Two 
derelict wooden barns are located along Old Portland Road that need to be removed. 

Page 103 of 154 



RAILROAD CORRIDOR 

 

Overview 
Railroad Corridor is located off Railroad Avenue south of St. Helens. The Port owns 
approximately 104 acres of property at the industrial site, with 50 acres of land holding with Tier 
3 development readiness. Tenants are industrial in nature and use the land for waste management 
services and manufacturing. 

The Port is working with the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) to clean-up 
approximately 20 acres along the river at Railroad Avenue due to Pope & Talbot creosote 
contamination. The site was used for wood treatment from 1912 to 1960 (the Port purchased the 
property in 1963). The remedial investigation and feasibility study are complete. The Record of 
Decision for preferred remedy was issued in Sept. 2023. Seventeen acres to the northeast of the 
contaminated site have been declared “no further action” by the DEQ.  

Public Street Access 
Railroad Avenue is the primary access for this site. It is classified as a Collector Street in the City 
of St. Helens TSP. Railroad Avenue travels east towards the Multnomah Channel from intersection 
of Old Portland Road and Gable Road. There is a secondary private access point from the Boise 
property to the North Rail Access. An old military Bailey Bridge provides vehicle access to the 
southern portion of the site over Milton Creek. This bridge is part of the ODOT bridge inspection 
system. Replacement of Bailey Bridge is recommended. A secondary access road to north of the 
“no further action” portion of the site is also recommended. 

Page 104 of 154 



Rail Access 
A rail spur off the Portland & Western Railroad mainline bisects the property. This is the spur that 
parallels Port Avenue. 

Marine Access 
There is marine access from a small float dock not appropriate for commercial use.  

Sanity Sewer 
Gravity sanitary sewer is available in Railroad Avenue that flows to the city’s pump station. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical Power is provided by Columbia River PUD. Three-phase power is provided to the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity is looking into the availability of broadband service to this site. 

Potable Water 
Water service is provided by the City of St. Helens with an 8” watermain in Railroad Avenue. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-015-015 
High pressure gas is available up to 1200’ from Old Portland Road on Railroad Avenue; then 2” 
Class B. Depending on location, 100-1000 therms per hour is readily available. 

Stormwater 
As is typical in rural industrial areas, the park has some informal stormwater management. All 
improved surfaces at the industrial park sheet flow into adjacent ditches or natural areas.  

Buildings and Structures 
This facility includes several miscellaneous buildings of various construction types.  

  

Page 105 of 154 



MULTNOMAH INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 

Overview 
Multnomah Industrial Park is located off Old Portland Road. The Port owns approximately 155 
acres of property at the industrial park.  

Port tenants include Composites Universal Group, an advanced composites manufacturer, ORPET, 
a post-consumer plastic bottle recycling facility, and Stella-Jones Corporation, a manufacturing 
center that leases land for utility pole production and the pier for river transport. U.S. Pipe has a 
facility used to manufacture fittings. Even Construction, a custom floating home builder, is located 
there as well. The Port of Columbia County maintenance shop is being relocated near the entrance 
to the industrial park allowing for tenant expansion.   
 
Public Street Access 
The Port maintains gated access off Old Portland Road to this site. Old Portland Road is classified 
as a Minor Arterial in the City of St. Helens TSP. Old Portland Road connects to Gable Road to 
the north and U.S. Highway 30 to the south. 

Rail Access 
A spur off the Portland & Western Railroad mainline bisects this site. This is a continuation of the 
spur that runs through the McNulty Industrial Park and was reconditioned in 2022. 

Page 106 of 154 



Marine Access 
There is a boat ramp for industrial tenants that services Stella-Jones, Even Construction, and 
Omega Morgan. There is one dock currently used by Even Construction.  

Sanitary Sewer 
A sanitary sewer pump station was installed in 2012 as part of the ORPET tenant improvements. 
This pump station discharges to a City of St. Helens manhole on the northern side of Old Portland 
Road at the intersection with the access road with a 3” pressure line. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Columbia River PUD. Three-phase power is provided to the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity broadband and telephone service are provided at the site. 

Water 
Water service is provided by the City of St. Helens via a 16” main in Old Portland Road and 4” in 
the access road. Fire suppression is available (independent and Port-owned systems). 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-014-014 
Near high-pressure gas is available along Old Portland Road. One thousand (1000) therms per 
hour are readily available. 

Stormwater  
Stormwater treatment basins are included for some areas. Most areas drain to the river through 
roadside ditches. 

Buildings and Structures 
This facility includes several buildings of various construction types and a dock that is supported 
by wood pilings. A structural inspection for the dock was completed in 2018. In 2020, the dock 
was refurbished to remove the steam vats, repair the dock’s deck and structure, and make other 
improvements.  

 

Page 107 of 154 



SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT 

 

Overview 
The Scappoose Airport is located east of U.S. Highway 30 within the Scappoose city limits. The 
Scappoose Airport is the county’s largest airport, covering approximately 196 acres. The airport 
includes a 5100’ runway, two parallel taxiways, standard lighting, Precision Approach Path 
Indicator Lighting (PAPI lighting), and a weather reporting station. The Port owns and maintains 
the airport while the onsite fixed-base operator is privately owned. This facility includes several 
buildings of various construction types, mainly metal. Uses include light fabrication, offices, and 
corporate and private airplane hangars. The airport neighbors the Oregon Manufacturing and 
Innovation Center (OMIC R&D) and the Portland Community College OMIC Training Center.  

The T-hangars on the east side of the property have passed their service life and may need to be 
demolished and replaced. All the T-hangars on the property are 100% occupied, except the five 
open-sided hangars on the east side. There are two corporate hangars that are currently vacant on 
the west side. 

The Scappoose Airport Master Plan was last updated in 2015 with funding support from the 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). Planned capital improvements within the airport master 
plan include runway repaving rehabilitation, taxiway repaving, and future hangar development.  

Page 108 of 154 



Public Street Access  
The airport is accessed from Honeyman Road, which connects to West Lane Road just north of the 
Scappoose city limits. West Lane Road intersects Crown Zellerbach Road within the Scappoose 
city limits. Crown Zellerbach Road was recently improved to current standards. West Lane Road 
intersects U.S. Highway 30 approximately two miles north of Crown Zellerbach Road. 

Rail Access 
The Portland & Western Railroad mainline is approximately one mile to the west from the airport. 

Marine Access 
There is no marine access from the airport. 

Sanitary Sewer 
A water / sewer project in 2019 brought water and sanitary sewer service to the west side of the 
airport connecting to the City of Scappoose public services. Septic systems are the disposal means 
for sanitary sewer on the east side of the airport. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Columbia River PUD. Three-phase power is provided to the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity broadband and telephone service are provided at the site. 

Potable Water 
Water service is provided by the City of Scappoose through an 18” main in West Lane and a 12” 
main in Sky Way Drive. Fire protection is included on the west side. The east side is served by a 
well. A project is underway to extend and connect the east side to city water through a 10” line 
along Airport Way and Moore Road. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-006-010 
The nearest natural gas is 1.5 miles away. It is a high-pressure line so capacity is available if the 
main extension can be justified. 

Stormwater  
The closest public storm sewer is a 24” PVC line just south of the airport within the City of 
Scappoose. 

Page 109 of 154 



SCAPPOOSE BAY MARINE PARK 

 

Overview 
The Scappoose Bay Marine Park is located along the Columbia River just south of St. Helens. The 
Port owns approximately 26 acres of property at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park, with four acres 
available for development. Port tenants include Next Adventure Scappoose Bay Paddling Center, 
which uses the facility to access the marina for recreational activities, and Scappoose Bay 
Watershed Council, a non-profit organization. The marina is scheduled to be dredged in fall 2024, 
a $2.5 million project. The marina was previously dredged in 2015 and ongoing maintenance 
dredging is needed at the marina every 7-10 years. 

An additional $6.5 million is needed for the Marina Improvement Project, of which the upland 
phase is scheduled to begin in spring 2024. The upland work will include building a new kayak 
unloading and staging area in the upper parking lot with an air fill station, installation of a second 
pay station, creation of additional public and ADA parking spots, and widening the existing 
sidewalks.  

Planned in-water improvements include replacing the boat ramp, the installation of additional low 
profile kayak dock fingers, and a kayak beach launch. Plans also include installing a wider pier 
and gangway, replacing the main dock with a new concrete dock, and installing an ADA accessible 
kayak platform.  

The marina is very popular, but it is not profitable. In the last decade, the Port built a 23-space RV 
park adjacent east of the marina; both facilities enjoy river and trail access points. In 2022, the Port 
added an RV dump station. Camping rates for publicly owned facilities are lower than the typical 
RV camping rates for private facilities. The Port has discussed expanding the RV park to the other 
side of a local creek and is looking into the potential to raise rates closer to private campground 
rates. 

Page 110 of 154 



Public Access 
The Marine Park is accessed off Old Portland Road just north of the intersection with U.S. 
Highway 30. Old Portland Road is classified as a Minor Arterial in the City of St. Helens TSP. 
From the water, the marina is on the Scappoose Bay from the Multnomah Channel. 

Rail Access 
The Portland & Western Railroad mainline is just to the west of the marine park, adjacent to U.S. 
Highway 30. 

Marine Access 
There is recreational marine access to the Columbia River at Scappoose Bay for recreational 
boating, fishing, and paddle sports. 

Sanitary Sewer 
Septic systems are the disposal means for sanitary sewers. Individual pumps are installed within 
the floating structures that pump sewage to an upland disposal system. The office/retail building 
and public restroom also use this septic system. 

Electrical Power 
Electrical power is provided by Columbia River PUD. Three-phase power is adjacent to the site. 

Communications 
Xfinity broadband and telephone service are provided at the site. 

Water 
Water service is provided by the City of St. Helens through a 16” water main to the north end of 
the site in Old Portland Road. This 16” transitions into a 6” along the west side of the site in Old 
Portland Road. Fire suppression is available at the site. 

Natural Gas – NW Natural Plat 4-014-014 
A 4” main is available with a nearby district regulator and a capacity of 1,000 therms per hour 
available. 

Buildings and Structures 
On shore, this facility includes a pre-engineered structure that contains office and retail space. 
There is a concrete/masonry public restroom, picnic gazebo and ticket kiosk. On the water, there 
is a gangway and five docks with individual moorage slips, including one dock with covered 
moorage. Additionally, there are individual private floating homes moored at the marina. A nature 
trail includes a pedestrian bridge that has a decayed deck system that should be repaired or 
replaced. Storm drainage is directed to the adjacent Scappoose Bay. The Bayport RV Park and 
Campground contains 23 RV sites. A separate building contains restrooms and showers for RV 
Park and campground guests.  

 

Page 111 of 154 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 2024 
STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

APPENDIX C 
Market and Fiscal Analysis 

Page 112 of 154 



MARKET OVERVIEW 
This market analysis section identifies existing and emerging economic opportunities for the Port of 
Columbia County. Findings from this work are intended to assist the Port of Columbia County and its 
government partners and stakeholders with identifying business activities that are consistent with the 
Port’s Mission and Vision. The goal of this section is to evaluate economic development 
opportunities for the Port of Columbia County that are consistent with regional and global market 
trends.   
The steps used to complete this work are described below. 

1. Identify strategic advantages for the Port of Columbia County with regard to geographic 
location/proximity to primary and secondary trade areas, regional transportation 
infrastructure and available amenities.  

2. Review historical population and employment trends data. 

3. Describe national, state, and local economic trends. 

4. Review information regarding existing and potential growth of major employers. 

5. Compile wage and salary employment data for Columbia County and conduct industry 
clusters analyses to ascertain emerging economic development characteristics. 

6. Identify tourism trends and related market opportunities. 

7. Evaluate current economic impacts of employment and economic activity attributed to the 
Port of Columbia County. 

8. Prepare market-supportable 10- and 20-year commercial and industrial development forecasts 
for the Port District, and potential capture rates for Port-owned land and facilities.   

As part of this work effort, the consultant team evaluated current economic conditions, marketing 
plans and statistics provided by local, state, and federal government agencies. 

A. ECONOMIC OVERVIEW 

International and National Overview 
The economy within the Port of Columbia County District is directly linked with the greater 
Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro OR-WA Metropolitan Statistical Area (Portland MSA), which is 
influenced by economic activity across the United States and global marketplaces. The Port District 
includes most of the population of Columbia County, which is one of seven counties located in the 
Portland MSA.  

Page 113 of 154 



As indicated in Exhibit 1, Columbia County is the gateway to the northwest portion of the Portland 
MSA.1 The Port of Columbia County’s proximity to Washington (across the Columbia River) also 
provides a labor pool and convenient north-south interstate access to I-5 (including nearby cities of 
Kelso and Longview). The vast majority of economic interaction between the Port of Columbia 
County and the larger region is contained within the Portland MSA. 
 
Exhibit 1 Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro OR-WA MSA 

 
The Portland MSA is the largest regional economy between San Francisco and Seattle and ranks 19th 
in the United States in terms of regional population. The Portland MSA contains over 3.3 million 
residents, has a civilian labor force of 1.4 million, and generates an annual GDP in excess of $187 
billion.      
The U.S. and Oregon economy are still recovering from the national economic recession brought on 
by the global Covid-19 pandemic which officially began in March 2020. Moderate economic 
expansion is occurring nationally and in Oregon. According to the U.S. Bureau of Economic 
Analysis, real Gross Domestic Product (GDP is the measure of the value of all goods and services 
produced annually) increased in 2022 at an annual rate of 9.9%; and increased at an annual rate of 
9.8% in 2021.   

1 The Portland MSA is defined by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget to include the following counties in 
Oregon: Columbia, Clackamas, Multnomah, Washington, Yamhill; and Clark and Skamania Counties in the State of 
Washington. 

Page 114 of 154 



The near-term GDP outlook for the U.S. is lack luster as interest rates remain high and the U.S. 
dollar remains strong. According to December 2022 projections by the Federal Reserve Bank, U.S. 
GDP is expected to remain relatively flat over the next two years. A comparison of GDP and 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) trends and forecasts for global developing and developed countries is 
provided in Exhibit 2. 
 
Exhibit 2, GDP and CPI Comparisons, Year-over-Year Change 

 
In Oregon, state economists are predicting a continued upturn in the short term, although the Oregon 
Office of Economic Analysis notes that record low unemployment is a major headwind that curtails 
business expansion.  

International Trade Overview 
The greater Portland-Vancouver region is one of four primary international trade gateways along the 
West Coast. A developing middle class within Asian and Middle Eastern economies will result in 
significant increases in demand for trade for international exports. 
As global and state GDP rises and commodity trade increases, Oregon ports should benefit from 
increases in import and export activity. Oregon exports reached a record high of $34.5 billion in 2022 
(according to the most recent data by the U.S. International Trade Administration) up 15% from 
2021. Oregon’s leading trade partner is China, which imports 24.5% of Oregon exports. Other 
leading export destinations in decreasing order include Mexico, Canada, Malaysia, Ireland, Japan, 
South Korea, and Israel.  

Population and Income Trends 
As indicated in Exhibit 3, Columbia County reached a record-high population level with 53,588 
residents in 2022. Columbia County’s average annual population growth rate (AAGR) from 2010 to 
2022 was 0.7%, just below the statewide average (0.85%). Within Columbia County the fastest 
growing jurisdictions in terms of population included Scappoose (1.9%) and Clatskanie (1.8%).  
  

GDP CPI
2022 est. 2023 proj. 2024 proj. 2022 est. 2023 proj. 2024 proj.

Advanced Economies 2.7% 0.2% 1.3% 8.0% 4.9% 2.3%
United States 2.0% 0.2% 0.0% 8.0% 3.8% 2.5%
Eurozone 3.3% -0.6% 2.0% 8.5% 6.2% 2.1%
United Kingdom 4.4% -1.5% 1.7% 9.1% 8.4% 2.5%
Japan 1.2% 1.3% 1.5% 2.4% 1.8% 0.8%
Canada 3.5% 0.4% 2.4% 6.8% 3.4% 1.9%
Switzerland 2.0% 0.1% 2.2% 3.1% 2.2% 1.5%
Australia 3.6% 1.5% 2.4% 6.4% 4.3% 2.9%

Developing Economies 2.0% 2.8% 3.5% 6.5% 5.2% 4.6%
China 3.0% 4.9% 4.9% 2.0% 2.3% 2.0%
India 6.5% 5.7% 6.5% 6.8% 4.5% 5.0%
Mexico 3.1% 0.7% 2.1% 7.9% 5.5% 3.6%
Brazil 3.1% 0.5% 2.1% 9.0% 5.0% 4.0%

Source: Wells Fargo, forecast as of December 16, 2022
Abbreviations: GDP = gross domestic product; CPI = consumer price index

Page 115 of 154 



Exhibit 3: Population Trends 

 
Income levels within Columbia County have been increasing since 2010. As indicated in Exhibit 4, 
the median household income level for Columbia County was approximately $73,909 in 2021 and the 
average per capita income level was $27,449. 
 
Exhibit 4: Income Trends  

 

Development Opportunities and Constraints 
The Port of Columbia County’s geographic, economic, demographic and infrastructure 
characteristics set the framework within which businesses can establish themselves and grow.  
Depending on the industry, a certain characteristic can be both an opportunity and a constraint to job 
creation. An analysis of the Port of Columbia County in context with the broader regional or state 
economy is helpful in identifying “target industries” that are most likely to be attracted to the area.   

Location and Geography 
The Port of Columbia County is located within the northwestern portion of the greater Portland MSA 
in the lower Columbia River basin. The terrain includes significant land at low elevations, with some 
moderate hills and floodplains/wetlands near drainage basins and ponds. Columbia County’s 
moderate sized cities, relatively low land/rent levels, and convenient access to both Portland and 
Longview/Kelso markets make the area a favorable location for residents and businesses.  

2010 2020 2022 AGR 2010-2022
Columbia County 49,351               52,589               53,588               0.69%
Clatskanie 1,767                 2,189                 2,177                 1.75%
Columbia City 1,946                 1,949                 1,943                 -0.01%
Rainier 2,113                 2,080                 2,022                 -0.37%
Scappoose 6,592                 8,010                 8,230                 1.87%
St. Helens 12,883               13,817               14,369               0.91%
Oregon 3,831,074          4,237,256          4,240,137          0.85%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau (2010 and 2020 Census) and Portland State Population Research Center. 
Abbreviations: AGR = average annual growth rate

2010 2021 AGR
Median Household Income
Columbia County $55,199 $73,909 2.7%
Oregon $49,260 $70,084 3.3%
United States $51,914 $69,021 2.6%
Per Capita Income
Columbia County $20,078 $27,449 2.9%
Oregon $20,940 $28,822 2.9%
United States $21,587 $29,829 3.0%
Source: 2010 Census (in 2010 dollars) and 2021 ACS 5-year Estimates (in 2021 inflation-adjusted dollars) 

Page 116 of 154 



Transportation and Infrastructure  
The Port of Columbia County industrial and commercial properties are primarily located along U.S. 
Highway 30 in Columbia County. Interstate access is provided by I-5 within a 10-minute drive from 
the Oregon side of the Lewis and Clark Bridge in Rainier via Longview/Kelso. I-5 is within a 25-
minute drive from Scappoose via Hwy. 30. The Portland and Western Railroad provides freight rail 
access from Portland through the city of Clatskanie to Wauna. River barge access is provided at 
several sites along the Columbia River, with a major marine terminal located at Port Westward near 
the city of Clatskanie.    
In addition to the highway and rail facilities, the Port owns/operates the Scappoose Airport, which 
provides general aviation access. Waterborne river access (with both highway and rail service) is 
provided at several private industrial sites along the Columbia River. Recreational public river access 
is available at several marinas and boat launches, including the Scappoose Bay Marina owned by the 
Port.  
There are no known water, sewer, natural gas, or telecommunications limitations within the Port of 
Columbia County that would curtail long-term growth.   

Quality of Life in a Business-Friendly Environment  
Abundant parks, recreational access, relatively low-cost of living, and favorable infrastructure are 
beneficial to businesses located within the Port district. A variety of housing options, ranging from 
affordable choices for seniors to executive housing, are available at prices that are well below the 
Portland MSA average. Relatively low land costs, personal and property tax rates, and electric power 
rates also benefit major employers in the Port district.  
Public/private partnerships and proactive marketing and business assistance by the Columbia County 
Economic Team, Business Oregon, and Columbia Pacific Economic Development District (and their 
public and private partners) provide local businesses with favorable loans for capital investments, 
microloans, technical assistance, and workforce training. 

Development Overview 
In recent years, several private and public facility investments have occurred or are proposed inside 
the Port district, such as: 
 NEXT Renewable Fuels, a producer of next generation green renewable diesel and sustainable 

aviation fuel, has advanced through local and state permitting processes to develop a refinery at 
Port Westward Industrial Park. The project awaits the approval of federal permits.  

 The Port is planning major investments at the Scappoose Bay Marina. The projects, which are 
expected to cost over $8 million, will include dredging, replacing the boat ramp and expanding 
the kayak launch area with improved ADA access away from the primary boat launch. 
Construction of the upland portion of the improvement project is expected to get underway in 
spring of 2024.  

B. MARKET OPPORTUNITIES  

Employment Trends  
According to the Oregon Employment Department, at the end of 2022, Columbia County had 1,484 
private employers (including non-profits) and 70 public employer entities (at separate locations).  

Page 117 of 154 



Total employment in Columbia County included 11,908 “covered jobs” in 2022, which reflects jobs 
that are covered by unemployment insurance. As shown in Exhibit 5, the current level of 
employment now exceeds pre-pandemic levels and is at a historic high in Columbia County. 
 
Exhibit 5: Columbia County Employment Trends, 2007-2022 

 

Major Employers 
The top 10 private employers within the Port of Columbia County District are reflected in Exhibit 6. 
The largest private employers include Fred Meyer, Rightline Equipment, Pacific Stainless Products, 
Cardinal Services, Walmart, and Safeway Stores.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 118 of 154 



Exhibit 6: Top 10 Private Employers in Columbia County 

 
As shown in Exhibit 7, job growth in Columbia County has broadly occurred in the services sector, 
which added 1,100 jobs since 2007. Retail has also seen modest improvements, adding 160 jobs. 
Employment in the industrial (-100 jobs) and government (-230 jobs) sectors is down slightly from 
2007 levels.    
 
Exhibit 7: Columbia County Employment Trends by Sector, 2007-2023 (covered workers)  

 
As indicated in Exhibit 8, the total 2022 employment in Columbia County is estimated to include: 
1,650 manufacturing jobs, 1,590 retail trade jobs, 1,490 education and health service jobs, and 1,350 
leisure and hospitality jobs.  
 
 
 

Employer Location Description Employees
Rightline Equipment Inc. Rainier Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 200-300
Fred Meyer Scappoose Warehouse Clubs and Supercenters 200-300
United States Gypsum Co. Rainier Gypsum product manufacturing 100-200
Means Nursery Inc. Scappoose Nursery and Tree Production 100-200
Safeway Stores Inc. St. Helens Supermarkets and Other Grocery 100-200
Walmart Associates Inc. St. Helens Department store 100-200
Cardinal Employer Organization Inc. St. Helens Professional Employer Organization 100-200
Pacific Stainless Products Inc. St. Helens Sheet Metal Manufacturing 100-200
Dyno Nobel Inc Deer Island Fertilizer Manufacturing 50-100
Olympic Forest Products Mist Sawmill 50-100

Page 119 of 154 



 
 
Exhibit 8: Total Employment in Columbia County, 2018-2022 

 

Port-Related Economic Benefits  
The Port of Columbia County has 36 industrial and commercial tenants on Port-owned 
land/buildings. The major employers that occupy Port properties (land and buildings) include, but are 
not limited to: 

 Portland General Electric (PGE) Beaver Power Generating Plant and Port Westward 1 and Port 
Westward 2 Generating Plants, electric power plants located at Port Westward Industrial Park. 

 Oregon Aero, a manufacturer and distributor of aircraft parts located at Scappoose Airport.  

 Composites Universal Group, an aircraft parts manufacturer located at the Multnomah Industrial 
Park in St. Helens. 

 RainShadow Labs, a firm specializing in custom formulation and manufacturing of personal care, 
private label products located at Milton Creek Industrial Park in St. Helens. 

 Lignetics Group, a manufacturer of wood pellets located at Columbia City Industrial Park. 

 Columbia Pacific Bio Refinery (also known as Global Partners), a biofuel transloading terminal 
located at Port Westward Industrial Park. 

 U.S. Pipe, a manufacturer of industrial fittings located at the Multnomah Industrial Park. 

 ORPET, a post-consumer plastic bottle recycling facility at the Multnomah Industrial Park. 

The business operations that directly benefit from the Port of Columbia County and its investments in 
land, buildings and infrastructure provide far-reaching economic and fiscal benefits. Based on the 
current operations of the Port and its major tenants, an economic and fiscal impact analysis was 
conducted using analysis provided by the University of Oregon, using IMPLAN (Impact Analysis of 
Planning) model, and by FCS GROUP (using the Business Oregon Fiscal Impact Model for Oregon 
Ports).   

2018-2022
Annual Growth Rate

Industry 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Jobs %
Total nonfarm employment 11,634 11,778 11,208 11,500 11,908 69 0.6%
Total private 9,654 9,746 9,340 9,647 9,968 79 0.8%

Mining, logging, and construction 910 890 870 930 900 (3) -0.3%
Mining and logging 230 220 210 200 190 (10) -4.7%
Construction 680 670 660 730 710 8 1.1%

Manufacturing 1,630 1,630 1,670 1,630 1,650 5 0.3%
Trade, transportation, and utilities 2,190 2,260 2,250 2,330 2,360 43 1.9%

Retail trade 1,510 1,500 1,520 1,590 1,590 20 1.3%
Information 50 50 50 50 60 3 4.7%
Financial activities 390 400 390 410 420 8 1.9%
Professional and business services 880 870 910 950 1,090 53 5.5%
Education and health services 1,430 1,440 1,550 1,580 1,490 15 1.0%
Leisure and hospitality 1,370 1,420 1,110 1,220 1,350 (5) -0.4%
Other services 640 620 400 400 460 (45) -7.9%

Government 1,980 2,030 1,870 1,850 1,940 (10) -0.5%
Federal government 70 70 80 70 70 0 0.0%
State government 160 160 170 180 180 5 3.0%
Local government 1,750 1,800 1,620 1,600 1,690 (15) -0.9%

Local education 1,040 1,070 920 890 960 (20) -2.0%
Local government excluding educational services 710 730 700 710 730 5 0.7%

Source: Oregon Employment Department.

Page 120 of 154 



Annual economic impact metrics for the Port of Columbia County District are summarized for the 
year 2021 in the table below.   
Key findings include: 

• There are approximately 37 separate business entities along with the Port that are directly 
responsible for 480 jobs (including full and part-time workers). 

• The spending of labor income and business operations (on supplies and services) from direct 
business spending supports an additional 949 jobs within the region.   

• In total there are 1,429 jobs supported by Port-dependent businesses and related operations. 
• Port-related businesses paid workers approximately $65.9M in labor income in 2021 with 

annual sales output of an estimated $256.8M.  
• These businesses contributed nearly $135.3M in value added (gross domestic product) for 

Oregon and the nation.  
• The taxable sales and related property and leasehold taxes paid by Port-related businesses 

generated an estimated $17.9M in state tax revenue and $16.6M in local tax revenue in 2021. 
 

 
Tourism and Recreational Opportunities  
Visitation and tourism play an increasingly important role in supporting the Columbia County 
economy.   
As the population across the western U.S. increases, visitation activity is expected to rise. Visitors 
are drawn to the area’s many natural attractions, including fishing, hunting, kayaking, biking, 
camping, bird watching and golf. Recent and planned marina reconstruction and expansion activities 
at the Scappoose Bay Marina should help promote recreational activities for residents and visitors.  
According to a tourism impact study prepared for the Oregon Tourism Commission, annual travel 
spending in Columbia County amounted to $36.3 million in 2022, up from $21.6 million in 2020. 
Total travel spending increased at an average (AAGR) of 2.2% in Columbia County between 2012-
2022.   
The sectors that benefit from tourism include food service/restaurants, food & beverage stores, arts, 
entertainment and recreation, accommodations, and transportation (Exhibit 9). 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Economic Impact of Port-Dependent Businesses and Port Operations, 2021 estimate
Employment* Labor Income** Value Added (GDP)** Output (Sales)** State Taxes** Local Taxes**

Impact Type
Direct 480 $35,999,044 $85,564,701 $166,529,212

Indirect & Induced 949 $29,893,120 $49,703,509 $90,239,387
Total 1,429                $65,892,164 $135,268,210 $256,768,599 $17,863,166 $16,614,497

Note: totals may not add due to rounding. *Analysis by University of Oregon, Institute for Policy Research and Engagement School of Planning, Public Policy 
and Management. ** Analysis by FCS GROUP.

Page 121 of 154 



Exhibit 9: Annual Visitation Spending in Columbia County by Retail Type, 2022, in millions 

 

Employment Forecast 
As the Portland MSA increases in business activity, the vacant “development ready” industrial-zoned 
land supply in the tri-county Metro Region is diminishing. This dynamic is likely to create upward 
pressure on growth in communities located within a 30 to 45-minute commute of Portland, including 
Scappoose, St. Helens, Columbia City, Rainier, and Vernonia (which is outside the Port district). 
According to studies by Oregon Metro, the lack of large “development ready” vacant industrial sites 
within the Portland Metro Region is expected to create a gap in the land needed in the Metro urban 
growth boundary (UGB) to support the needs of single and multi-tenant industrial users.  
A lower and upper range in projected job growth for the Port of Columbia County district has been 
prepared by considering historic trends, and available job growth forecasts provided by the Oregon 
Employment Department as well as job growth forecasts that are consistent with the Scappoose 
Economic Opportunities Analysis (draft January 2023).  
The Oregon Economic Development Department job growth forecasts for the Northwest Oregon 
region (including Benton, Clatsop, Columbia, Lincoln, and Tillamook Counties) are shown in 
Exhibit 10. The Oregon Employment Department expects 12,540 jobs to be added within the region 
over the next 10 years. This equates to a 12% annual growth rate for the regional job base in 
Northwest Oregon over the 2021 to 2031 period.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122 of 154 



Exhibit 10: Projected Northwest Oregon Job Growth by Sector 2021-2031 

 
Additional job growth forecasts within Columbia County were also prepared as part of the City of 
Scappoose Draft Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA), January 2023. According to the draft 
EOA report, Scappoose is expected to add 2,126 jobs between 2023 and 2043 (Exhibit 11). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       
Category 2021 2031 Change % Change
Total employment 100,830 113,370 12,540 12%
Total payroll employment 94,880 107,150 12,270 13%
    Total private 75,380 86,580 11,200 15%
        Natural resources and mining 3,510 3,700 190 5%
            Mining and logging 870 840 -30 -3%
        Construction 4,200 4,820 620 15%
        Manufacturing 8,800 9,180 380 4%
            Durable goods 4,500 4,790 290 6%
                Wood product manufacturing 1,100 1,090 -10 -1%
            Nondurable goods 4,300 4,390 90 2%
                Food manufacturing 1,990 2,240 250 13%
                Paper manufacturing 1,230 1,000 -230 -19%
        Trade, transportation, and utilities 15,320 16,630 1,310 9%
            Wholesale trade 1,060 1,070 10 1%
            Retail trade 12,320 13,330 1,010 8%
            Transportation, warehousing, and utilities 1,950 2,230 280 14%
        Information 960 1,020 60 6%
        Financial activities 3,810 3,950 140 4%
        Professional and business services 7,550 8,920 1,370 18%
            Professional and technical services 3,500 4,250 750 21%
        Private educational and health services 13,250 15,370 2,120 16%
                Hospitals 4,500 4,880 380 8%
        Leisure and hospitality 14,890 19,490 4,600 31%
            Accommodation and food services 13,970 18,260 4,290 31%
                Accommodation 3,850 5,100 1,250 32%
                Food services and drinking places 10,120 13,140 3,020 30%
        Other services 3,090 3,500 410 13%
    Government 19,500 20,570 1,070 5%
        Federal government 1,230 1,220 -10 -1%
        State government 1,420 1,490 70 5%
        Local government 16,850 17,860 1,010 6%
            Local education 10,260 10,600 340 3%
Self-employment 5,950 6,220 270 5%
Source: Oregon Employment Department, published June 13, 2023.
Notes: Northwest Region includes Benton, Clatsop, Columbia, Lincoln, and Tillamook Counties

Page 123 of 154 



Exhibit 11: Scappoose UGB Employment Growth Forecast, 2023-2043 

 
These three job growth forecast scenarios are summarized in Exhibit 12, and include: 

1. Historic Columbia County employment growth rates over the 2010-2022 timeframe. 

2. 10-year Oregon Employment Department (OED) job growth forecast for Region 1 (NW Oregon). 

3. 20-year Modified Job Growth Forecast for the Scappoose Urban Growth Boundary derived from 
the draft Scappoose EOA.  

The lower and upper job growth rates from these three job growth scenarios have been applied to 
current employment estimates using Q1 2023 as the base year to derive a long-term job growth 
forecast for Columbia County (Exhibit 12).  
 
Exhibit 12: Columbia County Employment Growth Rate Forecast Scenarios 

 
Based on the lower and upper range in employment growth described above, Columbia County is 
likely to experience significant job growth as long as adequate industrial and commercial sites are 
provided to meet demand. As shown in Exhibit 13, Columbia County is expected to add between 
3,751 to 11,479 jobs over the 2023-to-2043 timeframe. The employment sectors that are expected to 
generate the most job growth from 2023 to 2043 include: 

 Industrial (720 to 5,431 jobs), with growth opportunities in durable goods manufacturing, 
wholesale trade, utilities, and energy research and development.  

 Retail Trade (283 to 839 jobs), with growth opportunities in motor vehicle sales, home 
furnishings, and grocery categories.  

 Services (3,208 to 4,724 jobs), with growth opportunities in business and professional services. 

 Government (negative 460 to positive 485 jobs), with growth primarily dependent upon increases 
in local population and household expansion. 

  

2023 2043 Change
AGR 2023-

Change
Industrial 820                    1,793                 973                    3.99%
Retail Commercial 824                    925                    101                    0.58%
Office & Services 1,584                 2,545                 961                    2.40%
Government 429                    520                    91                     0.97%
Total 3,657                 5,783                 2,126                 2.32%
Source: January 2023 Draft Scappoose EOA
Abbreviations: AGR = average annual growth rate

Forecast Range

Sector
2010-2022 Historic 

Growth
OED Forecast for 

Region
Scappoose EOA 

Forecast Draft
Lower 
Range

Upper 
Range

Private employment
Industrial 2.4% 0.7% 4.0% 0.7% 4.0%
Retail trade 1.6% 0.8% 0.6% 0.6% 1.6%
Services 2.5% 1.8% 2.4% 1.8% 2.5%

Government employment -1.1% 0.5% 1.0% -1.1% 1.0%
Source: Oregon Employment Department (OED) and 2023 Draft Scappoose EOA

Page 124 of 154 



Exhibit 13: Columbia County Job Growth Forecast Scenarios, 2023 to 2043 

 

Target Industries  
A target industries analysis has been prepared for the Port of Columbia County to identify existing 
and emerging key business sectors. It is a widely accepted theory among economic development 
professionals that “employment clusters” are a primary force driving local economic prospects and 
often site selection decisions. Clusters of economic activity go well beyond mere concentrations of 
industry or employment types. They represent unique competitive market advantages with regard to 
employment, talent, creativity, entrepreneurship, training and higher education, business costs, and 
supporting natural resources.  
The target industries analysis is used to identify potential business sectors that are most likely to be 
retained and attracted to Columbia County. The methodology entailed the following steps: 

1. Obtaining employment, wage and salary employment data from the Oregon Employment 
Department for Columbia County and the State of Oregon for the year of 2022. 

2. Obtaining 10-year employment growth projections provided by Oregon Employment 
Department for the Northwest Oregon region (Benton, Clatsop, Columbia, Lincoln, and 
Tillamook Counties). 

3. Conducting a location-quotient (LQ) analysis to evaluate business and industrial clusters in 
Columbia County relative to the State of Oregon. 

4. Evaluating business clusters within Columbia County with regard to the LQ, projected 
growth rates, economic size of each cluster, and average and aggregate wages.  

After these steps were conducted, business clusters were classified into one of four classifications, 
including: 

 Stars: include businesses with high LQ (propensity to locate in Columbia County) and higher 
than average projected growth rate compared to other locations in Oregon.  

 Opportunities: include businesses with low LQ and high average growth rate (possible pent-up 
demand or competitive market disadvantage relative to other locations). 

 Mature: include businesses with high LQ but lower than average growth rate.  

 Challenges: include businesses with low LQ and lower than average growth rate. 

The employment cluster analysis summarized in Exhibit 14 identifies the business and industrial 
sectors within Columbia County by their LQ, size (aggregate wages paid annually) and 10-year 
growth forecast (derived from the Oregon Employment Dept).  
 

Sector
Total Jobs 
(Est. 2023)

2043 Lower 
Scenario

2043 Upper 
Scenario

Lower 
Scenario 

2023-2043 
Change

Upper 
Scenario 

2023-2043 
Change

Industrial 4,577 5,298 10,009 720 5,431
Retail 2,307 2,590 3,146 283 839
Services 7,301 10,509 12,024 3,208 4,724
Government 2,288 1,828 2,773 -460 485
Total 16,473 20,224 27,952 3,751 11,479
Source: Oregon Employment Department (OED) and 2023 Draft Scappoose EOA with IMPLAN conversions to total jobs.

Page 125 of 154 



The clusters analysis classifies employment sectors in four types: 
STARS: Industry Sectors with High LQ/High Growth Potential  

» Leisure and Hospitality (includes hotels/motels and food services)   
» Other Services (such as business to business supply chains) 
» Administrative & Waste Management Services 
» Construction Materials Manufacturing and Services  
» Transportation and Subregional Warehousing 

OPPORTUNITIES: Industry Sectors with Low LQ/High Growth Potential  
» Real Estate & Rental 
» Professional-Scientific & Tech Services 

MATURE: Industry Sectors with High LQ/Low Growth Potential 
» Retail Trade 
» Misc. Manufacturing (see detail on next page) 

CHALLENGED: Industry Sectors with Low LQ/Low Growth Potential 
» Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing & Hunting 
» Wholesale Trade 

 
Exhibit 14: Columbia County Existing Employment Clusters, 2022 

 

Target Market Opportunities  
The industrial clusters within Columbia County can also be compared in terms of key sectors, which 
depict more detailed information regarding existing sub-clusters that are already concentrated in 
Columbia County. Please refer to Exhibit 15 for a graphic depiction of key sectors sorted by LQ 

Page 126 of 154 



value. Note, any value greater than 1.0 indicates a relatively high propensity to locate in Columbia 
County.  
 
Exhibit 15: Columbia County Top 25 Industry Sectors Sorted by Location Quotient (LQ) 

 
Consideration of commodity export trends may also help identify prospective industrial activities. 
Within the list of the top Oregon exports, the commodities and goods that can be produced or shipped 
from the Port of Columbia County may include: 

» Machinery products ($6.5 billion) 
» Transportation Equipment ($4.1 billion) 
» Chemicals ($3.4 billion) 
» Agricultural Products ($1.8 billion) 

 
These and other industrial sub-clusters are prime candidates for future marketing efforts by the Port 
of Columbia County and its local/regional partners.  
The recommended target industries for the Port of Columbia County should include, but not be 
limited to: 

 Power and Energy Production 
 Machinery & Transportation Product Mfg.  
 Building & Construction Materials Mfg. 
 Apparel, Footwear & Textile Product Mfg. 

Page 127 of 154 



 Aeronautical & Aviation Products and Testing 
 Marine Products and Testing 
 Wood / Paper Products and Composite Materials Mfg. 

In addition to preparing sites for retention and attraction of targeted industrial operations within the 
Port district, actions that support the incubation of smaller service, with focus on energy and value-
added wood and organic product research and development should be considered. Enhancing tourism 
and visitation through the provision of additional marina slips, boat houses, airport-events and 
R.V./camping facilities can help generate over-night and day-trip visitation which support multiple 
commercial sectors throughout Columbia County. 

C. PORT DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM  
The Port of Columbia County already provides several industrial sites, buildings and facilities that 
support jobs and visitation and generate a significant share of the annual GDP produced in Columbia 
County. Over the long-term, as the Oregon and regional population and work force expand, the 
ability to provide a mix of “development ready” medium and large industrial sites in Columbia 
County will become increasingly important to the health of the local, regional, and state economies. 
This is especially the case for heavy industrial operations that are challenged to find adequate sites 
with rail and barge access for their operations in other parts of the Greater Portland Region. 

Columbia County Employment Land Needs 
Using job growth projections detailed above and assumptions provided in Appendix A, Columbia 
County will need between 418 and 776 gross acres of buildable employment land to accommodate 
future demand over the next 20 years (Exhibit 16).  

• To accommodate projected industrial job growth, the Port, along with private entities would 
need to provide between 93 and 137 acres of land for marine and energy related uses.  

• Overall land needs for general industrial users is expected to support between 300 and 473 
acres of new development.  

• An additional 25-166 acres of land area would be required to address commercial 
opportunities, such as office, lodging, and retail.    

A portion of the projected service and retail-related job growth could also be accommodated by 
redevelopment or adaptive reuse of existing buildings and sites, located in downtown St. Helens, 
Columbia City, Scappoose, Rainier, and Clatskanie. 
 
Table 16: Long-term Industrial and Commercial Development Program for Columbia County, 
2023 to 2043  

  

Land Use Classification
Lower Job Growth 

Forecast
Upper Job Growth 

Forecast
Lower Land Need 

(acres)
Upper Land Need 

(acres)
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 903                         5,643                      25                           166                         
Marine or Energy Related 321                         472                         93                           137                         
General Industrial & Flex 2,988                      4,878                      300                         473                         
Total Private 4,211                      10,994                    418                         776                         
Source: based on analysis provided in Appendix A. Acres expressed as gross buildable land requirements (net of 
environmental constraints)

Page 128 of 154 



APPENDIX A: LOWER DEVELOPMENT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS 

 

Lower
Retail 720                   
Services 283                   
Industrial 3,208                
Total 4,211                
Source: derived from prior tables.

Employment Sectors Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total
Retail 0% 10% 0% 0% 90% 100%
Services 60% 10% 0% 0% 30% 100%
Industrial 10% 30% 60% 0% 100%

Net New Employment Forecast by Building Type, Scenario A Forecast for 20 years
Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total

Retail -                    -                        72                     -                          -                   648                   720                 
Services 170                   -                        28                     -                          -                   85                     283                 
Industrial -                    321                       962                   1,925                      -                   -                    3,208              
Total 170                   321                       1,063                1,925                      -                   733                   4,211              

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail
Refill/Redevelopment Job Allocation 1 10% 10% 0% 0% 0% 10%
Jobs Needing Vacant Land Allocation 2 70% 80% 90% 70% 100% 75%
Building SF Per Job 2 250                   1,250                    750                   1,250                      1,100               500                   
Floor-Area-Ratio 2 0.35                  0.10                      0.25                  0.20                        0.30                 0.30                  
Public Facility Net:Gross Adjustment 3 1.15                  1.40                      1.15                  1.20                        1.10                 1.15                  
Work at Home Adjustment 4 20% 10% 10% 0% 0% 5%

Source: assumptions reflect local observations.

Source: reflects local assumptions by FCS GROUP.

4/ Allowance based on local business license data; and is generally consistent with national statistics by US Dept. of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Employment Sectors to Building Type Assignment Assumptions

Building Type to Land Needs Assumptions*

Building Types

Columbia County Net New 20-year Employment Forecast 

3/ Allowances take into account land dedicated to public/utility easements.
2/ Building density derived from local observations.
1/ Adjusts for building refill & vacancy allowances.
* assumptions are intended to reflect a long-term average.

Page 129 of 154 



 

 

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total
Scenario A 3,000                36,000                  -                    -                          -                   35,000              74,000            

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total
Scenario A 24,000              289,000                646,000            1,684,000               -                   261,000            2,904,000       

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total
Scenario A 1.8                    92.9                      68.2                  232.0                      -                   23.0                  417.8              

Land Use Classification Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Port Related Industrial and Public 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0%
General Industrial & Flex 0% 0% 100% 100% 100% 0%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Vacant Land Needs Forecast by Zoning Classification, Scenario A 20 year forecast
Land Use Classification Office Energy Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Warehouse Retail Total
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 1.8                    -                        -                    -                          -                   23.0                  24.8                
Marine or Energy Related -                    92.9                      -                    -                          -                   -                    92.9                
General Industrial & Flex -                    -                        68.2                  232.0                      -                   -                    300.2              
Total 1.8                    92.9                      68.2                  232.0                      -                   23.0                  417.8              

Land Use Classification Scenario A
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 24.8                  
Marine or Energy Related 92.9                  
General Industrial & Flex 300.2                
Total 417.8                

Net New Building Floor Area Development on Vacant Lands (Floor Area) - 20 year forecast

Vacant Land Need (gross buildable acres) - 20 year forecast

Building to Land Use Assignment Assumptions

Assumptions by FCS GROUP and City staff based on local observations.

Net New Redevelopment Building Space Needs (Floor Area) - 20 year forecast

Assumptions by FCS GROUP based on above listed assumptions and local observations.

Columbia County Land Need (gross buildable acres)

Page 130 of 154 



APPENDIX B: UPPER DEVELOPMENT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS 

 

Upper
Retail 5,431                
Services 839                   
Industrial 4,724                
Total 10,994              
Source: derived from prior tables.

Employment Sectors Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total
Retail 0% 10% 0% 90% 100%
Services 60% 10% 0% 30% 100%
Industrial 10% 30% 60% 0% 100%

Net New Employment Forecast by Building Type, Scenario B Forecast for 20 years
Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total

Retail -                    -                        543                   -                          4,888                5,431              
Services 503                   -                        84                     -                          252                   839                 
Industrial -                    472                       1,417                2,834                      -                    4,724              
Total 503                   472                       2,044                2,834                      5,140                10,994            

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail
Refill/Redevelopment Job Allocation 1 10% 10% 0% 0% 10%
Jobs Needing Vacant Land Allocation 2 70% 80% 90% 70% 75%
Building SF Per Job 2 250                   1,250                    750                   1,250                      500                   
Floor-Area-Ratio 2 0.35                  0.10                      0.25                  0.20                        0.30                  
Public Facility Net:Gross Adjustment 3 1.15                  1.40                      1.15                  1.20                        1.15                  
Work at Home Adjustment 4 20% 10% 10% 0% 5%

Columbia County 20-year Net New Employment Forecast 

Employment Sectors to Building Type Assignment Assumptions
Building Types

Source: reflects local assumptions by FCS GROUP.

Building Type to Land Needs Assumptions*

* assumptions are intended to reflect a long-term average.
1/ Adjusts for building refill & vacancy allowances.
2/ Building density derived from local observations.
3/ Allowances take into account land dedicated to public/utility easements.

4/ Allowance based on local business license data; and is generally consistent with national statistics by US Dept. of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.
Source: assumptions reflect local observations.

Page 131 of 154 



 

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total
Scenario B 10,000              53,000                  -                    -                          244,000            307,000          

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total
Scenario B 70,000              425,000                1,242,000         2,480,000               1,831,000         6,048,000       

Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total
Scenario A 5.3                    136.6                    131.2                341.6                      161.1                775.8              

Land Use Classification Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 100% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Port Related Industrial and Public 0% 100% 0% 0% 0%
General Industrial & Flex 0% 0% 100% 100% 0%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Vacant Land Needs Forecast by Zoning Classification, Scenario A 20 year forecast
Land Use Classification Office Marine Related Flex/Bus. Park Gen. Industrial Retail Total
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 5.3                    -                        -                    -                          161.1                166.4              
Port-Related Industrial and Public -                    136.6                    -                    -                          -                    136.6              
General Industrial & Flex -                    -                        131.2                341.6                      -                    472.8              
Total 5.3                    136.6                    131.2                341.6                      161.1                775.8              

Land Use Classification Scenario B
Commercial (retail, office, lodging) 166.4                
Mixed Use -                    
Marine or Energy Related 136.6                
General Industrial & Flex 472.8                
Total 775.8                

Net New Redevelopment Building Space Needs (Floor Area) - 20 year forecast

Net New Building Floor Area Development on Vacant Lands (Floor Area) - 20 year forecast

Vacant Land Need (gross buildable acres) - 20 year forecast

Building to Land Use Assignment Assumptions

Assumptions by FCS GROUP and City staff based on local observations.

Columbia County Land Need (gross buildable acres)

Assumptions by FCS GROUP based on above listed assumptions and local observations.

Page 132 of 154 



 
 
 

Page intentionally left blank 

Page 133 of 154 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 2024 
STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

APPENDIX D 
Financial Plan 

Page 134 of 154 



FINANCIAL PLAN 
This financial plan for the Port of Columbia County contains the elements required by item 9(d) of the 
“Strategic Business Plan Template” in Ports 2010: A New Strategic Business Plan for Oregon’s 
Statewide Port System (https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/Ports/2010PortPlan.pdf). 

A HISTORICAL DATA 

A.1 Fund Structure 
The Port of Columbia County budgeting methodology allocates expenditures by five object classifications 
within six programs, as demonstrated in Exhibit 1 below. 

Exhibit 1: Expenditure Programs and Classifications 

Departmental Program Object Classification 

  
Executive Department  

 Personnel Services 
Business Development & External Communications  

 Materials and Services 
Finance Administration  

 Capital Outlay 
Facility & Property Management  

 Debt Service 
Terminal Services  

 Contingency 
Non-Departmental  

  

A.2 Recent Financial Performance 
The foundation of this plan is the Port’s historical financial performance. Exhibits 2 and 3 summarize 
five years of resources and expenses for the Port, respectively. Obtained from the Port’s FYE 2024 
budget, this data summarizes actuals for the fiscal years spanning 2019 through 2022, and budgeted 
values for FYEs 2023 and 2024. All departments listed above are summarized within these tables. 

Page 135 of 154 



Exhibit 2: Revenues from FYE 2020 Through FYE 2024 

 
Exhibit 3: Expenditures from FYE 2020 Through FYE 2024 

 
 

 

 

Revenues
Actuals Revised Adopted

Category FYE '20 FYE '21 FYE '22 FYE '23 FYE '24
Beginning Fund Balance 5,217,845$      6,383,184$      7,370,256$        7,232,354$      8,092,245$      
Revenue

Property Taxes 393,806$         26,906$           14,945$             -$                10,000$           
Licenses 509,911           504,177           575,194             563,935           608,143           
Rents and Reimbursements 4,132,185        4,188,206        5,249,784          6,034,345        5,539,531        
Terminal Services 562,234           408,492           577,512             411,202           718,925           
Marina & RV Park 185,729           267,384           236,121             251,923           264,568           
Miscellaneous Revenue 643,581           31,176             488,519             28,853             30,000             

Total Revenue 6,427,446$      5,426,341$      7,142,075$        7,290,258$      7,171,167$      
Other Resources

Grants 253,719$         209,855$         252,377$           394,627$         400,000$         
Loans 1,420,000        2,010,309        -                    -                  400,000           
Interest 231,181           201,248           132,316             38,036             200,000           

Total Other Resources 1,904,900$      2,421,412$      384,693$           432,663$        1,000,000$      

Total Resources 13,550,191$    14,230,937$    14,897,024$      14,955,276$    16,263,413$    
Note, ending resources may not equate to beginning resources due to end of year accounting adjustments.
Source: Port of Columbia County, financial reports and current budget documents.

All Department Expenses 
Actuals Revised Adopted

Category FYE '20 FYE '21 FYE '22 FYE '23 FYE '24
FTEs 14 16.5 17.5 20 20
O&M Expenses

Personnel Services 1,607,873$      1,745,011$      1,847,130$        2,177,364$      2,824,265$      
Materials & Services 1,569,776        1,808,463        1,724,286          2,037,780        2,295,741        

O&M Total 3,177,649$      3,553,474$      3,571,416$        4,215,144$      5,120,006$      
Resources Net of O&M 10,372,542$    10,677,463$    11,325,608$      10,740,132$    11,143,407$    

Debt
Principal 598,552$         655,324$         622,077$           609,700$         325,139$         
Interest 541,278           556,635           568,913             496,982           460,525           

Debt Total 1,139,830$      1,211,959$      1,190,990$        1,106,682$      785,664$        
Resources After O&M and Debt 9,232,712$      9,465,504$      10,134,618$      9,633,450$      10,357,743$    

Capital Outlays*
Land -$                -$                -$                  -$                -$                
Buildings 2,325,606        2,055,748        -                    2,850,000        2,850,000        
Improvements 25,435             -                  620,772             3,080,000        4,175,000        
Machinery and Equipment 66,346             39,500             7,500                 135,000           135,000           
Vehicles -                  -                  -                    -                  -                  
Infrastructure 432,141           -                  -                    135,000           135,000           

Capital Total 2,849,528$      2,095,248$      628,272$           6,200,000$      7,295,000$      
Total Budget 7,167,007$      6,860,681$      5,390,678$        11,521,826$    13,200,670$    
Ending Resources 6,383,184$      7,370,256$      9,506,346$        3,433,450$      3,062,743$      
*Includes both Terminal Services and Facility and Property Management Department expenditures.
Note, ending resources may not equate to beginning resources due to end of year accounting adjustments.
Source: Port of Columbia County, financial reports and current budget documents.

Page 136 of 154 



Exhibit 4 summarizes the Port’s balance sheet for the past three fiscal years. These figures are taken 
directly from the Port’s audit reports. 

Exhibit 4: Ending Net Assets from FYE 2020 through FYE 2022 

Category June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2022 
Annual 
Growth 

Rate* 
Assets         

Current Assets $6,675,650 $7,534,535 $8,594,734 13.5% 
Noncurrent Assets      

Capital Assets      
Depreciable Capital Assets $58,347,490 $63,223,803 $63,450,697 4.3% 
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets 14,187,462 11,406,395 11,807,769 -8.8% 
Accumulated Depreciation (27,470,892) (29,653,961) (31,870,002) 7.7% 

Total Capital Assets $45,064,060 $44,976,237 $43,388,464 -1.9% 
Other Long-Term Assets 8,702,038 8,215,750 7,638,270 -6.3% 

Total Noncurrent Assets $53,766,098 $53,191,987 $51,026,734 -2.6% 
Deferred Outflows 171,647 439,963 345,246 41.8% 

Total Assets $60,613,395 $61,166,485 $59,966,714 -0.5% 
Liabilities and Net Assets      

Liabilities      
Current Liabilities $1,903,077 $2,031,121 $2,521,074 15.1% 
Noncurrent Liabilities 11,132,362 12,902,804 11,783,864 2.9% 
Deferred Inflows 117,980 76,330 404,159 85.1% 

Total Liabilities $13,153,419 $15,010,255 $14,709,097 5.7% 
Net Assets      

Investment in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt $33,700,995 $40,467,385 $31,344,435 -3.6% 
Unrestricted 13,419,709 5,427,508 13,650,406 0.9% 
Restricted for Debt Payments 339,272 261,337 262,776 -12.0% 

Total Net Assets $47,459,976 $46,156,230 $45,257,617 -2.3% 
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $60,613,395 $61,166,485 $59,966,714 -0.5% 
Source: Port of Columbia County 2023-2024 Adopted Budget     

B ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
This section of the financial plan analyzes the Port’s historical data with the goals of: 

 (1) highlighting issues for the Port’s consideration and  

 (2) developing accurate projections for future years. 

B.1 Operating Cash Flow 
This subsection analyzes the Port’s operating (non-capital) costs and the revenues used to recover those 
costs. 

B.1.a Trend 
Operating revenues are accounted in the General Fund and Revenue Fund. In FYE 2023, lease payments 
from tenants ($6,034,345) represented 83 percent of total operating revenues ($7,290,258). In that same 
year, the Port collected no property taxes, due to the Port Commission’s decision to impose a $0.00 
property tax rate  in recent years.  

Page 137 of 154 



In FYE 2023, expenditures for personal services ($2,177,364) and materials and services ($2,037,780) 
represented 53 percent of total operating expenses. These expenditures include operation and maintenance 
of Port facilities, as well as general administration. 

As shown in Exhibit 5, operating expenditures have been increasing faster than revenues  over the past 
three fiscal years. Continuation of this trend is not sustainable and would limit the level of capital 
investment the port can undertake in the future.    

Exhibit 5: Operating Cash Flow from FYE 2020 through FYE 2023 
  Actuals Revised Growth Rate 

Category FYE '20 FYE '21 FYE '22 FYE '23 Actuals 
Only 

All 
Years 

Operating Revenues       
Rents and Reimbursements $4,132,185 $4,188,206 $5,249,784 $6,034,345 12.71% 13.45% 
Licenses 509,911 504,177 575,194 563,935 6.21% 3.41% 
Terminal Services 562,234 408,492 577,512 411,202 1.35% -9.90% 
Miscellaneous Revenue 643,581 31,176 488,519 28,853 -12.88% -64.48% 
Marina & RV Park 185,729 267,384 236,121 251,923 12.75% 10.70% 
Property Taxes 393,806 26,906 14,945            - n/a -n/a 

Total Operating Revenue $6,427,446 $5,426,341 $7,142,075 $7,290,258 5.41% 4.29% 

Operating Expenditures $3,177,649 $3,553,474 $3,571,416 $4,215,144 6.01% 9.88% 
Revenues less expenditure $3,249,797 $1,872,867 $3,570,659 $3,075,114 4.82% -1.82% 

Source: Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3 above 

B.2 Debt 
This subsection analyzes the Port’s current and potential use of debt. 

B.2.a Current Debt 
As of June 30, 2024, the Port is projected to have approximately $2.3 million in long-term debt or note 
obligations. In light of the fact that some of this “debt” is serviced through tax increment revenue, it is not 
necessary a long-term risk or obligation of the Port. Exhibit 6 shows the amortization of this outstanding 
debt over the next five years. 

Page 138 of 154 



Exhibit 6: Amortization of Long-Term Debt 

 
The two largest debts, OBDD #659-15-01 and OBDD #659-14-01, were fully amortized in 2023 and will 
have zero balance in 2024. For these loans, the Port had agreements with both the Columbia County 
Development Agency (CCDA) and the Port Westward tenant who uses rail to make debt service 
payments from tax increment or tenant revenue. Exhibit 6 shows the Port’s projected potential debt 
service responsibilities for the 10 years (FYE 2023-FYE 2032). 

B.2.b General Obligation Debt Capacity 
ORS 777.410 allows ports, with authorization from their electors, to issue general obligation bonds 
backed by a bond levy on the property tax roll. At any one time, the outstanding balance of general 
obligation bonds cannot exceed 2.5 percent of the real market value of all taxable property within the 
port. According to the Columbia County Assessor, the real market value of all taxable property within the 
Port of Columbia County boundary is estimated at $6.3 billion in the current fiscal year. This represents a 
general obligation debt capacity of $158.5 million. With only $2.2 million in debt outstanding, the Port is 
utilizing about 1.4% of this total debt capacity (Exhibit 7). 

Exhibit 7:  

 

Port of Columbia County Statutory Authority for Generating Obligation Indebtedness
Calculation

Total Taxable AV, FY 2023-24 5,514,210,157$    
RMV to AV Ratio 1.15

Estimated Real Market Value, 2023 6,341,341,681$    
Statutory Capacity Tax Levy Rate (per ORS 777.430) 0.25%

      Statutory Annual Capaciity based on max tax levy 15,853,354$     
Statutory Capacity with Voter Approval (per ORS 777.410) 2.50%

      Total Statutory Debt Capacity based on voter approval 158,533,542$      
Proj. Capacity Used (as of 6.30.2024) 2,208,606$          
Debt Capacity Remaining per ORS 777.410 156,324,936$      

Page 139 of 154 



B.3 Working Capital 
This subsection analyzes the Port’s solvency. 

B.3.a Trend 
As shown in Exhibit 8, the Port has maintained unrestricted current assets well in excess of current 
liabilities. 

Exhibit 8: Working Capital for FYE 2020 through FYE 2022 

Category June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2022 
Current Assets $  6,675,650 $  7,534,535 $  8,594,734 

less restricted current assets (339,272) (261,337) (262,776) 
Unrestricted Current Assets $  6,336,378 $  7,273,198 $  8,331,958 

less current liabilities (1,903,077) (2,031,121) (2,521,074) 
Net Working Capital $  4,433,301 $  5,242,077 $  5,810,884 
Current Ratio 3.33 3.58 3.30 

Source: Port Budget documents. 

D PROJECTIONS 
This section of the financial plan uses the analysis above to project resources and requirements into the 
future. 

D.1 Key Assumptions 
The projections that follow in Exhibit 9 are based on the following assumptions: 

1. Recommendations in Section E are implemented. 

2. A bond debt service coverage ratio of 1.20 is maintained. 

3. Debt service that is eligible for tax increment revenue by intergovernmental agreement will be 
paid fully from that dedicated revenue source.  

4. Only expenditures in the personal services and materials and services categories are considered 
operating expenses for bond covenant purposes. 

5. Base case scenario assumes that  revenues from property taxes will remain at or near zero.In the 
event that additional debt is issued, it is recommended that the Port reauthorize the permanent 
property tax rate and adjust the revenue forecast.  

6. Both operating expenditures (found only in the General Fund) and tenant rent (in the Revenue 
Fund) will grow by 2.5 to 2.8 percent per year. This represents the compound annual growth rate 
for lease revenues from FYE 2020 to (estimated) FYE 2024. 

7. The General Fund will maintain an ending fund balance of at least $2.0 million, which is 
consistent with current Port reserve policy guidelines. 

8. Base case scenario evaluates the level of funding that is available after the Port addresses its 
operating expenses. Hence, no additional debt is assumed to occur during the 10-year forecast 
period Instead, in the event that additional debt is issued, it is recommended that the Port 
reauthorize the permanent property tax rate and adjust the revenue forecast.  

9. Monies that are still available each year after satisfying the assumptions above are transferred to 
the Capital Improvement Fund for use in capital projects. 

Page 140 of 154 



Altering any of these assumptions could materially impact the projections. 

D.2 Resources and Requirements
Exhibit 9 provides a forecast of Port resources and requirements for 10 years. 

These findings reflect the following conclusions: 

• The Port’s revenues are on track to cover its remaining debt and anticipated operating
expenditures and yield adequate fund balances that could support approximately $20
million in additional capital project expenditures over the next 10 years (equates to approx.
$4 million every five years) with pay-as-you-go funding.

• The Port could consider taking on additional debt to further increase capital facility investments,
if needed.  When possible, consider local partnerships with cities and Columbia County to utilize
tax increment financing (TIF) through formation of Urban Renewal Districts and state
infrastructure loans to provide a dedicated source of financing and funding for long-term debt.

E POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 
This section of the financial plan provides policy recommendations based on this financial analysis. 

The Port of Columbia County compares favorably to other Oregon ports with regard to most of the 
financial analysis metrics, including: 

• Higher than average operating revenue expense coverage

• Lower than average dependency upon property tax as percentage of operating revenue

• Lower than average debt-to-equity ratios

• Lower than average current ratios (ratio of unrestricted current assets to current liabilities)

• Bond service debt coverage ratios (based on current debt obligations) are projected to be well
above the minimum amount of 1.25 required by current bond covenants.

While these are positive indicators, the long-term fiscal sustainability of the Port is of concern if 
operating expenditures continue to grow at a faster pace than revenues.  

Without a supplemental source of funding through permanent property tax revenues, there is also a 
risk to the Port in the event that one or more of its large lease hold tenants cease or scale back 
operations.  

If revenues can be adjusted to increase at the same pace of operating expenses, the 10-year financial 
forecast included as Exhibit 9 indicates that a target General Fund ending year balance of $2 million 
could likely be achieved along with surplus fund balances that could be applied to reserves for capital 
projects or dedicated reserves.  

Page 141 of 154 



Exhibit 9: Financial Projections for FY 2011-12 through FY 2015-16 
(Source: FCS GROUP and Port of Columbia County staff, November 2023) 

Revenues 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032
Adopted Forecast Growth Rate

Category FYE '24 FYE '25 FYE '26 FYE '27 FYE '28 FYE '29 FYE '30 FYE '31 FYE '32 Calculated
Beginning Fund Balance 8,092,245$      3,062,743$      5,147,663$      7,287,111$      9,483,939$       11,728,379$    14,039,356$    16,423,669$    18,872,298$    
Revenue

Property Taxes 10,000$           3,992$             1,594$             636$  254$  101$  40$  16$  6$  -60.1%
Licenses 608,143           623,217           638,664           654,494           670,717            687,342           704,378           721,837           739,729           2.5%
Rents and Reimbursements 5,539,531        5,676,836        5,817,545        5,961,742        6,109,512         6,260,946        6,416,133        6,575,166        6,738,141        2.5%
Terminal Services 718,925           736,745           755,006           773,720           792,898            812,551           832,691           853,331           874,482           2.5%
Marina & RV Park 264,568           271,126           277,846           284,733           291,790            299,023           306,434           314,030           321,814           2.5%
Miscellaneous Revenue 30,000             30,744             31,506             32,287             33,087 33,907             34,747             35,609             36,491             2.5%

Total Revenue 7,171,167$      7,342,659$      7,522,160$      7,707,611$      7,898,258$       8,093,869$      8,294,424$      8,499,989$      8,710,663$      2.5%
Other Resources

Grants 400,000$         -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  #DIV/0!
Loans 400,000           - - - - - - - - #DIV/0!
Interest 200,000           204,957           210,037           215,244           220,579            226,046           231,649           237,391           243,275           2.5%

Total Other Resources 1,000,000$      204,957$        210,037$        215,244$        220,579$         226,046$        231,649$        237,391$        243,275$        2.5%

Total Resources 16,263,413$    10,610,359$    12,879,861$    15,209,966$    17,602,776$     20,048,294$    22,565,430$    25,161,048$    27,826,236$    14.8%
Note, ending resources may not equate to beginning resources due to end of year accounting adjustments.

Adopted Forecast Growth Rate
Category FYE '24 FYE '25 FYE '26 FYE '27 FYE '28 FYE '29 FYE '30 FYE '31 FYE '32 Calculated
FTEs 20
O&M Expenses

Personnel Services 2,824,265$      2,894,269$      2,966,007$      3,039,524$      3,114,863$       3,192,070$      3,271,190$      3,352,271$      3,435,362$      2.5%
Materials & Services 2,295,741        2,352,644        2,410,958        2,470,717        2,531,958         2,594,716        2,659,030        2,724,938        2,792,479        2.5%

O&M Total 5,120,006$      5,246,913$      5,376,965$      5,510,242$      5,646,821$       5,786,786$      5,930,220$      6,077,209$      6,227,842$      2.5%
Resources Net of O&M 11,143,407$    5,363,446$      7,502,896$      9,699,724$      11,955,955$     14,261,508$    16,635,210$    19,083,839$    21,598,394$    22.0%

Debt
Principal 325,139$         135,338$         140,409$         145,670$         162,848$          163,232$         158,645$         164,524$         400,640$         16.8%
Interest 460,525           80,445             75,376             70,115             64,728 58,920             52,896             47,017             40,918             -9.2%

Debt Total 785,664$        215,783$        215,785$        215,785$        227,576$         222,152$        211,541$        211,541$        441,559$        10.8%
Resources After O&M and Debt 10,357,743$    5,147,663$      7,287,111$      9,483,939$      11,728,379$     14,039,356$    16,423,669$    18,872,298$    21,156,835$    22.4%

Capital Outlays*
Land -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Buildings 2,850,000        - - - - - - - - 
Improvements 4,175,000        - - - - - - - - 
Machinery and Equipment 135,000           - - - - - - - - 
Vehicles - - - - - - - - - 
Infrastructure 135,000           - - - - - - - - 

Capital Total 7,295,000$      -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Total Budget 13,200,670$    5,462,696$      5,592,750$      5,726,027$      5,874,397$       6,008,938$      6,141,761$      6,288,750$      6,669,401$      2.9%
Ending Resources 3,062,743$      5,147,663$      7,287,111$      9,483,939$      11,728,379$     14,039,356$    16,423,669$    18,872,298$    21,156,835$    22.4%
*Includes both Terminal Services and Facility and Property Management Department expenditures.
Note, ending resources may not equate to beginning resources due to end of year accounting adjustments.

Page 142 of 154 



Financial Policy Considerations 
It is recommended that the Port continue to implement sound financial management practices using 
consistent policy benchmarks and techniques which should include the following financial policies (FP). 

FP.1 Minimum Reserve Policy 

The Port has a $2 million ending fund balance policy guideline. If fund balances dip below this level, it 
is recommended that the Port adopt a Minimum Operating Reserve Policy.  Minimum Operating 
Reserve is defined as unrestricted cash reserves in an amount at least 1.5 times the annual maintenance 
and operation costs. The definition of annual maintenance and operation costs, as applied to the Port’s 
financial statements, is equal to Operating Expenses net of depreciation. At June 30, 2022, unrestricted 
cash reserves were 2.0 times Operating Expenses net of depreciation.   

FP.2 Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

The DSCR is the annual Net Revenues (defined as operating income plus depreciation, interest income 
and nonoperating income) share of long-term bonded debt.   It is recommended that the Port target an 
amount equal to at least 120% of the annual debt service requirement each fiscal year, through final 
maturities of the Bonds or early retirement of the Bonds, whichever first occurs. At June 30, 2022, the 
Port’s DSCR exceeded 3.30. 

FP.3 Contingent Liabilities and Asset Replacement Reserves 

As a major property owner/manager with significant land, building and infrastructure holdings, the Port 
will at time be responsible for unforeseeable capital investments related to asset replacement and 
environmental remediation. Unknown environmental liabilities and permitting costs could increase Port 
expenditures for Port-owned sites with documented contamination, as well as the cost of National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) and other required permitting activities. Hence, the 
Port could opt to create a new “asset/emergency capital reserve” fund within the Capital Improvement 
Fund that could be used for asset replacement and environmental activities, such as site remediation and 
permitting.  A new financial policy could be created with allocation of between 5% and 10% of year-end 
fund balances up to a maximum level (e.g. $5M) established by the Port Commission.  

FP.4 Pursue External Funding Sources 

While the Port has the potential to issue voter-approved general obligation bonds for new capital projects, 
that option is not required. Instead, it is recommended that the Port continue to strategically pursue 
external funding sources to improve infrastructure and port assets.  A sample of grant programs include: 

• Oregon Ports Revolving Loan Program

• Oregon DEQ Brownfields Redevelopment Fund and Cleanup Fund

• Oregon DEQ Solid Waste Orphan Site Program

• Oregon Water/Wastewater Financing Program

• Oregon Special Public Works Fund

• Federal Aviation Administration, Infrastructure Development Grant Program

• U.S. Community Development Block Grant Program

• U.S. Maritime Navigation Improvement Fund

• U.S. Dept. of Transportation BUILD and INFRA Grant Program

• US. DOT Small Shipyard Grant Program

• U.S. Dept. of Agriculture Rural Development Loan and Grant Program

Page 143 of 154 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Mission Statement: 
Create a positive economic impact while 

maintaining livability and adapting to change. 
 

Vision: 
A diverse regional economy with thriving local 

businesses, quality jobs, and opportunities for all. 
 

 

Guiding Principles: 
Fiscal Responsibility 

Environmental Sustainability 

Adaptability 

Accountability 

Integrity 

Opportunities for All 

Page 144 of 154 

http://www.portofcolumbiacounty.org/


 
 
 
Res. 2024-07 
STAFF REPORT 
DATE:  May 8, 2024 

TO:  Port Commission 

FROM: Elliot Levin, North County Operations & Terminal Manager 

RE: Approving Insurance Settlement of $2.5M  
 
Discussion 
The Port has owned the Railroad Avenue property for 60 years and is considered a 
responsible party for site cleanup by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
(DEQ).  The Port finished the Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study required 
under a 1995 Consent Order and DEQ issued a Record of Decision (ROD) on 
September 1, 2023.  The ROD selects a cleanup action for the site. DEQ 
representatives will appear at a Port Commission meeting in the coming months to 
discuss DEQ’s request for a new Consent Order to outline the terms and conditions of 
the cleanup at Railroad Avenue.  

Great American Alliance Insurance Co. (Great American) approached the Port about 
settling the insurance claims (related to Great American only) with a lump sum payout of 
approximately $2.5M.  The settlement includes a $62,500 payout to cover any additional 
defense costs owed in the future by Great American.  Along with this lump sum payout, 
this settlement would completely release Great American from any responsibility for 
coverage of any claims going forward.   

 
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2024-07, authorizing the Port Executive Director to sign the attached 
Settlement Agreement with Great American. 

Approving Insurance 
Settlement at Railroad Ave 

Page 145 of 154 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-07 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-07 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INSURANCE 
SETTLEMENT FOR $2.5M AT RAILROAD AVENUE 

 
 WHEREAS, the Port has owned the Railroad Avenue property for 60 years 
and is considered a responsible party for site cleanup by the Oregon Department 
of Environmental Quality (DEQ); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Port performed the Remedial Investigation and Feasibility 
Study required under a 1995 Consent Order and DEQ issued a Record of Decision 
(ROD) on September 1, 2023; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Great American Alliance Insurance Co. (Great American) 
approached the Port about settling insurance claims (related to Great American 
only) with a lump sum payout of approximately $2.5M.  The settlement includes 
a $62,500 payout to cover any additional defense costs owed in the future by 
Great American; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the lump sum payout in the attached Settlement 
Agreement would completely release Great American from any responsibility for 
coverage of any claims going forward; Now, therefore, 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Board authorizes the Port Executive Director to 
sign the Settlement Agreement as presented. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this _____day of May, 2024 by the following 
vote: 
   
AYES: _____             NAYS: _____ Port of Columbia County 
 
ABSTAIN: ______ 

By:________________________ 
 President 

Attested By:  
 
__________________________ 
Secretary   

Page 146 of 154 



Page 147 of 154 



Page 148 of 154 



Page 149 of 154 



Page 150 of 154 



Page 151 of 154 



Page 152 of 154 



Page 153 of 154 



Page 154 of 154 


	2024.03.27 Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	Additions To Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	Comments from the Public
	There were no public comments.
	New Business
	FY25 Capital Budget Priorities
	Port Executive Finance Manager, Guy Glenn, Jr. presented a PowerPoint on the Port’s
	Fiscal Year 2025 Capital Budget Priorities. Mr. Glenn began by providing an overview of the formal budget process, which will include two Budget Committee meetings in May 2024, a budget hearing with public comments, and filing with the county by June ...
	Resolution 2024-04
	DECLARING THE DOCK INCIDENT AN EMERGENCY FOR PUBLIC CONTRACTING PURPOSES AND APPROVING $1 MILLION FOR DOCK REPAIRS
	North County Operations and Terminal Manager Elliot Levin presented the Resolution.
	On November 12, 2023, a tug and barge went off course and collided with the Beaver Dock at Port Westward causing significant damage to the Beaver Dock. The barge collision qualifies as an emergency due to the related risk of loss and interruption of s...
	Executive Director’s Report
	Commissioner Reports
	Nick Sorber acknowledged Guy Glenn, Jr. for his work on the budget and thanked Port staff for their grant work.
	Chip Bubl also stated his appreciation and said he values the opportunity to learn more about the budget.
	Nancy Ward agreed and mentioned the continuing improvements in the meetings. Ms. Ward acknowledged Christa Burns for her influence on upgrading the presentation and said she appreciates how we present the material to the Commissioners and the public. ...
	THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING ADJOURNED AT 10:56 A.M.

	2024.05.08 Port Agenda DRAFT.docx
	100 E STREET COLUMBIA CITY, OR 97018
	The Port Commission Meeting will be in person. In accordance with state law, the meeting will be accessible via telephone or Zoom. Members of the public may attend the meeting electronically by:

	II. ADDITIONS TO AGENDA
	IV. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	X.    ADJOURNMENT

	2024.03.13 Minutes DRAFT.docx
	Additions To Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	Comments From the Public
	Old Business
	Resolution 2024-03
	Comments From the Public (cont.)
	Old Business
	Resolution 2024-03
	Marina Update
	Miriam House, Port Operations Manager, provided an update on the marina and displayed a map showing the water depth at low tide. Ms. House explained the complexity of the overall dredging process and how it limits the Port’s options for dredging at th...
	Port Westward Dock Update
	Lignetics/Neighbors Update
	Vision and Mission Statement
	Airport Update
	Lacey Tolles, Interim Airport Manager, told the Commission that the Port had contacted the Scappoose Fire Department for help with burning five structures on the Shaft property adjacent to the Scappoose Airport. A map was displayed showing where the b...
	Executive Director’s Report
	Commissioner Reports
	Chip Bubl attended the Beaver Drainage Improvement Company (BDIC) Annual Landowners meeting on March 12.
	THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING ADJOURNED AT 11:32 A.M.

	2024.05.08 Port Agenda DRAFT.docx
	100 E STREET COLUMBIA CITY, OR 97018
	The Port Commission Meeting will be in person. In accordance with state law, the meeting will be accessible via telephone or Zoom. Members of the public may attend the meeting electronically by:

	II. ADDITIONS TO AGENDA
	IV. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	X.    ADJOURNMENT

	STAFF REPORT   Res 2024-07      Approving Insurance Settlement of $2.5M at RR Ave.docx
	Discussion


